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                                          ARDL ANNUAL CONFERENCE 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 

RECENT CASE LAW 2021 - 2022
                                                                  By KENNETH HAMER

Absence of Practitioner 
1.
El-Huseini v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 2022 (Admin)

Absence of practitioner at substantive hearing – appeal against findings of misconduct and health

The appellant appealed against the tribunal’s determination, made in his absence, of findings of misconduct and health. After reviewing the legal principles in Yassin v. GMC [2015] EWHC 2955 (Admin); Fatnani and Raschid v. GMC [2007] EWCA Civ 46, and Sastry and Okpara v. GMC [2021] EWCA Civ 623, Jacobs J, in dismissing the appeal, said:

111.
It is clear from other parts of the MPT’s decision, however, that the MPT did not simply accept the case advanced by the GMC, relying on the evidence of witnesses called by the GMC, without regard to Dr El-Huseini’s case as expressed in the materials which existed. …. However, it was under no obligation to carry out an exercise of sifting through large quantities of unindexed or uncategorised documentation provided by a doctor in order to determine what if any relevance it might have: see Sanusi v. General Medical Council [2019] EWCA Civ 1172, para [84].

112.
It is also important to bear in mind that the nature of the proceedings before the MPT is adversarial, not inquisitorial: see R (Russell) v. General Medical Council [2008] EWHC 2546 (Admin) para [35]. If, as in the present case, a doctor does not provide a witness statement, does not attend the hearing so as to explain his position on the facts and give evidence about them, and does not cross-examine the relevant witnesses, then there will usually be little prospect of a successful challenge to the (sic) MPT’s fact-findings, on disputed issues, based on evidence from witnesses who did actually give statements and oral evidence to the tribunal. This is whether or not the doctor had made statements on disputed issues in documents after the event.

Abuse of Process

2.
Greene v. Davies [2022] EWCA Civ 414

Abuse of process – allegation that solicitor misled court – allegation dismissed by court – complaint filed by unsuccessful party with SDT – whether complaint abuse of process – whether breach of SRA Principles

On 16 March 2019, D filed a complaint with the SDT against G, the senior partner in a firm of solicitors. In December 2012, following a trial in the county court, the firm obtained judgment against D on the grounds that he was liable for unpaid fees owing to the firm in the sum of £7,218.74, with interest and costs. In 2015, D commended proceedings to set aside the judgment on the grounds that G had misled the court as evidenced by certain emails that had not been before the court in 2012. In 2016, the court dismissed the claim explicitly rejecting the suggestion that G had been untruthful in his evidence in 2012, and holding that the emails would not have made any difference. By his complaint to the SDT, amended on 19 June 2019, D alleged that G had (1) provided the court with misleading information in 2012 in breach of Principles 1, 2 and 6 of the SRA Principles 2011, and (2) acted dishonestly or recklessly in misleading the court. The SRA Principles to which D referred were that you ‘must uphold the rule of law and the proper administration of justice’ (Principle 1), ‘act with integrity’ (Principle 2) and ‘behave in a way that maintains the trust the public places in you and in the provision of legal services’ (Principle 6). 

In September 2019, a division of the SDT struck out the complaint on the grounds it lacked merit and was an abusive collateral attack on the 2012 and 2016 judgments. The Divisional Court allowed an appeal by D: sub nom Davies v. Greene [2021] EWHC 38 (Admin). The Court of Appeal (Dame Victoria Sharp P, Thirlwall and Newey LJJ) allowed an appeal by G to the limited extent of agreeing with the SDT that D could not re-litigate the question whether the emails would have altered the judge’s decision in 2012 had they been before the court. However, the court held that the complaint should otherwise not be struck out as an abuse of process. In Conlon v. Simms [2006] EWCA Civ 1749, [2008] 1 WLR 484, the court observed that the issues in the action were different from those that had been before the SDT. In the instant case, the questions arising from D’s complaint related to the SRA Principles and were not identical to those before the court in 2016. The complaint raises the question whether G gave incorrect evidence honestly but nevertheless in breach of the SRA Principles. It is not necessarily an abuse of process to invite a court or tribunal to make a finding inconsistent with one made in earlier proceedings; see Secretary of State for Trade and Industry v. Bairstow [2004] Ch 1 at [38], R v. L [2006] 1 WLR 3092, and Ashraf v. GDC [2014] EWHC 2618 (Admin). A determination by a civil court cannot necessarily preclude disciplinary proceedings based on allegations which the civil court had rejected. Disciplinary proceedings have a different function from civil litigation and have a public interest element which a civil claim lacks.
Adjournment

3.
Ramaswamy v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 1619 (Admin)   

Failure by practitioner to attend non-compliance hearing – unavailability of counsel – request for adjournment refused by case manager and tribunal – procedural unfairness – decision of tribunal quashed

On 21 October 2020 the GMC referred the appellant to a tribunal for a non-compliance hearing for failure to undertake a health assessment. In August 2018 the GMC opened an investigation into the appellant’s fitness to practise arising from concerns about correspondence between her and the GMC and made a formal direction pursuant to rule 7(3) of the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004 that she should undergo a medical assessment. The background to the correspondence was a sexual relationship between the appellant and another doctor, and the appellant’s subsequent use of that doctor’s name. The hearing was scheduled for 11 and 12 January 2021, and the proposed dates were not suitable to the appellant’s counsel. Counsel made representations on two occasions seeking an adjournment, and a MPTS case manager made decisions refusing to adjourn the hearing. The non-compliance hearing commenced before the tribunal on 11 January 2021. The appellant did not attend but made a further application to postpone the hearing by two emails sent on that morning. The tribunal made a further decision refusing that postponement and determined to proceed in the appellant’s and counsel’s absence. On 12 January 2021 the appellant attended in person (but without counsel). The tribunal announced its non-compliance determination that the appellant had failed to comply with a direction made by the GMC to undergo a health assessment. The tribunal then proceeded to suspend the appellant’s registration for nine months. 
In allowing the appellant’s appeal and quashing the decision of the tribunal to refuse an adjournment, Morris J said that neither decision of the case manager amounted to a serious procedural irregularity. The first decision (10 December 2020) was not a definitive refusal of an adjournment and made clear that it remained open to the appellant to make a further application. Whilst there were serious concerns about the regularity of the second decision (7 January 2021), the case manager was not aware of counsel’s dates of availability and proceeded on the basis that no dates had been put forward. The decision of the tribunal on 11 January 2021 was open to legitimate criticisms. The case manager had underestimated the complexity of the issues involved, and it was not fair to suggest that the appellant might instruct alternative legal representation. The factual complexity of the case and the consequences of the order sought were such that the ability of the appellant to be represented by her counsel who had been acting for her throughout was a consideration of great weight, and was not adequately taken into account. By the time of the third adjournment decision (on the morning of 11 January 2021), counsel’s dates of availability were known to the tribunal. There was no reference in the tribunal’s decision to the dates of availability. In refusing the adjournment, the tribunal had failed to take into account a highly material consideration. It was clear that the tribunal was aware that counsel had provided the relevant information as to his dates of availability, but had misinterpreted the information. The tribunal did not say (as it could have done) that it had received the dates of availability, but that they had been received too late to allow the date to be adjourned and that the hearing could not be accommodated within a reasonably short period of time.         
Amendment

4.
Ahmedsowida v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 3466 (Admin)

Amendment of charges after closing submissions – charge of dishonesty relabelled by tribunal to make two charges – amendment not procedurally unfair – GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rule 2004, r 17(6)

The appellant doctor submitted that there was a serious procedural irregularity when the tribunal amended the charges after closing submissions on the facts. The tribunal deliberated and recalled the parties and heard submissions from the parties. Rule 17(6) of the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004 provides that at any time the allegation can be amended if it can be made without injustice to the practitioner. Before the tribunal the appellant opposed any amendment saying that it would be procedurally unfair because he would have presented his case differently. The amendment centred on four charges alleging that the appellant failed to declare information on application forms for posts that ought to have been declared (charges 9 and 10). It was the GMC’s case that together with other pleaded matters the appellant acted dishonestly (charge 13). To express the case properly the tribunal decided to re-label the existing dishonesty charge as 13a and creating a new charge 13b directly addressing the case of dishonesty in the four cases as one of omission rather than commission. In dismissing the ground of appeal, Kerr J, at [63] – [74], said that the four instances were all allegations of knowingly concealing relevant information that the appellant did not want the relevant Trust to know about. The sting of the charges was that he wanted to sanitise his past, leaving out inconvenient facts that might induce the Trust not to offer him a job. The lateness of the amendment did not necessarily mean it was unjust; see Professional Standards Authority v. Health and Care Professions Council and Doree [2017] EWCA Civ 319, at [56]. The drafting of the charges left much to be desired, but as a matter of substance it was clear both before and after the amendments that the four offences of omission were asserted as matters involving dishonesty on the appellant’s  part. He did, indeed, know the case he had to meet. The tribunal’s determination that the amendments could be made without injustice was not procedurally unfair.  
Appeals

5.
Khan v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 374 (Admin)

Approach of High Court to appeals on findings of fact under s.40 Medical Act 1983

Julian Knowles J. at paragraphs 58 – 65 reviewed authorities on the approach the High Court should take to an appeal under s 40 of the Medical Act 1983, including Fish v. GMC [2012] EWHC 1269 (Admin), [28]-[32]; Yassin v. GMC [2015] EWHC 2955 (Admin), [32]; R (Dutta) v. GMC [2020] EWHC 1974 (Admin), [20]-[21]; Fatnani and Raschid v. GMC [2007] 1 WLR 1460, [20]; and Lawrence v. GMC [2012] EWHC 464 (Admin), [337]. At paragraph 65, Julian Knowles J said that it is worth pointing out that notwithstanding the disadvantages that an appellate court has in not having heard witnesses when the tribunal has done so, Dutta and Lawrence are examples of cases where the appellate court nevertheless did overturn findings of fact because of a flawed approach by the tribunal in question.   
6.
Byrne v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 2237 (Admin) 

Approach of court on appeal to a finding of primary fact

Morris J, at paragraph 10 of his judgment listed a significant number of authorities dealing with appeals against findings of fact. Under the heading ‘The approach of the Court on appeal to a finding of fact, and in particular a finding of primary fact’ the judge said he drew together from these authorities a number of propositions. 

12. First, the degree of deference shown to the court below will differ depending on the nature of the issue below; namely, whether the issue is one of primary fact, of secondary fact, or rather an evaluative judgment of many factors: Assicurazioni Generali at §§16 to 20. The present case concerns findings of primary fact: did the events described by the Patient A happen?

13. Secondly, the governing principle remains that set out in Gupta §10 referring to Thomas v. Thomas. The starting point is that the appeal court will be very slow to interfere with findings of primary fact of the court below. The reasons for this are that the court below has had the advantage of having seen and heard the witnesses, and more generally has total familiarity with the evidence in the case. A further reason for this approach is the trial judge’s more general expertise in making determinations of fact: see Gupta, and McGraddie v. McGraddie at §§3 to 4. I accept that the most recent Supreme Court cases interpreting Thomas v. Thomas (namely, McGraddie and Henderson v. Foxworth) are relevant. Even though they were cases of “review” rather than “rehearing”, there is little distinction between the two types of cases for present purposes (see paragraph 16 below).

14. Thirdly, in exceptional circumstances, the appeal court will interfere with findings  of primary fact below. (However the reference to “virtually unassailable” in Southall at §47 is not to be read as meaning “practically impossible”, for the reasons given in Dutta at §22.)

15. Fourthly, the circumstances in which the appeal court will interfere with primary  findings of fact have been formulated in a number of different ways, as follows:

-
where “any advantage enjoyed by the trial judge by reason of having seen and heard the witnesses could not be sufficient to explain or justify the trial judge’s conclusions”: per Lord Thankerton in Thomas v. Thomas approved in Gupta;

-
findings “sufficiently out of tune with the evidence to indicate with reasonable certainty that the evidence had been misread” per Lord Hailsham in Libman;

-
findings “plainly wrong or so out of tune with the evidence properly read as to be unreasonable”: per in Casey at §6 and Warby J (as he then was) in Dutta at §21(7);

-
where there is “no evidence to support a ….finding of fact or the trial judge’s finding was one which no reasonable judge could have reached”: per Lord Briggs in Perry after analysis of McGraddie and Henderson.

In my judgment, the distinction between these last two formulations is a fine one. To the extent that there is a difference, I will adopt, in the Appellant’s favour, the former. …

16. Fifthly, I consider that, whilst noting the observations of Warby J in Dutta at §21(1), on the balance of authority there is little or no relevant distinction to be drawn between “review” and “rehearing”, when considering the degree of deference to be shown to findings of primary fact: Assicurazioni §§13, 15 and 23. Du Pont at §§94 and 98 is not clear authority to the contrary. Rather it supports the proposition that there may be a relevant difference when the court is considering findings of evaluative judgment or secondary or inferential findings of fact, where the court will show less deference on a rehearing that of a review. Nevertheless if less deference is to be shown on rehearing (such as the present case), then, again I will assume this in the Appellant’s favour. 

7.
Rakoczy v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 890 (Admin)

Notice of appeal – late issue – refusal to extend time not incompatible with Article 6

It was common ground that the final date for the filing of an appeal by the appellant was Wednesday 26 May 2021. Given the arrangements during the covid pandemic, it would have sufficed for the N161 to be filed by email and the accompanying EX160 application for fee remission to be submitted through the court’s online portal. The appellant filed Form N161 by email on 21 May 2021 but no Form EX160 was filed using the online portal until 6 June 2021. The appellant was aware of the need for an appeal notice and the payment of a fee being required within the 28 day time limit and he was alive to the idea of waiver of the fee. Refusing to grant an extension of time, and striking out the appeal, Fordham J said, at [16]:

In my judgment, holding to the 28 day time limit and holding to the requirement to pay a fee or make a Form EX160 application within the 28 days, does not in all the circumstance of this case involve the very essence of the statutory right to appeal being impaired; it does pursue a legitimate aim and involve a reasonable relationship of proportionality between the means employed and the aim sought to be achieved; it does not constitute excessive formalism; it does not impose a disproportionate burden; and it does not fail to strike a fair balance.

The judge went on to say, at [19], that when the decision of the tribunal was sent by email to the appellant on 28 April 2021, the letter sent by the MPTS referred to the appellant’s final date for filing the appeal as having been calculated as 1 June 2021. A similar situation was encountered in Gupta where at paragraph 57 Julian Knowles J described the appellant as having been ‘wrongly advised’ about the date, saying that he would very likely have granted an extension of time had the appellant made his fee remission application by the date which the MPTS had communicated. Fordham J said he took an equivalent view. If the appellant had filed the documents which were needed, by 1 June 2021, he would have extended time. But, as with the appellant in Gupta, he did not do so.
Bias

8.
Watkins v. British Medical Association [2021] UKEAT/0125/20/JOJ

Additional prejudicial material included in panel’s papers – appellant not given opportunity to respond – panel ignoring material – no overall unfairness – whether appeals panel could cure any breach

For the facts of this case, see Sanction below. Shortly prior to the disciplinary hearing against the appellant the complainant asked the panel to review a complaint that the appellant had made against him, despite its withdrawal. The appellant’s request for sight of the documents in question was refused by the BMA officer, who later confirmed that the panel had decided not to discuss or comment on this additional material and that in hearing the substantive complaint the against the appellant it only took into account the documents which he had seen. While the additional documentation was ‘potentially prejudicial’ and contained other criticisms of the appellant, Bourne J said that the issue for the certification officer was plainly the overall fairness of the proceedings. The certification officer was right to query whether the BMA followed best practice by passing the complainant’s request for the panel to see the offending material. In doing so, there was the potential for unfairness. However, the panel reached a straightforward decision on the substantive complaint for proper reasons. The fact of the posting and the fact that it breached the BMA’s code of conduct were admitted. The magnitude of the breach was assessed by reference to the nature and impact of the posting. Whether or not the panel saw the additional material, it was not in evidence before them and there was no reference to it the panel’s decision. It was not incumbent of the certification officer to conclude that there was a real risk that the material had had an influence, conscious or unconscious, on the outcome. While the offending material was not sent to the appeals panel, the learned judge said that if he thought it had influenced the original panel the decision of the appeals panel would not have cured the problem. This was because the problem was not identified until after the appeal and therefore the appeals panel could not consider any risk arising from it. Whilst there was no rule of law that an appeal must consist of a full rehearing in order to cure any such defect, in a case such as this the appellant would at appeal stage be starting at a disadvantage because of the existing findings against him. If those findings had come about, at least in part, because of illegitimate material being seen, the mere fact that an appeal panel did not disagree with the findings could not remove the effect of that risk.   

9.
Towuaghantse v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 681 (Admin)

Expert witness worked at same hospital as appellant and witnesses – strength of expert’s reports – whether expert independent – whether actual or apparent bias
On 21 October 2013, the appellant, a consultant paediatric surgeon, was working as a locum at the Royal Victoria Infirmary (RVI) in Newcastle. Patient A was born in hospital in Carlisle having developed an exomphalus major with his intestine outside the abdomen. Patient A was transferred to RVI and required to be ventilated and was referred to the appellant. The appellant carried out two operations but he died on the evening of 23 October 2013. In its factual determination rendered after 15 days of proceedings the tribunal made very severe criticisms of the appellant’s management, care and treatment of Patient A and found that his actions and omissions contributed to the death of Patient A, who had a treatable condition. The GMC relied upon an expert witness, Mr Naved Alizai, a consultant paediatric surgeon, who it was alleged was not independent. He and the appellant, as practitioners in the same field, had met each other, corresponded, and even competed for jobs. Further, Mr Alizai had completed some of his training at the RVI, and knew several of the consultants who were key factual witnesses called by the GMC. The question of the independence of Mr Alizai was raised before the tribunal who ruled that there was nothing to support the proposition that he was affected by bias, whether real or apparent. 

In dismissing the appellant’s ground of appeal, Mostyn J, said, applying the judgment of Patten LJ in Hopkinson v. Hickton, sub nom Re Maximus Securities Ltd [2016] EWCA Civ 1057, that an expert witness was not automatically disqualified from giving expert evidence by reason of some relationship with one of the parties or even an interest in the outcome of the proceedings. That was a matter for the judge to assess having regard to the relevant circumstances. In the instant case, the tribunal correctly applied the tests of actual and apparent bias to the appellant’s application to disqualify Mr Alizai for want of independence. Actual bias is confined to the position where it is shown that the expert has a direct personal interest in the outcome of the proceedings which is other than de minimis. Apparent bias will be found to exist where the reviewing court or tribunal attributing to the reasonable man knowledge of the relevant circumstances and adopting a broad approach, assesses on behalf of that reasonable man that there is a real danger of bias. In the instant case, Mr Alizai produced five reports and gave oral evidence. It was certainly true that the language that he used was not the measured, temperate, modest and balanced prose that one is accustomed to reading from an expert witness. On the contrary, his language was colourful, rhetorical, intemperate and unrestrained. The reason as the witness candidly accepted, for the strength of his language was because he felt so strongly that the appellant was guilty of gross professional misconduct. The strength of his feeling does not betray the existence of a direct personal interest in the outcome. There was thus no basis to find that there existed actual bias. As for apparent bias, it was inevitable that the appellant and the witness would know each other; the pool of paediatric surgeons in this country is small and there is much common acquaintanceship. The fact that Mr Alizai knew some of the consultants at the RVI was neither here nor there. Nor was the fact that he did some training there. The tribunal was right to conclude there was no real danger of bias.

Case Management

10.
El-Huseini v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 2022 (Admin)

Litigant in person - appeal against findings of misconduct and health – case management directions for hearing of substantive appeal
In dismissing the appellant’s appeal against findings of misconduct and health, Jacobs J, at [51]-[57], recorded the detailed case management directions made by Steyn J on 30 March 2021. Jacobs J said that Dr El-Huseini represented himself and Steyn J was obviously, and rightly, concerned to ensure that the appeal should be properly focused. The preamble to her order therefore summarised in some detail Dr El-Huseini’s grounds of appeal. Eleven grounds of appeal were identified and summarised. These were cross-referenced to Dr El-Huseini’s Amended Grounds of Appeal, and to the decision of the MTP. Amongst the matter specifically addressed by Steyn J was the need to make reasonable adjustments for the disability of Dr El-Huseini, who had requested various adjustments in an application dated 14 February 2021 under the Equality Act 2010. It was common ground that the appellant suffered from conductive aphasia and anomia. Her order reflected many of the adjustments which had been requested. At the conclusion of her reasons, Steyn J summarised the reasonable adjustments which had been made for the appellant’s disability. These included:

a. By allocating two days rather than one day for the appeal to enable the court to proceed at a slower pace, and to take breaks if appropriate. 
b. By enabling the appellant to have a supporter with him. 
c. By listing the case in the largest court room on the first floor. 
d. By permitting the appellant to make an audio recording of the case management hearing and the appeal hearing (subject to conditions and also the possibility that the judge hearing the substantive appeal might withdraw that permission).

e. By permitting the appellant to amend his grounds of appeal despite the 11-month delay in providing those grounds. 

f. By requiring the hearing bundle to be provided 12 weeks before the hearing, allowing the appellant more than 5 weeks thereafter to file and serve his skeleton argument.
g. By putting the court’s reasons for the case management decisions into writing.

h. By directing the respondent to prepare the hearing bundle and the authorities bundle, although that was a measure the court would have taken on the basis that the appellant was unrepresented, irrespective of his disability.

Concurrent Proceedings

11.
R (T and I) v. Financial Conduct Authority [2021] EWHC 396 (Admin)

Proceedings ongoing in Commercial Court – outcome likely to have decisive influence on FCA proceedings – risk of prejudice to claimant by continuation of regulatory proceedings – balance between risk of serious injustice to claimant and public interest in regulatory proceedings being concluded 
The claimants challenged the decision of the FCA’s Regulatory Decisions Committee to refuse to stay disciplinary proceedings pending the outcome of proceedings in the Commercial Court brought by the Danish Customs and Tax Administration that raised the same issues as the FCA proceedings. The disciplinary proceedings rested on allegations arising out of the first claimant’s involvement when chief executive of the second claimant in a scheme for rebates of tax under Danish tax law. In the Commercial Court proceedings, the Danish tax authority contended that the tax rebate scheme was operated in breach of the requirements of Danish law and was part of a fraudulent strategy. The first claimant’s conduct was directly at issue in the Commercial Court proceedings. In the RDC proceedings the FCA contended that the first claimant’s involvement in the strategy was dishonest and lacked integrity and therefore was in breach of Principle 1 of the FCA’s Statements of Principle for Approved Persons. Granting a stay of the FCA proceedings, in the first instance pending judgment of the Commercial Court on the trial of preliminary issues, Swift J said that the allegations advanced by the FCA rested on the complaints made by the Danish tax authority in the Commercial Court proceedings. There was a very close correspondence of issues in the RDC proceedings and the Commercial Court proceedings. It was no exaggeration to describe the RDC proceedings as a satellite of the Commercial Court claim. Any conclusion that the first claimant acted in breach of Principle 1 was likely to depend entirely on whether the tax rebate strategy met the requirements of Danish law. The present situation was one, perhaps relatively rare, instance where the expertise of the members of the RDC may not be critical to the assessment of whether a breach of Principle 1 had occurred. Rather, the situation was one in which conclusions reached by the Commercial Court on the questions of law and foreign law would be of particular assistance to the RDC. The circumstances were unusual. The allegation by the FCA that the first claimant acted in breach of Principle 1 was contingent on the matters before the Commercial Court. The bulk of those issues were outside the expertise of the RDC panel. Given the existence and substance of the Commercial Court proceedings, there was a risk of serious prejudice to the first claimant if the proceedings before the RDC panel resulted in a breach of Principle 1 without account being taken of the findings of the Commercial Court. The learned judge went on to balance the risk of serious injustice against the strong public interest in seeing that regulatory proceedings were not impeded. In the instant case, the misconduct alleged was historic, having taken place between 2013 and 2015; the first claimant was no longer engaged in the provision of financial services, was resident abroad and pursuing an unconnected line of business; any delay until the outcome of the preliminary issue in the Commercial Court would be short and not likely to inflict significant harm on the generic public interest; and any harm that may be occasioned by a stay would be offset by the advantage of the RDC panel being informed of the Commercial Court’s conclusions.  
12.
Thomson v. Architects Registration Board [2021] CSIH 54

Concurrent civil proceedings – practitioner seeking adjournment of disciplinary proceedings – practitioner not present at hearing – insurance requiring practitioner not to comment on matters at issue without permission of insurers – regulatory proceedings having different focus to civil action 

On 25 September 2020 the respondent’s Professional Conduct Committee determined that the appellant was guilty of unacceptable professional conduct and imposed the sanction of erasure from the register, with the possibility of applying to be readmitted after a period of two years. The appellant challenged the PCC’s decision to conduct the hearing in his absence. He also challenged the sanction as excessive. The appellant, a registered architect, was instructed in connection with the construction of a block of flats in Troon in 2014. An Investigation Panel concluded that the appellant had a case to answer, the nub of the complaint being that he had issued the relevant final certificates when the building was not constructed in conformity with (a) the minimum requirements of Building Regulations regarding fire resistance; and (b) the drawings approved by Building Control. The appellant submitted an Acknowledgment of Notice of Hearing form in which he indicated that he admitted both (a) and (b), and that these facts constituted unacceptable professional conduct. The form stated that he would be legally represented and did not intend to call any witnesses. The appellant sought to have the ARB proceedings adjourned pending resolution of outstanding civil proceeding in which he was the defender, and which had been sisted at his instance in February 2018. The appellant maintained that he was constrained from participating in the ARB proceedings by reason of the civil proceedings, in which his insurance required that he refrain from commenting on the matters at issue without permission of his insurers. No evidence of this was provided and his request was refused by the committee. 
On appeal the appellant contended that he had not had a fair hearing, the PCC having failed to recognise a risk that ongoing civil proceedings prevented him from participating in his defence, and that his ability to participate was impeded because of the requirements of his insurers in the civil proceedings; and that the sanction was excessive. Refusing the appeal, Lady Dorrian, the Lord Justice Clerk, giving the statement of reasons of the court, at [24]-[25], said that the appellant’s reliance on Brabazon-Drenning v. United Kingdom Central Council for Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting (2001) HRLR 6 and GMC v. Adeogba [2016] 1 WLR 3867 as providing an assumption in favour of adjournment if the practitioner is not present or represented was misplaced. The former was a case where the appellant had been unable to attend due to medically established ill health rendering her unfit to do so. Standing that clear evidence, there had been no compelling public reason in allowing the hearing to proceed. The latter was a case where the appellant was unrepresented, which was not the case here. The appellant was represented throughout the proceedings by law agents. Those agents chose, presumably on instructions, not to attend the hearing. There was no explanation for their declining to do so. Even if they had legitimate concerns about the effect of the civil proceedings, the agent could have attended to represent the appellant’s interests. There was no evidence to support the assertion that the appellant would be constrained by his insurers to such an extent that he would be unable to give evidence or participate in a hearing. It seemed highly unlikely that this would be the case, standing his professional obligation to co-operate with the statutory regulator. In any event, in response to the notice of hearing the appellant admitted they key facts and unacceptable professional conduct. The civil proceedings had been sisted for a period of over two years, at the instance of the appellant, and there was no indication that they might become live any time soon. That this meant that any adjournment would be of indeterminate length was a matter the PCC was entitled to take into account. It was also entitled to recognise that the regulatory proceedings were for a different purpose and had a different focus from those of the civil action. The appeal on sanction was also dismissed.   
Conviction Cases

13.
El Diwany v. Solicitors Regulation Authority [2021] EWHC 275 (Admin)
Two convictions of harassment offences in Norway – failure to notify SRA of convictions – tribunal entitled to treat foreign convictions as proof of allegations underlying them – sanction of striking off not wrong

On 2 November 2001 and 17 October 2003, the appellant was convicted of harassment offences in Norway in contravention of the Norwegian Penal Code, and thereafter he failed to notify the SRA about the convictions. The offences arose out of a relation the appellant with a Norwegian national referred to as Ms H. In relation to the 2001 offence, the appellant received a fine and in relation to the 2003 offence he received a sentence of eight months’ imprisonment suspended for two years. The convictions came to light when he was working for a firm of solicitors in England who reported the matter to the SRA. When asked during the SRA’s investigation why he had not reported the matter to the regulator, the appellant said it “an entirely personal matter not relating to professional conduct as a solicitor”. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal against an order for striking off, Saini J said that there was no dispute that as a matter of law the tribunal was entitled to take into account the foreign convictions and treat the convictions as proof of the allegations underlying them under rule 15(2) of the Solicitors (Disciplinary Proceedings) Rules 2007 (save in exceptional circumstances, the findings of fact upon which a conviction is based shall be admissible as conclusive proof of those facts). The tribunal did not err in admitting the convictions on fairness grounds. In relation to the sanction, the tribunal was entitled to regard the misconduct as extremely serious and to find that the appellant’s complete lack of insight heightened the ongoing risk to the public. They were not in error in describing the misconduct as being “at the highest level”. It clearly was. They also directed themselves expressly in accordance with the material case law.

14.
Achina v. General Pharmaceutical Council [2021] EWHC 415 (Admin)

Certificate of conviction admissible as conclusive proof and the findings of fact on which it was based – judge’s sentencing remarks admissible before fitness to practise committee – sentencing remarks to show factual matrix on which convicted person has been sentenced – General Pharmaceutical Council (Fitness to Practise and Disqualification etc) Rule 2010, r 24(4)
The appellant, who worked as the responsible pharmacist and manager of the Stowmarket, Suffolk Branch of Boots, pleaded guilty in the Crown Court of theft of medications from the store. The loss was approximately 140 packets of diazepam, amounting to 4,000 tablets with a value of £3,333. The appellant was sentenced to 2½ years’ imprisonment in respect of the theft. Having withdrawn his basis of plea, which the prosecution did not accept, the appellant was sentenced on the full facts of the prosecution case, and recorded by the judge in his sentencing remarks, that he stole the drugs to order and they were not sent to his family in Ghana. The judge was not satisfied that the drugs were given to an ailing relative abroad. The amount of drugs stolen contradicted personal use by one patient and text messages supported onward sale of drugs to a number of individuals. Before the respondent’s fitness to practise committee, the appellant claimed that he did not sell any of the drugs to anybody and the drugs were meant for his dying uncle in Ghana. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal removing his name from the register, Lane J, at [84]-[87], said that rule 24(4) of the General Pharmaceutical Council (Fitness to Practise and Disqualification etc) Rules 2010 provides that a certificate of conviction ‘is admissible as conclusive proof of that conviction and the findings of fact on which it was based.’ In framing rule 24(4), the legislature was treating as conclusive, not only the ‘bare’ facts to be found in the certificate of conviction, but also the broader factual matrix on which the convicted person has been sentenced. One finds that factual matrix in the sentencing remarks of the judge. In the instant case, the transcript of the sentencing remarks made plain that the findings of fact upon which the judge sentenced the appellant, included that the appellant had sold drugs to third parties. Before the committee, the appellant denied this important factual finding. The appellant had, however, not overturned his conviction, or successfully appealed against his sentence, or put the matter before the Criminal Cases Review Commission. As matters stood at the time of the committee’s decision, and as they currently stood, the conviction and sentence were undisturbed. To have permitted the appellant to go behind the finding that he did sell drugs to third parties for profit would have endangered public confidence in the regulatory regime under which the committee was operating, and the proper relationship between that regime and the criminal jurisdiction.  
15.
Bibi v. Bar Standards Board [2022] EWHC 921 (Admin)

Summary offence – definition of conviction – conditional discharge replaced by community order on appeal

On 6 December 2018, B was convicted at Cheshire Magistrates’ Court of an offence under reg 8(1) of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud Enforcement) Regulations 2013, arising out of her failure to disclose a change in her financial  circumstances pertinent to her council tax. This had resulted in her receiving £1,054.24 council tax benefit to which she was not entitled. She was sentenced to a 12-montn conditional discharge, a costs order and victim surcharge. She appealed to the Crown Court. On 13 September 2019, her appeal was dismissed at Chester Crown Court. The sentence was varied to a 12-month community order with a curfew requirement. B was charged before a disciplinary tribunal of the Bar Tribunal and Adjudication Service of an offence of professional misconduct based on the conviction and other matters and was disbarred. On appeal B maintained that rE169 of the Disciplinary Tribunals Regulations which provides that a certificate or memorandum of conviction relating to an offence shall be conclusive proof that the respondent committed the offence applied only to an indictable offence. Part 6 of the BSB Handbook defined a ’conviction’ as meaning ‘a criminal conviction for an indictable offence’. Dismissing B’s appeal, Hill J said that rE169 was not a jurisdictional provision, but only a rule of evidence; see Ukiwa v. BSB [2021] EWHC 2830 (Admin) at [33]. The appellant’s further challenge to the tribunal’s jurisdiction on the basis that the conditional discharge to which she was sentenced did not constitute a conviction by reason of s 14(1) of the Powers of Criminal Courts (Sentencing) Act 2000 also failed. By the time the BSB charges were brought against B, the conditional discharge had been replaced with a community order.  
16.
R (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis) v. Police Appeals Tribunal and Gutty [2022] EWHC 1950 (Admin); R (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis) v. Police Appeals Tribunal and Williams [2022] EWHC 1951 (Admin)
Conviction by police officer – sanction of final written warning – distinction between operational dishonesty and other misconduct – circumstances of case  
These appeals which raised similar, albeit not identical grounds of challenge were heard together by Heather Williams J. Separate judgments were handed down at the same time. In the case of Gutty, on 18 July 2018 DC Gutty pleaded guilty to an offence of assault by beating contrary to section 39, Criminal Justice Act 1988. The offence had been committed against her partner on 27 May 2018. Following an argument in her flat DC Gutty held the victim by the neck, which resulted in her hitting her head; she verbally the victim and displayed controlling behaviour. At the time of the incident DC Gutty was on sickness absence. In January 2018 she had been diagnosed with displaying signs and symptoms of complex PTSD reflected of traumatic memories from her childhood. In April 2018 she was diagnosed by a consultant psychiatrist with an emotionally unstable personality disorder and was prescribed medication. In the magistrates’ court she was sentenced to a community sentence order. She subsequently appeared before a special case hearing in respect of a single allegation that she breached the Standards of Professional Behaviour in relation to Discreditable Conduct as a result of her conviction. DC Gutty admitted the charge and accepted it amounted to gross misconduct. The special case hearing determined that she should be dismissed without notice. DC Gutty appealed the sanction and the Police Appeals Tribunal substituted a final written warning. The Commissioner of Police contended that the PAT’s re-determination of the appropriate sanction was legally flawed. In the case of Williams, on 13 March 2020, Superintendent Williams appeared before a special case hearing in respect of a single allegation that she had breached the Standards of Professional Behaviour in relation to Discreditable Conduct as a result of her criminal conviction for possession of an indecent image of a child. The special case hearing determined that the conduct amounted to gross misconduct and that Supt Williams should be dismissed without notice. Supt Williams appealed the sanction imposed and on 22 June 2021, the PAT substituted a final written warning. The Commissioner of Police sought judicial review of that decision on the grounds that the PAT failed to properly assess the seriousness of the conduct and took into account irrelevant considerations. On Saturday 3 February 2018, Supt Williams’ sister sent an indecent video showing a female child engaged in sexual activity with an adult male to her WhatsApp contacts, including Supt Williams. Following one of the other recipients reporting the image to the police, Supt Williams’ sister, her boyfriend and Supt Williams were charged with various offences. Supt Williams was convicted of possession on the basis that she was aware of the video and, being a police officer, she had at her disposal the ready means to act but did nothing about the video. She was sentenced to a community order. It was accepted that she was in no way responsible for the video being sent to her, that she never played it and that there was no question of her having it for sexual gratification. 
Dismissing both claims, Heather Williams J said that whilst her judgment in each case should not be taken as diminishing the seriousness of a serving police officer being convicted of a criminal offence the case law and the College of Policing’s Guidance on outcomes in police misconduct proceedings, issued by the College of Policing pursuant to section 87 of the Police Act 1996, do distinguish between instances of operational dishonesty on the one hand and other instances of gross misconduct including criminal convictions on the other hand. See R (Chief Constable of Dorset) v. Police Appeals Tribunal and Salter [2011] EWHC 3366 (Admin) at [22] (Burnett J), aff’d [2012] EWCA Civ 1047 at [19] (Maurice Kay LJ), in relation to operational dishonesty and integrity in connection with the investigation of an alleged offence. The College of Policing guidance shows that in the case of operational dishonesty dismissal is regarded as “almost inevitable”, whereas in relation to convictions for serious offences termination will be “likely”. It is obvious why such a strict approach of almost inevitable dismissal is adopted in respect of operational dishonesty; whereas a criminal conviction, whilst extremely serious for a serving police officer, may span a wide range of circumstances, so that a fact-sensitive assessment is required. In each of the instant cases, the judge said that no basis had been shown for overturning the PAT’s decision to impose the sanction of a final written warning on the officer. The PAT was entitled to conclude that dismissal for gross misconduct was not a necessary and proportionate sanction in the circumstances of each case.
Costs
17.
Competition and Markets Authority v. Flynn Pharma Limited and Pfizer Inc [2022] UKSC 14
Regulator losing case when exercising public functions – no presumption of no order for costs – Competition Appeal Tribunal Rules 2015, r 104

By a decision of 7 December 2016, the Competition Markets Authority (CMA) found that Flynn and Pfizer had abused their dominant position in the UK market for the pricing of an epilepsy drug called phenytoin sodium under both domestic and EU competition law by charging excessive prices. It imposed a fine of £84.2 million on Pfizer and £5.2 million on Flynn. Both Flynn and Pfizer appealed to the Competition Appeal Tribunal (CAT) which found that the CMA had made errors in deciding that Flynn and Pfizer had abused their positions and set aside the penalties. Flynn and Pfizer sought orders for costs against the CMA. The costs sought were £4.7m for Pfizer and over £3 for Flynn. The CMA’s costs were £1.8m. Rule 104(2) of the Competition Appeal Tribunal Rules 2015 provides that the CAT may “at its discretion …. make any order it thinks fit in relation to the payment of costs in respect of the whole or part of the proceedings”. The CAT made an order that the CMA should pay a proportion of Flynn’s and Pfizer’s costs. The Court of Appeal set aside the costs order and directed that there be no order for costs: [2020] EWCA Civ 617. The main cases relied on in support of CMA’s argument in the Court of Appeal that there should be no order for costs were: Bradford MDC v. Booth (2000) 164 JP 485; Baxendale Walker v. Law Society [2007] EWCA Civ 233, [2008] 1 WLR 426; R (Perinpanathan) v. City of Westminster Magistrates’ Court [2010] EWCA Civ 40, [2010] 1 WLR 1508; and British Telecommunications plc v. Office of Communications [2018] EWCA Civ 2542, [2019] Bus LR 592. Reviewing the authorities, Lewison LJ (with whom Floyd and Arnold LJJ agreed) said: 
79. The applicable legal principles to be derived from these cases are, in my judgment, as follows:

(i) Where a power to make an order about costs does not include an express general rule or default position, an important factor in the exercise of discretion is the fact that one of the parties is a regulator exercising functions in the public interest.

(ii) That leads to the conclusion that in such cases the starting point or default position is that no order for costs should be made against a regulator who has brought or defended proceedings in the CAT acting purely in its regulatory capacity.

(iii)The default position may be departed from for good reason.

(iv) The mere fact that the regulator has been unsuccessful is not, without more, a good reason. I do not consider that it is necessary to find “exceptional circumstances” as opposed to a good reason.

(v) A good reason will include unreasonable conduct on the part of the regulator, or substantial financial hardship likely to be suffered by the successful party if a costs order is not made.

(vi) There may be additional factors, specific to a particular case, which might also permit a departure from the starting point.
The Supreme Court allowed appeals by Flynn and Pfizer. Lady Rose (with whom Lord Hodge, Lord Sales, Lord Leggatt and Lord Stephens agreed) said, at paragraph 95 in the judgment, that the main issue raised by the appeals was whether the Court of Appeal was right to hold that there was a general principle or rule that a court or tribunal exercising such a discretion should adopt as its starting point that it will not make an order for costs where the unsuccessful respondent is a public body defending a decision it has taken in the exercise of its functions in the public interest unless there is some good reason to do so; the lack of success not being of itself a good reason to depart from that starting point. In considering whether the principle asserted by the CMA was supported by the Booth line of cases, Lady Rose said:

97. In my judgment, there is no generally applicable principle that all public bodies should enjoy a protected status as parties to litigation where they lose a case which they have brought or defended in the exercise of their public functions in the public interest. The principle supported by the Booth line of cases is, rather, that where a public body is unsuccessful in proceeding, an important factor that a court or tribunal exercising an apparently unfettered discretion should take into account is the risk that there will be a chilling effect on the conduct of the public body, if costs are routinely made against it in those kinds of proceedings, even where the body has acted reasonably in bringing or defending the application. This does not mean that a court has to consider the point afresh each time it exercises its discretion in, for example, a case where a local authority loses a licensing appeal or every time the magistrates dismiss an application brought by the police. The assessment that, in kinds of proceedings of proceedings dealt with directly in Booth, Baxendale-Walker and Perinpanathan, there is a general risk of a chilling effect clearly applies to the kinds of proceedings in which those cases were decided and to analogous proceedings.

98. Where I depart from the CMA’s argument and from the decision of the Court of Appeal in this case is in making the jump from a conclusion that in some circumstances the potential chilling effect on the public body indicates that a no order as to costs starting point is appropriate, to a principle that in every situation and for every public body it must be assumed that there might be such a chilling effect and hence that the body should be shielded from the costs consequences of the decisions it takes. An appeal is not sufficiently analogous to the Booth line of cases merely because the respondent is a public body and the power to award costs is expressed in unfettered terms. Whether there is a real risk of such a chilling effect depends on the facts and circumstances of the public body in question and the nature of the decision which it is defending – it cannot be assumed to exist. Further in my judgment, the assessment as to whether a chilling effect is sufficiently plausible to justify a starting point of no order as to costs in a particular jurisdiction is an assessment best made by the court or tribunal in question, subject to the supervisory jurisdiction of the appellate courts.    
The Supreme Court noted at paragraph 59 that the Scottish Solicitors’ Discipline Tribunal does make awards against the Law Society of Scotland; see Ahmed-Sheikh v. Scottish Solicitors’ Discipline Tribunal [2019] CSOH 104 at [50]. In the instant case, the Supreme Court concluded that the CAT’s costs ruling adopting a ‘costs follow the event’ starting point was a proper exercise of its costs jurisdiction, arrived at after considering all relevant factors. The Court therefore allowed both appeals and reinstated the CAT’s costs ruling. 

Delay

18.
R (Professor Young) v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 534 (Admin)
Five-year rule – decision by assistant registrar not to proceed with allegation – review by second assistant registrar to proceed – whether second decision made in excess of jurisdiction or public law error – Medical Act 1983, s.35CC – GMC Rules 2004, rr 4(5) and 12     
Following the death of Child C in 1996 and the deaths of three other children from hyponatraemia, a public inquiry was set up in 2004. The claimant was asked by the Royal Hospital for Sick Children, Belfast, to review the case of Child C having had significant experience of hyponatraemia, and in 2006 he gave evidence at an inquest into Child C’s death. The claimant was subsequently criticised in the report of the public inquiry published in January 2018, including providing misleading evidence to the Coroner’s inquest. The parents of Child C submitted a complaint to the GMC in March 2018. On 14 November 2018, an assistant registrar (AR1) of the GMC decided that allegations against the claimant relating to his conduct in 2004 and 2006 should not proceed any further by virtue of rule 4(5) of the GMC (Fitness to Practice) Rules 2004. The parents of Child C sought a review of the decision of AR1. Subsequently, another assistant registrar (AR2) acting under rule 12 of the 2004 Rules, reviewed that determination and substituted a fresh decision, this time that the allegations should proceed. The claimant applied for judicial review of the decision of AR2, contending that the power to review under rule 12 was not engaged, alternatively, that if it was, the power was exercised unlawfully. 
In dismissing the claim, Holgate J said that section 35CC (5) of the Medical Act 1983, underpinning the primary legislation for rule 4(5), provides for the disapplication of the power to pursue an allegation where more than 5 years have elapsed since the most recent event giving rise to the allegation and ‘it would not be in the public interest to investigate the allegation.’ Rule 4(5) was worded differently so that the GMC is not to proceed with an allegation more than 5 years old unless it is in the public interest to do so. A practice had developed of asking whether the 5-year rule should or should not be ‘waived’, or whether a particular factor tells for or against ‘waiver’ of the rule. Those terms were inconsistent with both s.35CC (5) and rule 4(5). Instead, the relevant question is whether it is in the public interest for the 5-year restriction to be applied. The statutory question is whether, after taking into account the relevant considerations in any individual case, the overall view of the public interest is that the allegation should or should not be investigated. Rule 12 provides for a review of decisions, including a decision made under rule 4(5). In the present case, the first issue on the review under rule 12 by AR2 was whether the decision of AR1 was ‘materially flawed’ given that there was no new information under rule 12(2). The power to review would not arise unless one or more of the grounds in rule 12(3) was satisfied. Here, it was not said that a review was necessary for the protection of the public and so it was necessary for AR2 to be satisfied that it was ‘otherwise necessary in the public interest’. Although one purpose of the 2004 Rules is to provide ‘proper protection’ for a medical practitioner against whom allegations are made, it is also necessary to have regard to the over-arching objective of the GMC set out in s 1(1A) and (1B) of the Medical Act 1983. The public interest is the primary guiding purpose of the Rules. The application for judicial review was not an appeal under s.40 or s.40A of the 1983 Act, but a review of the judgment reached by AR2. The court was not determining the issues before AR2 for itself and may not substitute its own view. It may only intervene if AR2 had acted in excess of jurisdiction or committed a public law error. Having considered the decisions of AR1 and AR2, there was no legal basis upon which the court could interfere with the decision of AR2 under rules 4(5) and 12 of the 2004 Rules.  
19.
Veeravalli v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 747 (Admin)

Re-convened hearing - four month delay – no evidence of unfairness

The appellant, a consultant in obstetrics and gynaecology appealed the decision of the tribunal which imposed conditions on his registration. The case concerned the appellant’s management of Patient A whilst she was in labour on 8 March 2017. The tribunal found a number of charges proved and other charges (the majority) not proved. The appellant submitted that the delay of 4 months between the conclusion of the evidence on facts and the issuing of the determination was highly undesirable as memory fades with the passage of time and issues such as demeanour of a witness are more difficult to recall. The tribunal commenced their deliberations immediately after hearing submissions on facts on Friday 16 April 2021 and continued them for a full day on Monday 19 April 2021. They reconvened an 12 and 13 August 2021 to complete their deliberations and wrote up their determination, which was handed down on 31 August 2021. The hearing then continued with the remaining stages of the case, ending on 3 September 2021. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Lang J said, at [49]-[50], that she did not consider the period between the conclusion of evidence and the handing down of the tribunal’s decision on facts to be unreasonable delay given the nature of the case and the difficulties in co-ordinating a meeting between the three independent tribunal members who have other diary commitments. Moreover, the detailed determination on the facts did not suggest that the memories of the members of the tribunal were impaired. The appellant had failed to establish that the tribunal’s findings of fact were wrong or irrational or unfair.  
Disclosure, Confidentiality, Data Protection and FoI
20.
Kayode v. Information Commissioner and General Medial Council [2021] UKUT 86 (AAC)

Fitness to practise – publication and disclosure policy – determination of tribunal available for 10 years – Freedom of information request – balancing disclosure interests against expectations of data subject – Medical Act 1983, s35B (4)

On 4 June 2019, the appellant made a request to the GMC under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) for a copy of the determination by the panel of fitness to practise proceedings involving a named doctor. In 2007 the GMC had erased the doctor from the medical register, and full details of the erasure and the fitness to practise determination were held on the register, and accessible to the public, until February 2018. On 26 February 2018, the GMC put in place a ‘Publication and Disclosure Policy – Fitness to Practise’, made pursuant to section 35B (4) of the Medical Act 1983. S35B (4) provides that, subject to sub-section (5), the GMC shall publish in such manner as they see fit decisions of panels and tribunals relating to a person’s fitness to practise. S35(B)(5) provides that the GMC may withhold from publication information concerning the physical or mental health of a person. Under the policy, a determination to erase a doctor from the medical register was only available for a period of 10 years. That period has passed in respect of the doctor the subject of the appellant’s request by the time when the policy took effect, and the link to the determination was removed on 26 February 2018.  The essence of the GMC’s case was that it would be contrary to the doctor’s data protection rights under s40(2) of the FOIA to disclose the information sought by the appellant beyond the 10 year publication period laid down in the policy. S40(2) of FOIA provides that any information to which a request for information relates is exempt information if it constitutes and satisfies the conditions of personal data. 
On 25 November 2019, the Information Commissioner issued a Decision Notice confirming that the GMC had correctly applied s40(2) of FOIA to withhold the information sought by the appellant. The Upper Tribunal dismissed the appellant’s appeal from the decision of the First-tier Tribunal dismissing his appeal from the Decision Notice. The First-tier Tribunal had directed itself correctly in accordance with the three-part test under article 6(1)(f) of the General Data Protection Regulations 2018: namely, (i) whether there is a legitimate interest, (ii) whether disclosure is necessary to meet that interest, and if so (iii) consideration being given to a balancing test to weigh those interests against the rights and freedoms of the date subject [here the doctor]: per Goldsmith International Business School v. ICO and the Home Office [2014] UKUT 563 (AAC) at paragraph 35. The first and second parts of the three-part test set out in Goldsmith were met on the basis that there is a legitimate interest in transparency about the system for ensuring doctors are fit to practise, and it is necessary to access fitness to practise determinations to meet that legitimate interest. This then brought the third part of the test into play and whether, applying a balancing test, the satisfaction of parts one and two outweighed the rights of the doctor so as to require disclosure. The relevant time for considering the doctor’s reasonable expectations was the date of the GMC’s final response to the information request. By that time the doctor concerned would have seen the details of his fitness to practise determination had been removed from the GMC’s website in accordance with the new policy. On that basis the doctor had a reasonable expectation that the information would not be disclosed. Disclosure of the fitness to practise determination would be unfair to the doctor in the circumstances of this case. The legitimate interests and necessity should not override the date subject’s rights in this case. The Upper Tribunal said that the reasoning of the First-tier Tribunal did not give rise to any material error of law and was a judgment the First-Tier Tribunal was entitled to make on the evidence. Each of the appellant’s grounds of appeal was dismissed.
21.
General Teaching Council for Scotland v. Chief Constable of the Police Service for Scotland [2021] CSOH 110

Disclosure of material by police to regulatory body – information obtained during criminal investigation – no necessity of court order before disclosing material for purpose of pursuing fitness to practise or misconduct investigations – disclosure in the interests of public health or public safety – possible infringement of article 8 rights of persons concerned – order for costs in favour of petitioner
In seven separate petitions the petitioner sought disclosure from the respondent of information obtained during criminal investigations for the purpose of pursuing fitness to practise or misconduct investigations. The respondent had refused to provide the information on a voluntary basis and required the petitioner to obtain an order for disclosure which was not opposed by the respondent. The Outer House (Lord Uist) said that it was not necessary for the respondent to insist upon a court order before disclosing material to the petitioner. The cases of Woolgar v. Chief Constable of Sussex Police and UKCC [2000] 1 WLR 25, General Dental Council v. Savery and others [2011] EWHC 3011 (Admin), and C v. Chief Constable of the Police Service of Scotland [2020] CSIH 61 are authority for the proposition that the common law and section 32 of the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 permit the disclosure by the respondent to the petitioner of the requested material without the necessity of a court order on public safety grounds. In Woolgar, Kennedy LJ stated that the police may even be under a duty to pass confidential information to a professional or regulatory body without being requested to do so if, in their reasonable view, it should be considered in the interests of public health or safety by that body. In Savery, Sales J affirmed a previous judicial statement that the intervention of the court was not required where it was proposed to make use of patient records for the purposes of professional conduct or improper practice proceedings by appropriate regulatory bodies. The respondent put the petitioner to the needless expense of having to bring the petitions in the first place. The petitioner was a body operating in the field of public safety and responsible for ensuring that people who are a danger to children are not permitted to remain on the register and so not permitted to continue to teach. The fact that both parties are public bodies was an irrelevant consideration when determining the question of expenses. The question of a possible infringement of article 8 of the ECHR if personal information was provided by the respondent to the petitioner was a procedural issue which was dealt with by ordering the respondent to intimate the petitions to the persons whose rights would be infringed. The expense of intimation was an unavoidable one for the respondent as the holder of the data. The respondent was liable to the petitioner in the expenses of each petition.  
Dishonesty

22.
Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care v. General Dental Council and Amir [2021] EWHC 3230 (Admin)

Inaccurate claims on dentist’s website – no evidence to support claims – failings in treatment of patient – statements made contrary to professional standards – statements made dishonestly 

The second respondent, a registered dentist, made claims to the public via his website that certain illnesses could be attributable to a dysfunctional jaw joint, which, as a dentist, he was able to treat. The Professional Conduct Committee (PCC) of the first respondent found that there was no current evidence or authoritative guidance to support the second respondent’s claims to be able to address the listed medical conditions through dental treatment. Lane J, at [47] – [58], held that the PCC should have found that the second respondent was dishonest in the claims he made on his website. The charge alleged that the second respondent was dishonest in that he knew there was no reasonable body of evidence to support the statement that the list of medical conditions on his website could be attributable to a dysfunctional jaw joint. The PCC held that the second respondent held a genuine belief that the statements he made were accurate, and that his conduct would not be considered dishonest by reference to the standards of ordinary and decent people, as they would consider that he genuinely believed that a reasonable body of opinion existed to support his statements. However, the PCC failed to take account of the first respondent’s guidance standards, which set out the standards of conduct, performance and ethics that govern a dental professional. Core Principle 1 required the second respondent to put patients’ interests first. Core Principle 3 required him to obtain valid consent, and Core Principle 7 required him to maintain and develop his professional knowledge. Standard 1.3.3 required him to ensure that any advertising, promotional material, and other information was accurate and was not misleading. None of this found any expression in the conclusions of the PCC on the issue of dishonesty. The PCC fell into error in answering the last part of the Ivey test as it did. The objective standards of ordinary and decent people must involve the expectation that registered dentists will have at least some regard to the professional standards under which they are required to operate, pursuant to a system of regulation that is designed to protect the public. Ordinary and decent people would, in particular, not conclude that a registered dentist could flout the first respondent’s professional standards, merely because the dentist has reached the conclusion that he knows better than those responsible for his regulation; and because the dentist refuses – in the face of objective scientific evidence – to accept there is any need for him to comply with those standards. The only reasonable conclusion that could be drawn was that the second respondent was dishonest in respect of the statements. The second respondent was also guilty of dishonesty in respect of his statement that cranio-dental symmetry aims to restore balance to bodily systems, bringing about a permanent and lifelong improvement in health and well-being.     

23.
Maxfield-Martin v. Solicitors Regulation Authority [2022] EWHC 307 (Admin)

Application form completed by solicitor – authority to sign form in name of partner – application form not read or seen by partner – finding of dishonesty by tribunal reversed – distinction between knowledge of falsity and dishonesty 
The appellant had been an accredited member of the Mental Health Panel of Solicitors since 2015. In June 2018 he working as a consultant with a firm of solicitors in Llanelli. The firm had a mental health legal aid contract and the appellant was the supervisor for the work. On 25 June 2018, the appellant submitted an electronic application to the Law Society for mental health re-accreditation. In addition to the appellant’s own signature and declaration, the form required to be signed by a ‘partner/senior manager’ under a declaration that the information provided was correct. The appellant inserted an ‘X’ and typed in the name of a partner, GGJ, signifying that GGJ had read the form. The appellant did not dispute that he completed and signed off the application in the name of GGJ, when he knew that GGJ had not seen or reviewed the application. However, the SDT found that the appellant had implied authority to act as he did and was satisfied that while GGJ had not given a direct instruction to the appellant to sign the form using his name, he had used words to the effect ‘just get it done’. Setting aside the SDT’s finding of dishonesty, Soole J said the critical distinction between knowledge of falsity and dishonesty was acknowledged by the SRA in its framing of the Allegations. Allegation 1.1 was that the appellant was a party to the making of a statement of fact which he knew to be untrue (which the appellant admitted); and Allegation 1.3 raised the distinct issue of whether he had acted dishonesty in so doing (which the appellant denied). A similar distinction drawn in charges framed by the GMC was noted by the Court of Appeal in Raychaudhuri v. GMC [2018] EWCA Civ 2027 at [32]. A finding of dishonesty did not necessarily follow from the tribunal’s finding that the factual basis of Allegation 1.1 was established. The SDT fell into the trap of moving from its finding on the factual basis of Allegation 1.1 to its finding of dishonesty without giving appropriate scrutiny to that distinct issue. On a fair reading of the SDT’s determination in relation to the Ivey first stage enquiry, the tribunal identified the appellant’s state of knowledge and belief as that he (i) believed himself to have been authorised by GGJ to act as he did; but (ii) knew that the declaration by GGJ was false. Accordingly both aspects of the appellant’s state of mind fell for consideration at the second stage of the objective question. However, when it turned to that question, the tribunal gave no real weight to the first of those two findings. It treated the appellant’s knowledge of the falsity of the declaration (the factual basis of Allegation 1.1) as determinative of the issue of dishonesty raised in Allegation 1.3. The appellant’s belief that he had GGJ’s authority to act as he did was potentially relevant to the second stage objective test for dishonesty. It was particularly so in circumstances where, as the tribunal accepted, the evidence showed that GGJ did not complete a declaration for re-accreditation by another member of staff and trusted others to do so on his behalf, and the contents of the form as they related to the appellant for re-accreditation were accurate. While the imperative obligation for solicitors to ensure that forms are completed with the utmost care and accuracy is undiminished, on the very particular facts of this case the court concluded that findings of dishonesty and breaches of Principles 2 and 6 of the SRA Principles 2011 could not be sustained.       
24.
Gray v. Solicitors Regulation Authority Limited [2022] EWHC 624 (Admin)

Ivey test – solicitor deliberately and dishonestly misleading court – solicitor’s knowledge or belief as to the facts – reliance on counsel 
In dismissing the appellant’s appeal against findings by the SDT that the appellant solicitor had dishonestly sworn an affidavit in High Court commercial proceedings, allowed submissions to be made to the court by leading counsel and had sent correspondence all of which were known by him to be misleading, Linden J, at [15], said that the issue before the SDT was as to the appellant’s probity and honesty. What the appellant told leading counsel, what he believed leading counsel was aware of, and what leading counsel said to the appellant would be potentially relevant to the appellant’s knowledge or beliefs as to the facts for the purposes of the first, subjective, limb of the test in Ivey. Having regard to what the SDT found to be the appellant’s knowledge and beliefs, it would then go on to decide whether his actions were objectively honest. But the question what leading counsel actually knew, understood or believed would not be directly relevant as his honesty was not in issue before the SDT, and it was not suggested that he had acted improperly. Linden J continued: 

142. [Counsel for the SRA] accepted that, in principle, evidence which went to the Appellant’s subjective understanding or perception of the views or understanding of Leading Counsel in relation to affidavits which the Appellant proposed to put before the court, or correspondence which he proposed to send, or in relation to submissions which Leading Counsel made to the court, was potentially relevant to limb 1 of the test in Ivey. He also accepted that there may be cases where it is difficult for a solicitor to judge where the line should be drawn as to what is or is not a permissible step to take in a given situation – the question is finally (sic) balanced – and the solicitor consults senior counsel or a senior colleague before making their mind up. Depending on the precise circumstances, the fact that the solicitor genuinely relied on a more authoritative person’s view in coming to a decision in a borderline case, believing that view to be honest, considered, and well informed, may help the solicitor in relation to the question whether their decision was honest by the standards of ordinary decent people, and therefore satisfied the second limb of the Ivey test.    
201. … [T]he issue was as to the Appellant’s honesty rather than that of Leading Counsel. Whatever Leading Counsel may or may not have known, understood, said or approved this did not absolve the Appellant of his personal responsibility not to mislead the court or allow it to be misled. He was to be judged according to what he knew and what he said and did, and, by that measure, it was clear that he acted dishonestly and in breach of the relevant Principles and Outcomes.        
25.
Law Society of Ireland  v. Doocey [2022] IECA 2

No finding of dishonesty by tribunal – court concluding solicitor acted dishonestly – whether court entitled to make finding of dishonesty
By an order of the High Court (Irvine P) made on 16 November 2020, the appellant (Mrs Doocey) was struck off the roll of solicitors. Before the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal the appellant admitted each of 24 allegations of misconduct against her. The misconduct involved breaching fundamental rules relating to the handling of client monies to conceal a growing deficit on her client accounts. The misconduct included allegations of teeming and lading whereby the appellant wrongly transferred monies from client account A to client account B in order to conceal a deficit or shortfall on client account B; misdescribing transactions and amounts in her client account books; and improperly taking money from client accounts into her office account. The deficit amounted to €169,152 although the appellant’s family made good the deficit. The solicitor denied dishonesty and no positive finding of dishonesty was made by the tribunal. On appeal to the Court of Appeal the appellant submitted that the High Court had not been entitled to come to the conclusion that she had been dishonest, at least without first remitting the case to the tribunal for the purpose of taking further evidence. The Court of Appeal (Donnelly, Haughton and Collins JJ) said this argument was misconceived. Collins J said that the appellant had admitted all the allegations of misconduct. The misconduct disclosed by the tribunal’s findings was inherently and intrinsically dishonest by any objective standard. After referring to Ivey v. Genting Casinos at para 74 (the “actual state of the individual’s knowledge or belief as to the facts), and para 60 (“What is objectively judged is the standard of behaviour given any known actual state of mind of the actor as to the facts”), emphasis added by Collins J, the judge said:
19. On the facts known to the Solicitor, her conduct was objectively dishonest. All the findings of misconduct involved advertent and intentional conduct by the Solicitor. Sums of money did not auto-transfer from one client account to another or from client accounts to the Solicitor’s office accounts. The Solicitor knew that the money that she transferred from client account A to client account B was the money of client A, not client B. Equally, she knew that the money transferred from client account X to her office account was client X’s money, not hers. The misdescriptions and misstatements referenced in the findings did not generate themselves; they were generated by the Solicitor who was at all times aware of the correct position. The wrongful transactions set out in the findings – all of them admitted by the Solicitor – were carried out by the Solicitor, not by any third party. Whether or not the solicitor considered her conduct to be dishonest is not the test. It may well be that she persuaded herself that what she was doing was excusable in the circumstances and/or that everything would come right at some point in the future but that does not alter the objectively dishonest character of the conduct knowingly engaged by her. The Solicitor could not – and, in fairness to her, did not – assert any entitlement to act as she did or make any ‘claim of right’ or any analogous claim capable of providing any justification for her conduct. That being so, I agree with Donnelly J that Ivey does not assist the Solicitor here.  
26.
Williams v. General Dental Council [2022] EWHC 1380 (Admin)

Failure in cross examination to put necessary assertions of fundamental facts to witness
The appellant, a dentist working in a dental practice, was charged with a long list of professional misconduct allegations involving some 12 patients. She asserted, amongst other grounds, that the PCC erred in finding that she acted dishonestly in relation to ‘top up payments’ charged by her to three NHS patients for ceramic crowns. It was common ground that the NHS provides porcelain crowns bonded onto metal bases. However, the market also provides wholly ceramic  crowns which many believe are stronger and more aesthetically pleasing. They cost more than porcelain bonded crowns. In relation to the three patients, quite openly and without any deception or coverup, the appellant discussed the benefits of ceramic crowns and offered to provide ceramic crowns to the patients on the NHS with a top up fee to be paid by the patients for the difference in price between the porcelain bonded crowns and the wholly ceramic crowns. All the patients agreed. Ritchie J allowed the appellant’s appeal against the PCC’s finding of dishonesty. The judge said that to determine the issue of dishonesty the PCC should have been shown the NHS (General Dental Services Contracts) Regulations 2005 which provide that a contractor may, with the consent of the patient, provide privately any part of a course of treatment or orthodontic course of treatment for the patient. Nor was there put before the PCC the NHS contract with the dental practice which permitted agreed voluntary mixing of funding. The GDC did not cross examine the appellant on the regulations or the NHS contract with the dental practice in relation to top up fees. This should have been done because it was fundamental to the allegation of dishonesty on the top up fees. That failure was serious and relevant to the decision on honesty relating to top up fees. It was well settled that it is necessary to put to a party or witness in cross examination the nature of the case upon which the proponent relies, in particular if dishonesty is alleged; see Browne v. Dunne (1894) 6 R67; Markem v. Zipher [2005] EWCA Civ 267 at paras 58-61 and Chen v. Ng [2017] UKPC 27 at paras 51-55. As a result, the appellant was not given a fair opportunity to answer the allegation of dishonesty such that the finding of the PCC on dishonesty was achieved without due or fair process.    
Drafting of Charges

27.
Rahim v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 137 (Admin)

Alternative charges – practitioner admitting lesser charge – tribunal entitled to proceed on more serious charge – GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rule 2004 r 17(2)(e) 
The appellant was a general practitioner, and appealed against a finding of dishonestly amending a patient’s medical records. The tribunal determined that despite her glowing testimonials and good character, the public interest required the appellant should be erased from the medical register with immediate effect. Patient A attended the surgery on 2 January 2018, presenting with a chesty cough which had been present for some months. The appellant examined Patient A and gave a diagnosis of post-nasal drip and prescribed amoxicillin. The appellant recorded in Patient A notes “SOB (shortness of breath) and chest tight”. On 16 January 2018, Patient A returned and now had a productive cough with green sputum and complained of feeling achy and feverish. The appellant prescribed a further course of a different antibiotic. Thereafter Patient A transferred to a different surgery and was referred for a chest X-ray and was diagnosed with lung cancer. On learning that Patient A had been diagnosed with lung cancer the appellant amended  Patient A’s medical records retained and archived at the surgery to read “no SOB but chest tight”. The appellant also added “no chest pain” and “no weight loss”. The GMC’s primary case was that there was a clinical failure based on a failure appellant to send Patient A for a chest X-ray when she complained of shortness of breath, and that the amendments to the notes were a dishonest cover up this clinical failure. The appellant claimed that she corrected the notes to reflect what had happened and was not dishonest. At that point, the GMC added an alternative charge that if the original notes were wrong such that they required correction, then the original notes were inadequate. At the opening of the hearing before the tribunal the appellant admitted the alternative lesser charge and submitted that the charges were mutually exclusive. Rule 17(2)(e) of the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004 provides that where the facts are admitted, the chairman shall announce that such facts have been found proved. The tribunal said that the facts remained in dispute. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal against the tribunal finding the more serious charges proved, the court said that there was no authority which prevents preferring lesser charges on the admissions of a doctor even if they contradicted the primary case of the GMC. This was not a case like Sloan v. General Medical Council [1970] 1 WLR 1130 PC where there was a rolled-up charge so that whichever way it fell, the doctor would be liable, and it was possible that it would not be apparent on which basis the doctor had been found guilty. In the instant case, the primary case against the appellant was apparent, namely (1) the failure to act on shortness of breath and to take precautionary steps which would have led to a diagnosis of lung cancer and (2) the dishonest alteration of the notes so as to conceal that shortness of breath had been discovered. There was no breach of natural justice because it was obvious that the extra charge was a lesser charge if the primary case failed. Rule 17 did not require the tribunal to act upon the admissions by accepting them and thereby removing from their adjudication the primary charges. It did not follow from the fact that the lesser charge had been proved on the basis of an admission that the tribunal was not entitled to go and consider the more serious charges. The tribunal was entitled to consider that it was premature to treat the admissions as proved when they contradicted the facts underlying the primary case. There was not a stage when there was an election to accept the lesser charge in lieu of the primary charges.       
28.
Ete v. Solicitors Regulation Authority Limited [2022] EWHC 2070 (QB)

Duplicity – four allegations covering same factual matrix – separate breaches of duty 
The SDT upheld four allegations against the appellant solicitor, namely, 1.1 causing or allowing payments to be made from his firm’s client account in breach of rule 20.1 of the SRA Accounts Rules 2011; 1.2 acting in transactions which bore hallmarks of fraud in breach of Principles 2, 6 and 10 of the SRA Principles 2011; 1.3 causing or allowing a client shortage to arise on the firm’s client accounts contrary to Principles 2, 6 and 10; and 1.4 causing or allowing the firm’s client account to be used as a banking facility in breach of Principles 2 and 6, and rule 14.5 of the Accounts Rules. Allegations 1.1 – 1.4 were all based on the sale of two properties in which the appellant was instructed to do the conveyancing. The transactions went wrong owing to fraud on the part of the putative vendors, who were the appellant’s clients. In essence, they pretended to be the owners of the properties, purported to exchange contracts and complete the sales, and then instruct the appellant to transfer the purchase monies away to third parties as soon as they were received. The central criticism of him was that he allowed this to happen as a result of serious mishandling of the conveyancing and mismanagement of the firm’s client account. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Linden J said, at [87], that as to the assertion that the allegations were duplicitous, he agreed that 1.1 to 1.4 covered the same two transactions. But that did not make them bad for duplicity: quite the opposite, given that this issue arises where more than one offence is alleged in a single count on an indictment. The same facts gave rise to various breaches of duty, which might have been pleaded as fewer allegations, but this was a matter of drafting approach rather than substance. Moreover, the SDT did not determine sanction by adding up the number of allegations which had been upheld. It addressed the substance of the matter. There was therefore nothing in this point. 
Evidence

29.
General Medical Council v. Udoye [2021] EWHC 1511 (Admin)
Failure to give evidence – drawing an adverse inference – procedural fairness – one factor to be taken into account when determining whether regulator proved its case

At the close of the GMC’s case, the tribunal found that the practitioner had a case to answer that his statement on a GP Induction & Refresher Scheme application form that he was on the GP register was untrue and dishonest. The practitioner did not give evidence and, in its final determination having summarised the legal principles on drawing an adverse inference, the tribunal found that the allegation had not been proved.  Allowing the GMC’s appeal and remitting the matter to be redetermined, Holgate J held that when considering whether to exercise the power to draw an adverse inference from silence in disciplinary proceedings, tribunals need to ensure that each of the four criteria in R (Kuzmin) v. GMC [2019] 1 WLR 6660 at [61] are satisfied. The factors in Kuzmin, including the last criterion (there are no other circumstances in the particular case which could make it unfair to draw such an inference) are concerned with the principle of procedural fairness. Where all the criteria are satisfied, a tribunal is not obliged to draw an adverse inference; it may exercise its judgment on whether to do so and, if it decides to draw an adverse inference, on how much weight to give to this factor. Where a decision-maker does consider it appropriate to draw an adverse inference, that by itself cannot be determinative of the allegation in issue; any such adverse inference is one factor to be taken into account in the balance when deciding whether an allegation is proved to the civil standard.
30.
Towuaghantse v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 681 (Admin)

Findings in previous proceedings – Coroner’s inquest – narrative verdict containing findings of fact and conclusion – admissibility – GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004, r.34(1)

The allegations made against the appellant, a consultant paediatric surgeon, raised serious concerns in relation to his management, care and treatment of Patient A, a new born baby, who subsequently died. At an inquest into the death of Patient A, the coroner recorder a narrative verdict. This comprised findings of fact, which occupied 2 ½ pages of text and a narrative conclusion which occupied less than half a page of text. The appellant did not dispute the admissibility of the findings of fact. He did dispute the admissibility of the narrative conclusion on the grounds that, as a matter of law, the coroner’s opinion was irrelevant. The finding identified three specific failures by the appellant which ‘directly contributed to the death’. Mostyn J, at [31]-[35], said that regulatory proceedings are quintessentially inquisitorial. This is put beyond doubt by the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004, r34(1) which provides that the committee or tribunal may admit any evidence they consider fair and relevant to the case before them, whether or not such evidence would be admissible in a court of law. The receipt of strictly inadmissible material in regulatory proceedings goes back a long way; see General Medical Council v. Spackman [1943] AC 627 at 636, citing Lord Loreburn LC in Board of Education v. Rice [1911] AC 179, 182. The case of R (Squier) v. General Medical Council [2015] EWHC 299 (Admin) (admissibility of High Court judgments in disciplinary proceedings) confirms that the relevancy principle does not apply to inquisitorial regulatory proceedings. Paragraph 47 of Ouseley’s judgment in that case is very important, namely, the opportunity for irrelevant or unfair use to be markedly reduced by redactions. In the instant case, the coroner’s narrative conclusion was plainly admissible, and was rightly admitted in all three phases of the proceedings (facts, impairment and sanction). The tribunal rightly held that it was not bound by the findings of the coroner. They were weighed with all the other evidence in determining the facts. However, the coroner’s narrative conclusion was unfairly used against the appellant when it came to impairment and sanction. The court remitted the determination of impairment and the sanction of erasure to be reconsidered by the tribunal.
31.
Hosein v. Ramnarine-Hill (Trinidad and Tobago) [2021] UKPC 28 

Attorney – road accident claim for damages – attorney for claimant – insurer making offers of settlement – attorney presenting client with letters showing considerably reduced offers – attorney charged with fraud before disciplinary committee – attorney producing at hearing another version of offer letters purportedly sent to client showing true figures – letters not previously disclosed – disciplinary committee refusing to allow cross-examination or admit letters – decision to exclude letters upheld by Privy Council

Allegations of forgery were made against the appellant, an attorney-at-law with an office in Port of Spain. The appellant faced five charges of professional misconduct. In summary, the complaints made were that he had forged, or procured someone else to forge, two offer letters from insurers in settlement of a road accident claim for damages and presented the forged letters to his client, Mrs Ali, as if they were genuine. Mrs Ali contacted the insurers herself and she then discovered that the offers set out in the letters were understated and lower than the amount offered by the insurers. Mrs Ali discharged the appellant and came to a settlement with the insurers on the basis of the correct information and offer of settlement made by the insurers. A Disciplinary Committee appointed pursuant to the Legal Profession Act of Trinidad and Tobago found the allegations against the appellant proved and remitted the case to the Chief Justice and the Attorney General for sanction as it considered the case justified suspension or removal from the roll of attorneys-at-law, which were beyond its powers. At the hearing before the Disciplinary Committee, the appellant sought to cross-examine Mrs Ali on the basis of another version of the offer letters (the excluded letter). Significantly the excluded letter showed the correct amount of the insurer’s offer. The appellant’s case was that he gave the excluded letter to Mrs Ali, and that the letters containing the incorrect amounts had been created by her and sister-in-law to avoid paying 20% of the damages to the person who had introduced her to the appellant. The Disciplinary Committee did not allow Mrs Ali to be cross-examined on the excluded letter or to admit it in evidence in the proceedings because the appellant had not complied with the Disciplinary Committee’s directions on disclosure of documents. When the Disciplinary Committee had refused to allow the appellant to put the excluded letter to Mrs Ali in cross-examination, the appellant did not appeal against that decision and in later submissions before the Disciplinary Committee he appeared to accept that the decision to exclude the excluded letter was rightly made by the Disciplinary Committee. The appellant’s subsequent appeal to the Court of Appeal of Trinidad and Tobago was dismissed.

The appellant appealed to the Privy Council on grounds that the Disciplinary Committee wrongly excluded the excluded letter, which was highly material and had the potential to exculpate him; and that the Disciplinary Committee gave inadequate reasons for rejecting his defence to the charges. At the hearing the appellant made a preliminary application for the admission in evidence before the Board of the excluded letter. Dismissing the preliminary application and the appellant’s appeal, Lady Arden (giving the judgment of the Board) said that the appellant had ample opportunity to deploy the excluded letter and took the tactical decision not to do so. The Disciplinary Committee had given directions  before and at the start of the hearing for disclosure of documents with which the appellant did not comply. He did not appeal the decision to exclude the letter. On the first ground of appeal, there were ample grounds for the Disciplinary Committee to reject the excluded letter. It had not been disclosed at the appropriate time. There was no explanation as to where it came from. It appeared that the appellant had made a tactical decision to produce it so as to surprise the witness in order to gauge her reaction. That was not the correct way in which to proceed as he should well have known. In all the circumstances there was no basis for saying that the decision of the Disciplinary Committee to exclude the exclude letter was perverse. As to the second ground of appeal, the Board accepted that disciplinary systems that adjudicate on complaints of misconduct by professionals must observe high standards of fairness and adhere to procedural safeguards. These include the hearing of evidence, the methods by which they determine which evidence to hear and the opportunities which they give to persons accused of misconduct to put their case. The focal point of procedures is the hearing at which the person accused of misconduct may present evidence and argument concerning the allegations made against him or her. As regards findings of fact generally, the settled practice of the Board is not to interfere with concurrent findings of primary fact by the courts below: see Privy Council Practice, by Lord Mance and Jacob Turner, Oxford, 2017, paras 5.46 – 5.50, and Philomen Dean v. Chanka Bhim [2019] UKPC 10 at paras 6 and 7. In the instant case, neither the Disciplinary Committee nor the Court of Appeal accepted the appellant’s case. The Disciplinary Committee was entitled to accept the evidence of Mrs Ali and her sister-in-law in preference to that of the appellant, and the Court of Appeal had found that these findings were correctly made. Therefore there was no basis on which the Board under its settled practice could come to a different conclusion. 


32.
Guise v. Solicitors Regulation Authority [2022] EWHC 124 (Admin)

Disciplinary tribunal – findings by previous panel – Adjudication Panel – weight (if any) to be attached to findings of adjudication panel 
Following a hearing before the SDT, the tribunal found that the appellant (‘G’) dishonestly made unauthorised transfers of monies from the client account of his firm totalling £353,500, and ordered that he be struck off the Roll of Solicitors. The tribunal rejected G’s case that the transfers were authorised pursuant to an agreement between him and the client whereby the client would invest in and/or make loans to entities in which G had an interest. On appeal G submitted that the tribunal erred in that it failed to attach weight to the decision of the Adjudication Panel of the SRA’s Compensation Scheme, which decided that ‘an in depth analysis of the available evidence is inconclusive in respect of [G’s] knowledge or belief of the facts’ regarding the existence or otherwise of an agreement. G contended that the Adjudication Panel addressed the same facts, documentary evidence and issues as were engaged by the allegation before the tribunal. This led to the same question of whether there was an agreement and whether G was honest or not. G contended that the tribunal was wrong to exclude the decision of the Adjudication Panel. Dismissing G’s appeal, Cockerill J, at [139]-[142], said that there was no basis for saying that the tribunal’s omission to exclude the Adjudication Panel’s decision was a material error on its part. It was a matter for the tribunal to decide what if any weight it would give to the Adjudication Panel’s decision. There was no error in concluding that it was not relevant. The Adjudication Panel was in effect doing a different job. It was not considering the same question as the tribunal. Further and more significantly its decision was made on the documents without the benefit of oral evidence which was tested in the tribunal hearing. The tribunal’s decision to attach no weight to the decision of the Adjudication Panel was unimpeachable. 
33.
   Gray v. Solicitors Regulation Authority Limited [2022] EWHC 624 (Admin)

Solicitor held in litigation to have deliberately and dishonestly misled court – judgment of court admitted before SDT – SDT making its own findings  

In the course of litigation in the Commercial Court, Flaux J (as he then was) held that he had been misled in granting an application for a freezing order in which the appellant acted for the claimant. After a five day hearing in March 2015 at which the appellant gave evidence and was cross-examined, Flaux J held that the appellant had deliberately and dishonestly misled the court in obtaining the freezing order. The SDT subsequently upheld allegations against the appellant that he had dishonestly sworn two affidavits in the litigation, allowed submissions to be made to the court by leading counsel and had sent correspondence to the defendant’s solicitors all of which were known by him to be misleading. An allegation that the appellant had sought to induce a colleague to make statements to third parties in relation to the litigation which, if made, would be misleading was found not proved. The SDT ordered that the appellant be struck off the Roll of Solicitors. The appellant appealed the findings of the SDT principally on the basis that its  decision was wrong in that it placed significant weight on the judgment of Flaux J, and that there was evidence before the SDT that was not before Flaux J, and, secondly, the SDT disregarded the appellant’s extensive reliance on leading counsel. The hearing before the SDT lasted 7 days.
In dismissing the appeal, Linden J, at [152]-[202], said that Flaux J’s March 2015 judgment did not bind the SDT. The SDT cannot be said to have been wrong to take the judgment into account and to attach significance to it. However, it would have been wrong for the SDT simply to have adopted it and the SDT did not do this. It reached its own decision on the basis of the evidence and argument which it received during the hearing, and made its own detailed findings as to the chronology of events under the heading ‘Factual Background’. These findings were the SDT’s own drafting rather than lifted from the judgment of Flaux J. They referred to and quoted relevant parts of the underlying documents. There was then a section headed ‘Live Witnesses’ which summarised the evidence each of the witnesses under a heading for each witness. The SDT was provided with a Table which showed what evidence was and was not before Flaux J. The SDT addressed each of the allegations against the appellant in turn and in separate sections, before turning to consider whether he had acted dishonestly. In each of these sections, the findings were again the SDT’s drafting rather than lifted from the judgment of Flaux J. For each allegation, under a series of headings the SDT first summarised the SRA’s submissions in relation to that allegation, then summarised the appellant’s evidence on the point, then set out the submissions made on his behalf and then reached its conclusion to that allegation under the heading ‘The Tribunal’s Findings’. The SDT made its own findings of fact before reaching a conclusion. The SDT stated in terms that in relation to each of the allegations which it upheld, that it had reached its own decision and the found that it agreed with the relevant findings of Flaux J. The SDT rejected aspects of the SRA’s case including the charge of inducing a colleague to make misleading statements to third parties. Flaux J had been heavily critical of an email sent by the appellant on the basis that it was attempting to deceive the colleague, but that was not the charge before the SDT. When it came to the SDT’s findings and conclusions about the case it proceeded on the assumption that matters had been discussed with leading counsel and had been discussed at length.         
Experts
34.  
Bux v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 762

Conflict of interests – doctor writing expert medico-legal reports for solicitors – doctor not disclosing wife worked for solicitors – consequences of failure to disclose 

The facts found proved were that the appellant had acted in a state of a conflict of interest by accepting instructions to prepare medico-legal reports from a firm of solicitors, in which his wife was a salaried partner; that in one case he gave a deliberately false answer (in a reply endorsed with a statement of truth) to questions posed to him as an expert under CPR 35.6; and that he made diagnoses without proper evidence, without identifying the existence of a range of opinions, and had in his reports failed to follow the requirements of CPR Part 35. The reports which were the subject of the proceedings involved writing expert medical reports for the benefit of claimants who had made holiday sickness claims in the county court. Between 2016 and 2017 the appellant wrote reports in 684 cases which generated a substantial part of his income. The fees were paid to a service company of which he held 55% of the shares and his wife 45%. If the reports had disclosed that the appellant was married to a salaried partner in the firm of solicitors which instructed him then the insurers would likely not accept the report but would, rather, challenge the claim, and seek to disqualify the expert. There was a strong financial motive, as the tribunal found, to keep quiet about the connection. 

Dismissing the appellant’s appeal and the sanction of erasure, Mostyn J said that a conflict of interest (or, perhaps more accurately, a conflict of interests) will arise when an expert witness’s opinions are either (1) actually influenced, or (2) capable of being influenced by his personal interest. In many cases it is not possible to be categorical whether a conflict of interest has arisen. In such cases the descriptive language is that there is a ‘possible’ conflict of interest, or that that there is a ‘serious risk’, or a ‘significant risk’, of a conflict of interest arising; see the descriptive language used respectively by the GMC, SRA and BSB. Where the conflict in question is only prima facie suggested by the facts it is properly described as a ‘potential’ conflict. After reviewing Re Factortame (No 8) [2002] 3 WLR 1104, Toth v. Jarman [2006] EWCA Civ 1028, Rowley v. Dunlop [2014] EWHC 1995 (Ch), and EXP v. Barker [2017] EWCA Civ 63, the learned judge said:

38. These [cases] demonstrate clearly that there is a high duty of candid disclosure imposed on an expert witness who has any degree of belief (other than a belief which is unreasonable or de minimis) that he may be under a conflict of interest. He must disclose details of a potential conflict of interest at as early a stage in the proceedings as possible. He must disclose any associations or loyalties which might give rise to a conflict. He must disclose any material that is suggestive of a conflict of interests, and will not be pardoned, if he fails to do so, by a later finding that there is no conflict of interest.

39. The reason that such a high duty is imposed is to reflect the well-nigh canonical principle that justice must not only be done but be seen to be done: R v. Sussex Justices, ex parte McCarthy [1924] 1 KB 256.

Mostyn J went on to say that failure to comply with the duty of disclosure is likely to have very serious consequences. In civil proceedings, it is likely to lead to the expert witness being publicly criticised in a judgment, disqualified as a witness, and for his evidence to be ruled inadmissible or otherwise of no weight. In regulatory proceedings the disciplinary tribunal will no doubt examine with great care what motivated the expert witness to conceal the conflict of interest. If it concludes that it was done for an improper motive, such as to obtain financial advantage, then this may well lead to a finding of dishonesty, which in turn would inevitably lead to an order for erasure from the register. In the instant case, the tribunal found that not only was there a potential conflict of interest at the time when the appellant wrote the reports, but there was an actual conflict of interest. The judge said that the tribunal relied on ‘expert evidence’ adduced by the GMC and the appellant, although their reliance on it was slight. The key issue in the case was a correct understanding of the test for (1) a conflict of interest in an expert witness and (b) the concomitant duty to disclose. The content and scope of the test was a matter of law. The tribunal would not be assisted by opinions from medically qualified professionals in understanding what the legal test was for a conflict of interest, and whether that legal test was satisfied on the facts. The questions were essentially legal and factual and not medical or technical. A judge, or a person acting in a judicial capacity, should be well capable of answering these questions without any so-called expert assistance.   

Findings of Fact

35.
Haris v. General Medical Council [2021] EWCA Civ 763
Allegation that practitioner’s conduct was sexually motivated – tribunal accepting evidence of complainant – deliberate, uncontested, touching of a woman’s sexual parts 

The allegation made against Dr H in the proceedings before the tribunal arose from his work as a GP. Patient A alleged that Dr H had undertaken a non-clinically indicated, intimate examination without informed consent on 23 February 2017 whilst working as a locum GP in the out of hours service in Morecombe. Patient B alleged effectively the same, in a separate incident on 5 March 2017, whilst Dr Haris was working as the GP in the Minor Injuries Unit at Leeds General Infirmary. The tribunal accepted in strong terms the evidence of the two complainants as to what happened at the relevant times, rejecting Dr H’s account. They went on to find that Dr H’s actions were not sexually motivated. The High Court appealed to the High Court: GMC v. Haris [200] EWHC 2518 (Admin). Allowing the GMC’s appeal against this finding of fact, Foster J said that it was clear beyond argument that the intimate touching of Patients A and B was sexual and that answering a question as to the motivation of the toucher, the only available answer, is yes, the motivation must have been sexual. This is another way of saying the only reasonable inference from the fact is that the behaviour was sexual. This derives from (a) the fact that the touching was of the sexual organs, (b) the absence of a clinical justification, and (c) the absence of any other plausible reason for the touching. The absence of any suggestion of accident and the absence of any consent gives further colour to the acts. In the instant case, there was no alternative reason given at all at the hearing at which the finding was made. The tribunal became muddled as to what they had to ask themselves and were concerned unnecessarily with the burden of proof and/or evidential burdens. It remained for the GMC to show it was more likely than not, looking at the material in the round, that the motivation was sexual. This was, on these facts, overwhelmingly the likeliest deduction to be made. The acts in question cannot reasonably be described, as the tribunal accepted, as formulaic and potentially inappropriate examination procedures. This was deliberate, unconsented, touching of a woman’s sexual parts: in other words what was, absent clinical indication, a sexual assault in all but name. Dismissing Dr H’s further appeal the Court of Appeal (Newey, Phillips and Andrews LJJ), said that in reaching its conclusions the tribunal ignored the fact that the best evidence as to Dr H’s motivation was his behaviour. As a matter of common sense, when a patient presents with pain in the upper back in consequence of a fall, there is no reason whatsoever for a doctor to examine her vagina, or to fondle her buttocks or breast. The behaviour was sexually motivated, and there is no other way in which it could have been perceived.        
36.
Khan v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 374 (Admin)

Credibility – tribunal’s approach to evidence – tribunal reaching conclusion on witnesses’ credibility before considering all the evidence – need for tribunal to consider evidence before reaching conclusion on credibility – tribunal placing undue reliance on witnesses’ demeanour – Dutta v. GMC followed 
Following a lengthy hearing the tribunal found that the appellant had behaved in an inappropriate and sexually motivated way towards three female members of staff (Miss A, Miss C and Miss D) at Barnsley Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, where he worked as a consultant orthopaedic surgeon. The tribunal determined that the appellant’s name should be erased from the medical register. In allowing the appeal and quashing the sanction of erasure, Julian Knowles J said that he found the tribunal’s determination was based on a fundamentally flawed approach. At [99] – [136], the learned judge analysed the tribunal’s findings. Right at the start of the section of the determination dealing with Miss C’s complaints, and before it had considered any of the evidence in detail, the tribunal said that it had ‘first considered Miss C’s credibility’ and, having made an ‘assessment of her demeanour’, it found her to have given a ‘genuine, sincere and credible account’ in relation to matters other than one matter, namely, the authorship of an anonymous letter. However, by then the tribunal’s conclusions were foregone because it had already decided that she was ‘genuine’ and ‘credible’. By beginning with the question of credibility generally and without reference to the specific allegations she had made, the tribunal was, in effect, beginning its analysis by asking ‘Do we believe her?’, which is the very thing which Warby J said in Dutta v. GMC at para 42 should not be done. True it was that the tribunal then went on to consider Miss C’s lies about the authorship of the letter. However, the tribunal’s analysis was flawed because in deciding she was telling the truth about everything other than the letter it based its conclusion on her ‘demeanour’ and its assessment that she was ‘genuine’ and ‘sincere’. This begged the question which the tribunal had to decide, namely: had the GMC proved each of the allegations made by Miss C on the balance of probabilities? Moreover, given Miss C’s willingness to lie, the most careful and accurate scrutiny of her evidence was called for, adopting proper fact-finding methodology. In the case of Miss A, the tribunal made, at the outset, a global assessment that she was telling the truth based impermissibly on her demeanour. In the second paragraph of its discussion, it described Miss A as ‘confident, credible’ and ‘sincere and consistent’. In the case of Miss A, there was also a direct conflict in evidence between her and two of the GMC’s witnesses which had a direct bearing on her credibility which the tribunal needed to confront and resolve as part of its assessment of Miss A’s credibility. In the case of Miss D, the tribunal said she was ‘credible’ again before it had considered any of the evidence relating to the allegations and how they had emerged, and the evidence which tended to undermine her credibility. Again, there was a conflict between Miss D’s evidence and other evidence called by the GMC which had a direct bearing on Miss D’s credibility. It was not open to the tribunal baldly to declare at the outset that Miss D was ‘credible’. The tribunal was given a cross-admissibility direction, i.e., a direction that if it found the allegations of one complainant proved, and was satisfied that that established a propensity on the registrant’s part to engage in unwanted sexual touching, then that propensity could be taken into account in determining whether the other complainants’ allegations were proved; see R v. Chopra [2007] 1 Cr App R 16. However, the tribunal’s approach to the evidence of all three complainants was erroneous and the determination could not stand and must be quashed. 

37.
Byrne v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 2237 (Admin)

Credibility of witnesses and corroborating evidence – absence of contemporary documentary evidence

The tribunal found that the appellant, a consultant psychiatrist, had engaged in an inappropriate relationship which developed into a sexual relationship with a vulnerable patient (Patient A), and directed that his name should be erased from the medical register. Save in respect of limited findings of fact the appeal was dismissed. Under the heading “The credibility of witnesses and corroborating evidence” Morris J:

17. First, the credibility of witnesses must take account of the unreliability of memory and should be considered and tested by reference to objective facts, and in particular as shown by contemporaneous documents. Where possible, factual findings should be based on objective facts as shown by contemporaneous documents: Dutta §§ 39 to 42 citing, in particular Gestmin and Lachaux.

18. Secondly, nevertheless, in assessing the reliability and credibility of witnesses, whilst there are different schools of thought, I consider that, if relevant, demeanour might in an appropriate case be a significant factor and the lower court is best placed to assess demeanour.  Despite the doubts expressed in Dutta §42 and Khan §110, the balance of authority supports this view: Gupta §18 and Southall at §59.

19. Thirdly, corroborating documentary evidence is not always required or indeed available. There may not be much or any such documentary evidence. In a case where the evidence consists of conflicting oral accounts, the court may properly place substantial reliance upon the oral evidence of the complainant (in preference to that of the defendant/appellant): Chyc at §23. There is no rule that corroboration of a patient complainant’s evidence is required: see Muscat §83 and Mubarak §20. 

20. Fourthly, in a case where the complainant provides an oral account, and there is a flat denial from the other person concerned, and little or no independent evidence, it is commonplace for there to be inconsistency and confusion in some of the detail. Nevertheless the task of the court below is to consider whether the core allegations are true: Mubarak at §20.
The  judge went on to say that essentially this case turned upon the tribunal choosing between the oral evidence of Patient A and that of the appellant. At paragraph 115 of his judgment, the judge said that where the case turns upon which oral account to accept, the approach of first considering documentary evidence before assessing the credibility of a witness’s oral account (see Dutta §38) has less significance. Save in respect of one head of charge, this was not a case of positive documentary evidence with which oral evidence was inconsistent. Rather, the tension was between the oral evidence and the absence of documentary evidence (emphasis in judgment). Patient A explained why she did not write about the sexual acts in the journal or in emails. The tribunal specifically addressed this in its determination and reached a conclusion which was properly open to it. Any delay and the piecemeal fashion of her reporting on the matters could be properly explained by her mental state, her sense of shame and difficulties in talking about such sensitive matters, as attested to in the written and oral evidence of a psychologist with whom she had therapy. She explained why she did not make disclosure to other clinicians with whom she had ongoing therapy. As regards inconsistencies in her behaviour, the tribunal addressed this and accepted the expert evidence of a consultant psychiatrist called by the appellant. Looking at the overall picture, including the agreed fact, the appellant’s acceptance of an inappropriate relationship and a kissing incident and admitted failure to record and report it, the tribunal was entitled to conclude that Patient A gave credible evidence: paras 116 and 117.      

38.
Forsyth v. Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority [2021] UKUT 162 (TCC)

Lack of contemporary documentary evidence – whether appropriate to draw adverse inference from absence of relevant witness

F, the chief executive of a small mutual insurance firm, referred decision notices issued by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) to the Upper Tribunal. The FCA and the PRA contended that F’s conduct in relation to his remuneration and salary and bonus arrangements with the firm demonstrated a serious lack of integrity in breach of the FCA’s and the PRA’s Conduct Standards. Holding that the regulators had not make out their case that F failed to act with integrity, the Upper Tribunal found F to be an honest and credible witness in respect of all disputed matters and allowed both references. In relation to how much work was actually done by F and his wife as opposed by the firm’s accountants, the Tribunal said that much of the work was not supported by documentary evidence because much of the time was spent in Mr and Mrs F’s home in producing revised drafts of documents of which there was no longer a record and the Tribunal heard no evidence from the accountants as to their work. In NatWest Markets PLC and others v. Bilta (UK) Limited (In Liquidation) and others [2021] EWCA Civ 680, the Court of Appeal, at [50], referred to the situation where there may simply be no, or no relevant, contemporaneous documents, and, even if there are, the documents themselves may be ambivalent or otherwise insufficiently helpful. Even in cases which are fairly document-heavy, there may be critical events or conversations which are completely undocumented. The Court of Appeal said:

51. Faced with documentary lacunae of this nature, the judge has little choice but to fall back on considerations such as the overall plausibility of the evidence; the consistency or inconsistency of the behaviour of the witness and other individuals with the witness’s version of events; supporting or adverse inferences to be drawn from other documents; and the judge’s assessment of the witness’s credibility, including his or her impression of how they performed in the witness box, especially when their version of events was challenged in cross-examination. Provided that the judge is alive to the dangers of honest but mistaken reconstruction of events, and factors in the passage of time when making his or her assessment of a witness by reference to those matters, in a case of that nature it will rarely be appropriate for an appellate court to second-guess that assessment.

In commenting on the absence of evidence from the accountants, the Tribunal said that the principle enunciated in Wisniewski v. Central Manchester Health Authority [1998] 1 PIQR 324 was relevant in this regard. As was stated at page 340 of the judgment in that case, in certain circumstances the court may be entitled to draw adverse inferences from the absence of a witness who might be expected to have material evidence to give on an issue. In circumstances where the reason for the absence of the witness satisfies the court, then no such adverse inference may be drawn but in circumstances where it might have been expected that a party would call a particular witness then such an inference may be drawn. If the court is willing to draw such inferences, they may go to strengthen the evidence adduced on that issue by the other party or to weaken the evidence, if any, produced by the party who might reasonably have been expected to call the witness.   
39.
R (Mokhammad) v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 2889 (Admin)

Tribunal making finding of fact not put forward by parties  - not put to practitioner - no opportunity given to comment 

The tribunal found that on 17 May 2017, M, a registered doctor, was involved in an incident in a hospital car park in Birmingham during which he used language and made a gesture to the car park staff, both of which were offensive and insulting. The tribunal found misconduct (but not impairment) and issued him a formal warning. It was not disputed that what occurred in the hospital care park was an ugly and explosive incident but the tribunal concluded that no one individual’s account was fully reliable. The tribunal found the evidence of the car park staff was unsatisfactory and unreliable. They were not simply innocent and shocked victims as they claimed and the evidence of one of them was “implausible”. Bad language, abuse and threats had been made by all persons concerned, both the car park staff and the claimant. The tribunal attempted to piece together its own account of the interaction, holding that offensive language had been battered backwards and forwards by all parties. Allowing M’s claim for judicial review, His Honour Judge Richard Williams (sitting as a judge of the High Court) said, at [24], that in R v. (Dutta) v. GMC [2020] EWHC 1974 (Admin) and in Byrne v. GMC [2021] EWHC 2237 (Admin) it was held that where the tribunal is considering reaching a conclusion on the basis of a version of events that has not been put forward by either party, fairness requires that the parties be given a reasonable opportunity to address it before the tribunal reaches such a conclusion. In the present case, the tribunal adopted a novel interpretation of the events (offensive language being battered backwards and forwards) that had not been put forward by the claimant, or put to the claimant in cross-examination for his comments or response. The claimant was not made aware that the tribunal was considering making such a finding, and so his counsel did not have the opportunity to address it in closing submissions. Whilst the tribunal in making its findings of fact was not constrained by the way in which the parties put their cases, the tribunal’s obligation to give adequate reasons must be viewed in this context. The judge went on, at [38]-[39], to conclude that he did not find the tribunal’s reasoning was legally adequate to enable the claimant to understand why it found against him. This meant that the decision of the tribunal to find the claimant guilty of misconduct could not stand and the warning could not be sustained.
Health – Non-Compliance with health assessment 

40.
Teewary v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 376 (Admin)

Teewary v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 376 (Admin)

Health assessment – failure by practitioner to undergo health assessment – risk of safety to patients 

In January 2019, the GMC received a complaint of harassment against the appellant from Ms V, a woman the appellant had met on holiday. The GMC was concerned at the tone, manner, structure and volume of emails sent by the appellant to Ms V and the GMC’s investigation officer. It sought advice from a GMC medical case examiner and decided to direct a health assessment based on the information before it which suggested the appellant’s health may be affecting his fitness to practise due to a delusional disorder, mania, a schizoaffective disorder, or a personality disorder or mental and behavioural disorder due to use of cocaine and cannabis. Despite the appellant providing the GMC with completed health assessment consent forms, no health assessment took place. In November 2020, the tribunal suspended the appellant’s registration for 12 months by reason of his non-compliance to undergo a health assessment and concluded that he might pose a risk to the safety of patients.  

Dismissing the appellant’s appeal, His Honour Judge Keyser QC (sitting as a judge of the High Court) held that the starting point for the tribunal was that there was a valid direction that the doctor undergo a health assessment under Schedule 4 to the Medical Act 1983 and Schedule 2 to the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004. Any challenge to the direction would properly have been made by a claim for judicial review. A claim made in 2020 failed at the permission stage. The tribunal was not concerned with the merits of Ms V’s complaint (who prior to the hearing had withdrawn her complaint) and was dealing solely with the question of non-compliance under rule 17ZA of the Rules. That said, questions of the level of the need for a health assessment and of the merits of Ms V’s complaint were not entirely irrelevant for the tribunal. If the original grounds for believing that the appellant might have mental health problems was shown to be baseless, a finding to this effect might possibly be material to the tribunal’s decision as to how to deal with a nevertheless unjustified failure to undergo a health assessment. On the facts of this case no such considerations arose. As regards the question of non-compliance, Ms V’s retraction of her compliant had little if any relevance. The appellant’s main argument before the tribunal and on appeal was that he was justified in refusing to attend the medical examinations for the purposes of the health assessment, because the GMC was conducting the assessment in an unfair manner. The tribunal rejected an application by the appellant for a stay of the proceedings on the ground of an abuse of process. Its reasoning was equally applicable to the contention that the appellant’s non-compliance was justified by some unfairness of the assessment procedure. The court agreed with the reasoning of the tribunal and noted that the tribunal contained two medically qualified members, whose judgement as to how a medical examination might fairly be conducted was deserving of respect by the court. 

41.  Ramaswamy v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 1619 (Admin)

Non-compliance with direction for health assessment – no concern about fitness to practise – GMC still able to investigate – GMC Non-compliance guidance for tribunals, para A24(e)  
The appellant, Dr Sheela Ramaswamy, practised as a speciality doctor in elderly medicine. In August 2018 the GMC opened an investigation into the appellant’s fitness to practise arising from concerns about correspondence between her and the GMC. The background to that correspondence was a relationship between the appellant and another doctor (the doctor), and the appellant’s subsequent use of that doctor’s surname. As a result the appellant was suspected of having a delusional belief about the relationship. The GMC considered the tone and content of the appellant’s correspondence to be extremely aggressive, accusatory, repetitive and conspiratorial, suggesting an unfounded belief that she was being persecuted. The GMC made a formal direction pursuant to rule 7(3) of the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2004 that she should undergo a medical assessment. The appellant did not comply with that direction and, in October 2020, the GMC referred that non-compliance to the tribunal. In the meantime the appellant continued to practise as a doctor with no complaint about her fitness to do so. She contended that at no stage had it been suggested that she was anything other than a good and competent doctor. At a hearing held on 11 and 12 January 2021, the tribunal found that the appellant had failed to comply with a direction to undergo a health assessment and further directed that her registration be suspended for a period of nine months. 

In quashing the non-compliance direction and the sanction determination, Morris J, at [136]-[157], said that the GMC’s guidance contained in Non-compliance guidance for Medical Practitioner’s Tribunals provides that when considering the issue of the doctor’s compliance with a GMC direction, the tribunal should ask itself whether there is a ‘good reason’ for the doctor’s failure to comply; para A16. Paragraph 24 of the guidance sets out examples of a good reason for failing to comply with a GMC direction, which include where “(e) a doctor can demonstrate that their failure to comply did not create a risk to public protection because the GMC can still investigate the concern”. The judge said that a doctor will demonstrate a good reason if he can establish that the direction is not necessary in order to enable the GMC to investigate the concern, even if the direction is reasonable and appropriate. In the Teewary case, His Honour Judge Keyser QC considered that a challenge to a direction should be made by way of judicial review. Morris J said that whatever the correct position as regards the route to challenge the direction, it was open to a doctor, on a reference to a tribunal, to contend that the tribunal cannot find non-compliance, because he has established good reason under paragraph A24 (e), i.e., the direction is not necessary to enable the GMC to investigate the concern. Counsel for the GMC accepted that a concern was only relevant if it gives rise about fitness to practise. Given the terms of s.35C of the Medical Act 1983 (that a person’s fitness to practise may be impaired by reason of adverse physical or mental health) and rule 2 of the GMC (Fitness to Practise) Rules 2006 (an allegation is defined as an allegation that fitness to practise is impaired) the judge said that the relevant ‘concern’ being investigated was the appellant’s fitness to practise (and not her health condition on its own). The basis of the tribunal’s assessment was seriously flawed. The tribunal concluded that without a health assessment the GMC was ‘unable to proceed’. It appeared to reject a possible A24 (e) defence and was based centrally on its assessment of the medical evidence.  

Human Rights

42.
Steele v. Deputy Chief Constable of the Police Service of Scotland [2022] CSIH 10
Article 10 – death of member of public in police custody – comment and discussion on social media – police officer posting comical graphics interchange format image on Twitter – image to be seen in context of lengthier conversation – freedom of expression – whether police disciplinary proceedings necessary and proportionate interference with officer’s article 10 rights

Following the death of a member of the public in police custody, the Lord Advocate announced that the police officers who were involved in the incident would not face criminal prosecution. The announcement of that decision was widely reported and was the subject of comment and discussion on social media. The petitioner, who was the general secretary of the Scottish Police Federation and a serving officer subject to the Police Service Scotland (Conduct) Regulations 2014, posted various messages on his personal account on Twitter. One post included a video clip or graphics interchange format image (known as a GIF) showing a man lightly tapping another on the cheek before running away. The GIF image was apparently taken from a comedy film called ‘Napoleon Dynamite’. The petitioner’s post drew a number of negative comments from other users on Twitter and several referred to his status as a police officer or to his position as general secretary of the Scottish Police Federation. On 15 September 2020, a Chief Inspector of Police Scotland, acting under delegated authority from the Deputy Chief Constable of the Police Service of Scotland, determined that the petitioner had a case to answer in respect of misconduct and referred the matter to a misconduct meeting under the 2014 Regulations. The proposed charge was that the petitioner acted in an inappropriate manner by posting to Twitter, in reference to the alleged incident reported in the media concerning the death of the deceased in police custody, the GIF video clip. The reasons given for the charge were the high standards the police service and the public expects of police officers, and that even off duty, police officers should not behave in a manner that discredits the police service  or undermines public confidence. The inspector observed that it could be inferred that the post was from a serving police officer. The Lord Ordinary (Lord Fairley: [2021]CSOH 65)  refused the petitioner’s claim for judicial review holding that the use of the GIF constituted an ‘expression’ for the purposes of article 10(1) of ECHR but a formal allegation of misconduct was justified in the circumstances of the case as being ‘necessary in a democratic society’ in terms of article 10(2) of ECHR; see Ahmed and others v. United Kingdom (2000) 29 EHRR 1, and C and others v. Chief Constable of the Police Service of Scotland and others [2019] CSOH 48, Inner House [2020] SLT 1021. 
Dismissing the petitioner’s reclaiming motion, the Inner House (Lady Dorrian, Lord Justice Clerk, Lord Malcolm and Lord Turnbull) said that the central issue upon which the reclaiming motion hinged was whether, as submitted by the petitioner, the post could not, on any objective view reasonably arrived at, constitute misconduct, and that the reasoning that it could, and that there was a case to answer, was irrational. The Lord Ordinary concluded that it was not irrational to consider that it might constitute misconduct, and that the view that there was a case to answer was one the senior officers were entitled to reach, and that the reasons given were sufficient. The Inner House agreed. Admittedly, it was the posting of the message, and the use of the GIF which formed the nub of the charge, but the character and quality to be attached thereto comes not from the post in isolation, but from the context in which it appeared, as part of a lengthier conversation. It was not the GIF only which formed the basis of the Inspector’s conclusion that there was a case to answer, but the posting of the GIF ‘in the circumstances outlined’ in the report, which included written messages and other exchanges of which it was part. The context of the conversation was important. It was commenced by a tweet from a solicitor commenting on the deceased’s death in custody and the Lord Advocate’s decision not to take criminal proceedings against the police officers. The visual aid, in this case the comedy GIF, was part of the tone of the comment. The reasons given for the assessment that there was a case to answer should not be subjected to detailed linguistic analysis. The reasons given were sufficient to justify the conclusion, and to enable the reader to understand why it had been reached. The court was expressing no view on the merits of the charge facing the petitioner nor pre-judging any defence thereto. It simply rejected the challenge to the legality of the proceedings themselves.  
Impairment of Fitness to Practise
43.
Towughantse v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 681 (Admin)

Practitioner contesting allegations before tribunal – effect on impairment – distinction between deliberately misleading tribunal and putting regulator to proof  
For the facts of this case see Evidence and Experts above. In its decision on impairment the tribunal said the doctor had ‘failed to accept any of the coroner’s findings’. In similar vein in its sanctions decision the tribunal said that while there was more evidence of insight at the sanctions stage than at the preceding stages, it could not ignore the fact that he had tried to attribute to others at least some of the responsibility for what happened to the patient. The tribunal said that in its judgment ‘that was a particularly regrettable feature of the case.’ Mostyn J said it was clear to him that a significant component in the decision-making process, both at the impairment and sanctions stages, was the conclusion that the appellant was seriously faulted for (a) having contested the allegations against him at the inquest, and (b) having contested the allegations against him before the tribunal. In remitting the impairment and sanctions phases to be reconsidered by the tribunal, Mostyn J said that it was not procedurally fair for a registrant to face the risk of enhanced sanctions by virtue of having robustly defended allegations made against him before the tribunal, or before another court; see Misra v. GMC [2003] UKPC 7 per Lord Scott at [71]; Amao v. NMC [2014] EWHC 147 per Walker J at [161] and [163]; and GMC v. Awan [2020[ EWHC 1553 (Admin) per Mostyn J at [37]-[38]. In contrast, in Yusuff v. GMC [2018] EWHC 13 (Admin), Yip J at [18] observed that refusal to accept misconduct and a failure to tell the truth during the hearing will be relevant to sanction and impairment, and the GMC’s Sanctions Guidance states that a doctor is likely to lack insight if they have failed to tell the truth during the hearing. Mostyn J concluded that a distinction should be drawn between a defence of an allegation of primary fact and the evaluation by the decision-maker derived from primary facts.

If a registrant defends an allegation of primary concrete fact by giving dishonest evidence and by deliberately seeking to mislead the tribunal then that forensic conduct would certainly say something about impairment and fitness to practise in the future. But if, at the other end of the scale, the registrant does no more than put the GMC to proof then I cannot see how stance could not be held against him in the impairment and sanctions phases. Equally, if the registrant admits the primary facts but defends a proposed evaluation of those facts in the impairment phase then it would be Kafkaesque (to use Walker J’s language) if his defence were used to prove that very proposed evaluation. It would amount to saying that your fitness to practise is currently impaired because you disputed that your fitness to practise is currently impaired. 

In the instant case, the tribunal, in the absence of blatant dishonesty, should not have used against the appellant in the impairment and sanctions phases his decision to contest the allegations made against him in the Coroner’s court or to accept those findings before the tribunal. Nor should the tribunal have used against the appellant in those phases his decision to contest the charge before the tribunal. His deployment of a robust defence, which was his right, should not have been construed as a refusal to remediate, let alone an incapacity to remediate. 

44.
General Medical Council v. Armstrong [2021] EWHC 1658 (Admin)
Dishonesty – tribunal making finding of dishonesty but not current impairment – need for tribunal to identify factors before concluding protection of public does not necessitate a finding of impairment

The respondent qualified as a doctor in 1999 and in 2012 emigrated to Australia, returning to the UK in 2015. In 2016, the respondent worked as a locum GP at several practices in the North East of England when she was not registered on the required Medical Performers List (MPL). In September 2017, she sent a message to one practice falsely stating that she was on the Newcastle MPL. Following a referral by NHS England to the GMC, an interim order of suspension was imposed on the respondent’s registration. Thereafter when completing application forms for posts in the UK the respondent falsely stated that she had not been the subject of any disciplinary proceedings and when applying for the position of a GP in Australia she did not disclose that her UK registration was subject to an interim order of suspension. In addition, she made other false statements. Before the tribunal, the respondent admitted all of the allegations and gave evidence at the impairment stage of the hearing. Counsel for the respondent, whilst accepting that the respondent’s conduct amounted to misconduct, submitted that her current fitness to practise was not impaired. The tribunal determined that the respondent’s dishonest conduct ‘did fall far short of the standards of conduct reasonably expected of a doctor and was so serious as to amount to misconduct’ but that her fitness to practise was not currently impaired. 
On an appeal by the GMC pursuant to section 40A of the Medical Act 1983, Lane J quashed the tribunal’s decision on impairment and substituted a decision of his own that the respondent’s fitness to practise was currently impaired, and remitted the matter to the tribunal to make a decision on sanction. At [33], the judge said that there is an expectation that medical (and other) professionals will be honest when undertaking their regulated activities; and that this expectation is a key component of any regulatory regime for protecting the physical safety of the public and promoting and maintaining public confidence in the profession. The appellate court will, therefore, be expected to scrutinise the tribunal’s decision, in order to satisfy itself that the tribunal has recognised the inherent weight to be given to the importance of honesty; and that, consequently, the tribunal needs to identify weighty factors in favour of the person concerned if it is to conclude that the protection of the public does not necessitate a finding of impairment. The court was informed that the only appeal cases that the appellant had been able to identify in which a finding of dishonesty did not lead to impairment were PSA v. GMC and Uppal [2015] EWHC 1304; PSA v. A decision of the Conduct and Competence Committee of the Nursing and Midwifery Council [2017] CSIH 29; and PSA v. GMC and Hilton [2019] EWHC 1638 (Admin). The judge said that the tribunal’s decision in the present case failed to have proper regard to the nature and extent of the respondent’s dishonesty. There was a serious disconnect between the tribunal’s finding of misconduct and breach of a fundamental tenet of the profession, which in addition brought the profession into disrepute, and its finding that the respondent’s fitness to practise was not currently impaired. In finding that the second ground of challenge was also made out, namely, that the tribunal placed wholly excessive weight upon factors in favour of the respondent, the judge, at [52], said:

The fact that the assessment of impairment is forward-looking means the Tribunal must appreciate that any loss of public confidence in the regulatory regime, resulting from erroneously lenient decisions, is likely to be of an ongoing nature. It does not necessarily fall to be discounted or downplayed, merely because the practitioner in question is unlikely to repeat their dishonesty. Undue leniency risks undermining general public confidence in the ability of the regulatory regime to protect the public from harm. In the present case, there is legitimate concern that the integrity of the list required to be kept by the [National Health Service (Performers List) (England) Regulations 2013] would be put at risk, in that others may lie about being on it and yet escape formal sanction.  
Insight
45.
Sayer v. General Osteopathic Council [2021] EWHC 370 (Admin)

Denial of allegations – relationship between contesting charges and insight; principles
In dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Morris J, at [25], said:

As regards the relationship between contesting the charges and insight, I have been referred to a number of authorities: including Nicholas-Pillai v. GMC [2009] EWHC 1048 (Admin) at §19; Amao v. Nursing and Midwifery Council [2014] EWHC 147 (Admin) at §160 to 164; Motala v. GMC [2017] 2923 (Admin) at §§30, 31 and 34; Yusuff v. GMC [2018] EWHC 13 (Admin) at §§18 to 20; GMC v. Khetyar [2018] EWHC 813 (Admin) at §49; GMC v. Awan [2020] EWHC 1553 (Admin) at §38 and Dhoorah v. Nursing and Midwifery Council [2020] EWHC 3356 (Admin) at §36. From these, I draw the following principles:  

(1) Insight is concerned with future risk of repetition. To this extent, it is to be distinguished from remorse for past misconduct.
(2) Denial of misconduct is not a reason to increase sanction: Awan §38.
(3) It is wrong to equate maintenance of innocence with lack of insight. Admitting misconduct is not an absolute bar to a finding of insight. Admitting misconduct is not a condition precedent to establishing that the registrant understands the gravity of the offending and is unlikely to repeat it: Motala §34 and Awan §38.
(4) However attitude to the underlying allegation is properly to be taken into account when weighing up insight: Motala §34. Where the registrant continues to deny impropriety, that makes it more difficult for him to demonstrate insight. The underlying importance of insight and its relationship with denial of misconduct was usefully analysed by Andrew Baker J in Khetyar (at §49) as follows:
“’Of course, no sanction was to be imposed on him for his denials as such; however, insight requires that motivations and triggers be identified and understood, and if that is possible at all without there first being an acceptance that what happened did happen it will be very rare, and any assessment of ongoing risk must play close attention to the doctor’s current understanding of and attitude towards what he has done.”
(5) The assessment of the extent of insight is a matter for the tribunal, weighing all the evidence and having heard the registrant. The Court should be slow to interfere: Motala §§30 and 31.
In the instant case, Morris J, at [147], said that the committee was entitled to take into account the fact that the appellant had denied the allegations in considering the extent of the insight he had shown. This was particularly the case given his denial of the sexual motivation behind his conduct. The assessment of insight was principally a matter for the committee, particularly since it had had the benefit of hearing the appellant in person at the fact finding and impairment stages.
46.
Veeravalli v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 747 (Admin)

Failings in system and of colleagues – personal failings of practitioner – lack of insight
The appellant, a consultant in obstetrics and gynaecology at Tameside General Hospital, had overall responsibility for Patient A’s care whilst she was in labour and admitted to the hospital. The tribunal found that the appellant failed to obtain informed consent for the administration of syntocinon (a drug to augment contractions in labour), and to formulate, and obtain consent for, a safe management plan, in discussion with Patient A and her partner.  The tribunal concluded that the appellant’s fitness to practise was currently impaired because he lacked insight into his personal failings, instead blaming the failings of the system and others. The tribunal was not satisfied by the evidence of remediation, particularly on the issue of consent, and concluded that there remained a risk of repetition in the future. In its determination on impairment, the tribunal noted that the appellant had taken overall responsibility as the consultant in charge of the team, but said that it had not been provided with sufficient meaningful evidence that he accepted any personal responsibility for his actions and the impact that his failings had on Patient A. The tribunal imposed conditions on the appellant’s registration with a review. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Lang J said, at [68]-[69], that the tribunal was entitled to conclude, on the basis of the evidence before them, that the appellant demonstrated little insight in relation to his personal failings, as opposed to his generic responsibility as the consultant in charge. Instead, he had reflected on the failings of the system and the failings of his colleagues. The tribunal took into account the appellant’s attendance at one webinar on decision making and consent. However, it also noted the absence of any acknowledgment of the importance of obtaining informed consent in the appellant’s written reflections. The tribunal’s conclusions on the issue of insight, remediation and risk of repetition were both reasonable and appropriate.     
47.
Hawker v. Health and care Professions Council [2022] EWHC 1228 (Admin)

Paramedic – failure to treat patient – denial of allegation – lack of insight and risk of repetition – distinct questions

A panel of the Competence and Conduct Committee of the HCPC found that on 24 October 2019, the appellant, a registered paramedic, whilst working on behalf of South Western Ambulance Service, failed to conduct an assessment of a vulnerable member of the public who was experiencing symptoms of a stroke and chose to walk away. The incident happened when the appellant drove his ambulance onto the forecourt of a Sainsbury’s Service Station and the appellant was approached by an employee of Sainsburys. The appellant denied the allegation. The panel accepted the employee’s account that the appellant looked at his watch saying, ‘we’ve finished now, we’re clocking off, you’ll have to continue with the 999 call’, paid for the fuel and drove off. The panel found that the appellant’s behaviour amounted to a ‘flagrant disregard of the needs of a member of the public in acute need’, that he lacked insight and that ‘without these critical insights into his behaviour in relation to a patient presenting with potential serious ill health, there remains a risk of repetition of the appellant’s conduct. The panel imposed a striking off order. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Eyre J said:

37. Thus the court can conclude that a panel erred in automatically equating a denial of allegations with an absence of insight or in concluding in the particular circumstances that an absence of insight indicated that there was  risk of repetition (see R (Abrahaem) v. General Medial Council [2004] EWHC 279 (Admin) per Newman J at [39]; R (Onwuelo) v. General Medical Council [2006] EWHC 2739 (Admin) per Walker J at [33]-[36]; and R (Vali) v. General Optical Council [2011] EWHC 310 (Admin) per Ouseley J at [46]). Although such a denial is not conclusive as to the lack of insight it can be indicative of a lack of insight or can mean that the panel has no material from which  it can find that the professional in question has the necessary insight. Much will depend on the facts of the particular case and on the evidence actually advanced in each case. The questions of the presence or absence of insight and of the risk of a repetition of the conduct in question are distinct. They are, however, closely connected and an absence of insight can be a potent indication that there is a risk of repetition (see per Collins J in R (Bevan) v. General Medical Council [2005] EWHC 174 (Admin) at [37]-[39] expressing those points rather more succinctly).

44. The Appellant is correct to say that the questions of lack of insight and of the risk of repetition of the conduct in question are distinct questions. There can be circumstances, such as was accepted to be the position in Bevan, where it is no risk of recurrence notwithstanding an absence of insight. It is also possible to imagine circumstances, perhaps where a person has difficulty in controlling behaviour in respect of which he or she is fully insightful, in which there is a risk of repetition notwithstanding the presence of insight. The presence of lack of insight can be relevant, often highly relevant, to the question of whether there is a risk of repetition and in particular to an assessment of the degree of that risk. In Bevan Collins explained that it was “implicit” that “insight is most material to ensure that the doctor [in that case] has realised that he has indeed gone wrong and therefore will not do anything similar in the future”.   
Integrity (lack of)

48.
 R (Chief Constable of Nottingham Police) v. Police Appeals Tribunal and Police Sergeant Flint [2021] EWHC 1248 (Admin)

Police officer – Standards of Professional Behaviour – honesty and integrity – distinct concepts 
In remitting the case to the Police Appeals Tribunal for a fresh decision as to sanction to be made, Steyn J said that it was common ground that the concepts of honesty and integrity are distinct. There was no dispute that the words ‘honesty and integrity’ in the Standards of Professional Behaviour in Schedule 2 to the Police (Conduct) Regulations 2012 should be read disjunctively. The Standards of Professional Behaviour provide: ‘Honesty and Integrity. Police officers are honest, act with integrity and do not compromise or abuse their position’. In Chief Constable of Thames Valley Police v. Police Misconduct Panel and White [2017] EWHC 923 (Admin), McGowan J addressed the distinction between these concepts in the Standards and at [15] said:

It is obvious that deliberate dishonesty on the part of a police officer would, almost invariably, amount to gross misconduct. The standard of honesty expected by the public of its police service is high and must be jealously guarded by those responsible for its maintenance. Equally the public is entitled to expect that police officers will maintain the required standards of integrity but as Sir Thomas Bingham MR set out in Bolton v. Law Society [1974] 1 WLR 512 at 518D,

If a solicitor is not shown to have acted dishonestly, but is shown to have fallen below the required standards of integrity, probity and trustworthiness, his lapse is less serious but it remains very serious indeed in a member of a profession whose reputation depends on trust. A striking off order will not necessarily follow in such a case but it may well. The decisions whether to strike off or suspend will often involve a fine and difficult exercise of judgment, to be made by the tribunal as an informed and expert body on all the facts of the case.

A lapse of integrity is very serious but can fall short of the quality of a lapse of honesty. Integrity in this context is not used in the sense of freedom from moral corruption rather in the sense of a failing to act in the right way, not behaving as the totally correct police officer would, in some way falling short of the whole. It is explained for police officers as ‘doing the right thing’.  

49.
Page and ors v. Financial Conduct Authority [2022] UKUT 124 (TCC)

Independent financial advisers – customers holding pension funds encouraged to switch to model operated by unauthorised body – lack of due diligence 

In this case, on 6 December 2018 the FCA through its Regulatory Decisions Committee issued decision notices to the applicants, and the firms in which they worked. The subject matter of the references was the conduct of the applicants as independent financial advisers (IFAs) in respect of a business model which each of the firms adopted and used. The business model was designed by a third party which was not registered to carry out regulated activities, namely Hennessy Jones Limited (HJL). The model was designed to result in customers introduced to the firms by HJL, investing their pension funds in high-risk products in which HJL had a significant financial interest. Potential customers holding personal pensions were contacted by marketing companies used by HJL and introduced to the relevant firm and offered a free pension review showing their current pension projections and what an alternative arrangement might look like if invested in a self-invested pension plan (SIPP) in an unspecified product selected by HJL. By the time of the FCA’s intervention into the firms approximately £76.5 million of customers’ pensions had been switched into SIPPs with loan notes and/or bonds as the underlying investments. As a result of claims made by customers of the firms, compensation totalling some £51.6 million was paid to customers by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme. The Upper Tribunal (Judge Timothy Herrington chair) dismissed the references, holding that the applicants had acted without integrity in that they had failed to have regard to material conflicts of interest when recommending the funds in the SIPPs and had failed to carry out adequate due diligence on the funds and those operating the outsourced functions of the advice process. It would have been obvious to any reasonably competent IFA, who did no more than review the various information memoranda and fact sheets, that the products were high risk. The features of the products that were indicative of an investment carrying a high risk of loss were overwhelming. As a result, a reasonably competent IFA would have concluded that the products were not suitable to be recommended to retail investors except in very limited circumstances: [339]-[340].  
Interim Orders 
50.
White v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 3286 (Admin)
Social media video – doctor publishing alleged misinformation about coronavirus and how it is diagnosed and treated – information alleged to put patients at risk of harm and diminish public trust in medical profession – IOT ordering doctor not to use social media to put forward views about Covid-19 and to remove social media post – freedom of expression – Human Rights Act 1998, s 12(3)
The claimant was a GP with an unblemished professional career. The GMC referred the claimant to the IOT for them to consider imposing restrictions on his registration. It was alleged that through a social media video the claimant had spread misinformation and inaccurate details about the Coronavirus and how it is diagnosed and treated which potentially put patients at risk of harm and diminished the public’s trust in the medical profession. In response to the allegations, and for the purposes of the IOT hearing, the claimant prepared an extensive witness statement addressing point by point the allegations. On 17 August 2021, the IOT imposed conditions on the claimant’s registration which included ‘4. He must not use social media to put forward or share any views about the Covid-19 pandemic and its associated aspects. 5. He must seek to remove any social media post he has been responsible for or has shared relating to his views of the Covid-19 pandemic and its associated aspects.’ The claimant applied to revoke the conditions pursuant to s 41A (10) of the Medical Act 1983. Dove J, while making clear that the court did not express any opinion as to the merits of the opinions expressed by the claimant in the video, set aside the IOT’s order on the grounds that they had failed to direct themselves to section 12  of the Human Rights Act 1998 in relation to the granting of relief in cases engaging freedom of expression. Section 12(3) of the 1998 Act provides: ‘No such relief is to be granted so as to restrain publication before trial unless the court is satisfied that the applicant is likely to establish that publication should not be allowed.’  Section 12(5) provides that ‘court’ includes a tribunal, and ‘relief’ includes any remedy or order (other than in criminal proceedings). The learned judge said that it was not disputed that section 12 of the 1998 Act applied to the IOT proceedings. The effect of section 12, and the approach which should be taken to interim orders precluding freedom of expression prior to final determination of the legitimacy of such a constraint, was considered by the Supreme Court in PJS v. News Group Newspapers Ltd [2016] UKSC 26, [2016] 4 All ER 554. The test that before restraining a person from exercising free speech before trial the applicant must show that it is ‘likely to establish that publication should not be allowed’ at trial, or that success at trial is more likely than not, was reinforced by the judgment of Warby J in YXB v. TNO [2015] EWHC 826 (QB). In the instant case, nowhere in the decision was there any reference to section 12 of the 1998 Act, and unfortunately it appears that neither side’s representatives drew the attention of the IOT to this statutory material. It is clear that the IOT approached the making of the order as a conventional assessment of the balance of risk and proportionality, without appreciating that they were proposing to restrict the claimant’s freedom of expression. The GMC’s Guidance provided for the IOT made no mention as to the approach to be taken when preventing a medical practitioner from exercising their right to freedom of expression. The questions that the IOT addressed themselves to, as they identified from the Guidance, in relation to risk and necessity were not the same questions as the test indicated by section 12(3). The latter involved a specific enquiry in relation to the merits of the case; the assessment of risk which the IOT undertook was a different assessment and indeed eschewed any evaluation of the merits. It may be that the GMC will wish the IOT to reconsider the case, applying the correct test. In connection with that possibility, any condition proposing to curtail freedom of expression on an interim footing, in order to be proportionate, is likely to need to be specific as to what opinions the person subject to the order is precluded from expressing.        
51.
Bijlani v. General Dental Council [2021] EWHC 3521 (Admin)

Concurrent orders – interim suspension ordered by interim orders committee – interim suspension by another committee for different matter 

On 16 April 2021, an interim orders committee of the GDC ordered that the registration of the registrant, Ms Monia Bijlani, be suspended following allegations that she was conducting Covid testing of patients and offering Covid-19 certificates while not authorised to do so. On 5 October 2021, the interim suspension order was extended for 6 months. It was that decision which the registrant challenged in these proceedings. On 1 September 2021, a different interim orders panel had suspended the registrant’s registration for 18 months in relation to a separate allegation relating to the clinical treatment of patients. Additionally, on 21 June 2021, a fitness to practise committee suspended the claimant’s registration for 12 months in relation to clinical failings. The court (Mr Hugh Southey QC, sitting as a High Court judge) dismissed the claimant’s argument that there was no legal power to impose concurrent suspensions. The interim orders committee’s powers to make more than one interim order derive from s32(2) of the Dentists Act 1984, which enables the committee to exercise its functions in relation to a person whose case been referred to them. Further, s27B(9), which deals a FTP committee revoking an interim order to which its determination relates, implies that there may be an interim order in relation to some other allegations. In the light of these matters, there was no doubt that one can order concurrent suspensions. The argument that an order for suspension is not necessary when there are two suspension orders in place was also flawed. Parliament plainly anticipated that it could be necessary to make concurrent orders. Secondly, there is always the risk that a concurrent order will be ended. Thirdly, public confidence and public interest are key matters that influence the exercise of powers under the Dentists Act. Public confidence can require an interim order in light of the serious nature of the allegations. It cannot be right that the mere fact that there is already a suspension order prevents a further suspension order being made where that is necessary to promote public confidence: paragraphs 17-21.     
52.
Dr MXM v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 817 (Admin)

Sexual relationship not arising in doctor-patient context – interim order justified on public confidence grounds – conditions rather than suspension – proportionality

The applicant was a general practitioner who had an extra-marital affair with ER for a period of over three years. The affair came to an end when ER’s husband caught ER messaging the applicant. ER’s husband made a complaint to the GMC. On 9 November 2021, an interim orders tribunal suspended the applicant’s registration for 18 months. Steyn J rejected the first ground of appeal, namely that the IOT failed to differentiate between those aspects of the allegations which were proper matters for consideration in fitness to practise proceedings and those which were of an intimate and personal nature removed from the applicant’s profession as a GP. The applicant’s relationship with ER predated any professional connection, commenced independently of the applicant’s status as a doctor, and involved only one consultation for an ear infection. The allegations the IOT properly identified in their determination for making an order were that the applicant (i) had treated ER’s husband for depression while having an affair with his wife, (ii) had engaged in sexual activity at the practice, some of which were videoed and posted on line and (iii) had interfered with ER’s decision to seek help for her own mental health issues. The IOT did not identify either the fact that the applicant engaged in an extra-marital affair or the nature of the sexual practices in which he and ER were alleged to have engaged were matters of concern. However, the court accepted grounds 2 and 3 of the appeal, namely that the IOT erred in their assessment of the risk to public safety, and that the duration of the order was disproportionate. A key aspect of the assessment was the nature of the misconduct alleged. While the IOT were entitled to view ER as a patient, it was incumbent on them to consider the seriousness of the allegations and the likelihood of any further incident during the period of any interim order. The relationship had ended. The relationship did not arise in the context of a doctor-patient relationship, and there was no allegation of any pattern of sexualised behaviour towards patients. On a proper analysis, the risk was to public confidence in the profession or the regulator, rather than to patient safety. The risk was not such as to render it proportionate to impose an interim suspension order, still less for a period of 18 months. The court would have substituted an interim order imposing conditions, and it was open to the GMC to apply for a new interim order.   
53.
General Medical Council v. MM [2022] CSOH 25

Extension of interim conditions refused where application made on wrong basis – no attempt to relate factual material to correct test
In dismissing the GMC’s application for a second 12 month’s extension of interim conditions, Lord Brailsford said that he agreed with the submission on behalf of the respondent that the petitioner’s application ‘must fail’ because of error in the GMC’s petition. The opening sentence of the relevant paragraph of the petition was as follows: “That there may be impairment of the respondent’s fitness to practise which may adversely affect the public interest.’ This sets out the wrong test which is required to be applied when considering the issue of the need for restrictions on a medical practitioner’s licence to practice. The GMC’s own guidance in relation to the appropriate test is: ‘Whether public confidence in the medical profession is likely to be seriously damaged if the doctor continues to hold unrestricted registration during the relevant period.’ The GMC’s guidance has a higher threshold than that stated in the petition. This was sufficient to determine the present application in favour of the respondent. Additionally there was merit in the remainder of the respondent’s submissions that, with the exception of delay, no clear and cogent reasons for the extension had been advanced. The reasons amounted to little more than a recital or parroting of general formula. There was no attempt to relate any of the factual matters to the test with which it is necessary to engage in determining the question of whether or not an extension of time was justified and proportionate. A significant proportion of the investigation into the respondent had been during the Covid pandemic. 

54.
B v. General Medical Council [2022] CSIH 38

Pending criminal proceedings – public interest grounds – basis of approach by court – whether the statutory test for an extension has been met
On 26 October 2020 an interim orders tribunal of the GMC made an interim suspension order against the appellant doctor for 18 months on public interest grounds. The appellant had previously been arrested at Heathrow Airport and faced charges of committing or assisting another to commit acts of terrorism contrary to the Terrorism Act 2000; and addressing a meeting for the purposes of encouraging terrorism contrary to the Terrorism Act 2006. In December 2021 the appellant was released on bail with conditions. Following reviews by the IOT, the interim order was extended on 10 June 2022 for 12 months by the Lord Ordinary. The appellant challenged that decision. The appellant had been offered a job which consisted of reviewing material online, without seeing patients either in person or virtually; and the conditions of his bail would not prevent his being able to attend certain hospitals or carry out certain types of work. A committal hearing of the criminal proceedings was due to take place in September 2022, and any trial was unlikely until at least some time in 2024. Setting aside the decision of the Lord Ordinary but taking the decision again as the primary decision maker and extending the interim order by 12 months, the Inner House (Lady Dorrian, the Lord Justice Clerk, Lord Turnbull and Lord Tyre) said that the Lord Ordinary’s reasoning was very limited in scope. His reasoning focused not on the question of whether an extension was justified, but on whether the IOT made the correct inquiries and were legally entitled to make the interim order in the first place. The Inner House said that the present proceedings are not a judicial review, in which the validity of the making of the original order is under consideration. The issue which the court is required to address is to decide for itself whether the statutory test for extending the order has been met. 
11. . . . In the present case the Lord Ordinary may be right to say the IOT had material to justify the order, that the investigation complied with the legislation and that it was entitled to make the original order, but the Lord Ordinary’s task is not simply to rubber stamp the decision of the tribunal. It is to decide whether to grant an extension of the period of interim suspension by examining the matter afresh as the primary decision maker, applying the statutory test and considering the issue of proportionality. . . .

12. The [GMC] must satisfy the court that it is in the public interest for the suspension order to be extended as sought (section 41A(1) of the 1983 Act). The following may be taken from the MPTS Guidance in relation to interim suspension orders: In an application which relates to the general public interest, it is necessary to ask whether public confidence in the medical profession is likely to be seriously damaged if the doctor continues to hold unrestricted registration during the relevant time. The decision maker must ask whether an order is desirable to maintain public confidence and uphold proper standards of behaviour. The proportionality of any action must be weighed together with the risk to public interest, and the potential adverse consequences for the doctor, in respect of which the seriousness of the charges should be considered, as should the potential public response to any decision should the doctor ultimately be convicted or acquitted. The decision maker should consider whether there are workable conditions short of suspension which would meet the public interest concerns.   
In the instant case, the Inner House said that the charges against the appellant are extremely serious ones: [15]. The passage of time before proceedings may be concluded and thus before the GMC investigation may be concluded and the appellant’s fate determined, is clearly a relevant factor for the court to take into account. Nevertheless, the proceedings against him are under a system whereby he is guaranteed the right to a fair trial within a reasonable period of time. Moreover, any extension granted by the court must be for a limited period of time of no more than one year. Any further request for extension would require to be addressed afresh on their own merits: [21]. In addressing whether public confidence in the profession would be seriously damaged without an extension order, the court must ask itself whether a reasonable and properly informed member of the public would be surprised and offended to learn that the appellant had been permitted to practise whilst under investigation and the subject of criminal proceedings in respect of serious charges of this kind. Having regard to the nature of the offences, the only answer to that question is an affirmative one. An extension of the order, notwithstanding the effect on the appellant, was proportionate to the nature of the offences and the risk to public confidence in the profession:[27]. 
Joinder

55.
Ali v. Solicitors Regulation Authority Ltd [2021] EWHC 2709 (Admin)

Solicitor – allegation concerning property matter bearing hallmarks of fraud – separate allegation  relating sham marriages and advice on circumventing UK immigration control – case management decision prior to substantive hearing refusing application to sever allegations – whether interlocutory order appealable – whether decision on joinder/refusing severance was wrong or procedurally irregular – Solicitors Act 1974, s49
The appellant appealed pursuant to section 49 of the Solicitors Act 1974 against an order of the SDT dated 10 September 2020 ordering him to be struck off the roll of solicitors. The charges before the tribunal of professional conduct arose out of two distinct matters: first the involvement of the appellant, acting as solicitor for a property developer, in a conveyancing transaction that “bore the hallmarks of fraud”; and secondly, matters arising out of a televised documentary into sham marriages in which the appellant was surreptitiously recorded by an undercover reporter posing as a client giving advice on circumventing UK immigration control. A case management hearing (CMH) had earlier taken place before a differently constituted tribunal when the appellant’s application to sever the allegations was dismissed. In dismissing the appellant’s appeal against the substantive decision of the SDT, Morris J, at [100] - [111], said that the CMH decision in March 2020 was an interlocutory ruling and an appeal against an order under s 49 of the 1974 Act lies only against that order. Interlocutory rulings are not within the ambit of s 49. They can only be challenged by judicial review, brought within the time limit. Appeal rights are given only in respect of formal and final orders of the tribunal: see Re a Solicitor, CA judgment 27 April 1994, [1994] 4 WLUK 22 at pp 145 to 147. In the instant case, the issue of severance formed no part of the argument before the tribunal and no part of the order, either expressly or implicitly, made any determination of the issue of severance. 
In the alternative, the cases of Reza v. General Medical Council [1991] 2 AC 182 and Wisson v. Health Professions Council [2013] EWHC 1036 (Admin)* had some relevance, but were subject to their particular rules. Those cases established that the analogy with the approach to joinder (or severance) of charges in criminal cases goes only so far. Where there is no factual link between allegations, there is certainly a discretion in the disciplinary body to direct that separate allegations should be considered by differently constituted tribunals. The cases of Reza and Wisson are not authority to the contrary. Such a discretion might be exercised in a case where a finding in respect of one allegation based on credibility might have an influence on consideration of a second set of charges, where those charges depend crucially on credibility. In the instant case, the tribunal’s determination on the immigration matter did not ultimately depend on the credibility or character of the appellant, but rather upon the objective evidence of the contents of the transcripts and the tribunal’s assessment of those contents. Further there was no evidence that the finding of integrity in relation to the property matter influenced the tribunal’s decision on the immigration matter. The tribunal considered the allegations separately.

Judicial Review

56.
R (Hannah) v. Chartered Institute of Taxation [2021] EWHC 1069 (Admin)

Chartered tax adviser – disciplinary scheme set up by professional body – no public law underpinning – not amenable to judicial review 
The claimant, a member of the Chartered Institute of Taxation and a chartered tax adviser, brought judicial review proceedings to quash the decision of the defendant to refer a complaint against him to the Taxation Disciplinary Board (TDB) in relation to advice he had given clients on stamp duty land tax. The defendant submitted that it was not amenable to judicial review, at least in relation to its function of referring a complaint about the conduct of one of its members to the TDB. All such matters are subject to control under private law, in particular by the law of contract. Holgate J agreed and dismissed the claim. The defendant is a registered charity. On 29 April 1994 the Institute of Taxation, a company limited by guarantee, was granted a Royal Charter. The defendant does not have any internal procedures for disciplining its members. Instead, it relies upon an arrangement it has established with the TDB. Byelaw 2(12) of the defendant’s byelaws provides that a complaint against a member may be raised with or by the defendant, or addressed or referred to the TDB. The TDB is jointly funded by the defendant and the Association of Taxation Technicians (ATT). Together they formed the TDB to deal independently with disciplinary matters affecting their respective members. The TDB has an Investigation Committee, a Disciplinary Tribunal and an Appeal Tribunal. The TDB has made the Taxation Disciplinary Scheme Regulations 2014, pursuant to powers conferred on it. The regulations are non-statutory. The judge said that the function of the defendant in deciding to refer a complaint against a member of the TDB was not amenable to judicial review for a number of reasons: 

· There is no statutory scheme regulating the conduct of tax advisers or providing for disciplinary proceedings to address misconduct. The TDB scheme is operated voluntarily by the defendant and the ATT. 
· The relationship of the members to the defendant is purely contractual.

· Disciplinary proceedings against its members are entirely a matter for the TDB.

· The defendant and the ATT have jointly adopted a document called Professional Rules and Practice Guidelines. It goes beyond professional conduct in giving advice and is aimed at maintaining professional standards in the delivery of services, public confidence and the collective reputation of the defendant’s members.

· The TDB may receive complaints about a member of the defendant or ATT directly from a member of the public, for example a client.
· There is no pubic law underpinning the TDS, and there is no requirement for person or body to belong to the defendant or any other professional body. 

· The TDB can only make decisions in respect of misconduct on the part of members of either the defendant or the ATT. Unlike the Panel on Take-overs and Mergers in Datafin, the TDB is unable to make decisions affecting the activities of non-members or the tax advice sector as a whole.
· The defendant’s code of conduct and the Taxation Disciplinary Scheme are not woven into a fabric of public regulation.  
57.
R (Taggart) v. Royal College of Surgeons of England [2022] EWHC 1141 (Admin)

Professional body offering external expert opinion in relation to surgical standards – whether report amenable to judicial review 
The claimant, a cardiothoracic surgeon employed by Oxford University NHS Foundation Trust, sought judicial review against the refusal of the Royal College of Surgeons to withdraw or correct a report provided to the Trust as part of the defendant’s Invited Review Mechanism (IRM). Permission to apply for judicial review was granted limited to the preliminary issue of whether the IRM was amenable to judicial review. The defendant was established by Royal Charter in 1800 for the study and promotion of the art and science of surgery. It is an independent professional membership body and a registered charity. One of the functions the defendant has assumed is to offer its IRM service to healthcare organisations. In summary, the IRM is a process by which an external expert opinion in relation to surgical standards is provided, under private contractual arrangements, for a fee. An IRM can only be initiated upon formal request by a healthcare organisation, not individual surgeons or staff members. In 2019 the Trust asked the defendant to carry out an IRM in relation to the claimant’s surgical practice. In July 2020 the defendant issued the report that was the subject of the present claim. The claimant invited the defendant to withdraw the report or issue a revised report. Dismissing the claim, Hill J said that judicial review is generally not available in relation to employment matters: see De Smith, Judicial Review (8th Edition) at 3-072, citing several cases including R v. BBC, ex parte Lavelle [1983] 1 WLR 23. The judge said that the most concise distillation of the approach to be applied to determine whether a particular power is amenable to judicial review remains the Court of Appeal’s analysis in R (Beer) v. Hampshire Farmers Market Ltd [2004] 1 WLR 233, where Dyson LJ, giving the judgment of the court, said at [16]:
It seems to me that the law has now been developed to the point where, unless the source of power clearly provides the answer, the question whether the decision of a body is amenable to judicial review requires careful consideration of the nature of the power and function that has been exercised to see whether the decision has a sufficient public law element, flavour or character to bring it within the purview of public law.

In the instant case, the source of the power to conduct an IRM is not legislative. The source of the power to conduct an IRM was the contract between the defendant and the commissioning health care organisation. While the contractual, and largely consensual, source of the power to conduct an IRM is a persuasive factor in support of the proposition that the IRM is not amenable to judicial review, this factor alone in not sufficient to resolve the amenability question. As to the sufficiency of a public law element, the fact remains that IRMs are, strictly and formally, advisory. They do not lead, in themselves, to direct consequences for surgeons. The IRM process makes recommendations, but ultimately it is for the commissioning healthcare organisation to decide what to do in response to them. It is fair to classify the IRM as akin to an extension of the employment relationship. The fact that after the IRM the defendant could refer matters to the GMC or another regulator if the commissioning healthcare organisation did not do so was not sufficient to render this a public function: referring matters to a regulator is something private individuals can do, without any suggestion that such referrals should be amenable to judicial review. The claimant is not entirely without remedy: he was able to request, through the Trust process, revisions to the IRM report; he has brought civil proceedings against the Trust relating to the actions it took after the IRM; and if the GMC later acts against him in a way which he considers to be unlawful, he can bring judicial review proceedings against the GMC.   
58.
Lidl Ireland GMBH v. Chartered Accounts Ireland and Grant Thornton (notice party) [2022] IEHC 141
Accountants – complaint by supermarket chain – decision by professional body of no case to answer – whether decision judicially reviewable  
In a decision taken on 16 March 2020, an independent review committee of the Chartered Accountants Ireland (CAI) determined that Grant Thornton, a member of the CAI, had no case to answer in respect of a complaint made by the applicant to the effect that the manner in which it devised and conducted a retail price comparison survey (in which the applicant featured) involved a breach of Grant Thornton’s professional obligations. In 2018 Grant Thornton were commissioned by PR consultants for Aldi to conduct a price comparison survey into a basket of retail goods in five Irish supermarket chains. The outcome of the survey was that Aldi came out in first place, as being marginally cheaper than the applicant. The results of the survey were widely publicised. The applicant was concerned it was unfairly suffering adverse publicity and lodged a complaint with the CAI concerning the way in which the survey report was prepared by Grant Thornton. The CAI disputed that the decision of the independent review committee was amenable to judicial review, or that the applicant had standing to bring the proceedings. Cian Ferriter J, at [61]-[67] held that the decision of the independent review committee under challenge by the applicant was one that was amenable to judicial review. Firstly, the committee was part of the machinery for regulation of the conduct of chartered accountants which has been put in place in furtherance of the public interest. As noted in Geoghegan v. The Institute of Chartered Accountants [1997] 3 IR 86, the accountancy profession has a special connection to the judicial organ of government in the courts, as well as having special auditing responsibilities. Secondly, the original source of the powers of the CAI is its Charter which has been the subject of subsequent legislation and which confers on the CAI the power to alter and amend its bye-laws. Thirdly, a complaint (such as the applicant here) is entitled to make a complaint against a member firm in relation to a disciplinary matter even if the complainant has no contractual or other private relationship with the member firm against which the complaint is made. Fourthly, the CAI’s disciplinary regulations provide in detail for various procedural rights of a public law nature for both the subject of a complaint but also, importantly, for a complainant, including at various points in the regulations an express right for a complainant to receive decisions with reasons. To take an extreme example but obvious example, if the CAI received a bone fide complaint in relation to a disciplinary matter but ignored that complaint or otherwise decided not to address it, it was difficult to see that the CAI would not be amenable to challenge by way of judicial review for that course of action. The court went on to hold that given the provisions of the regulations conferred on the applicant to make a complaint in relation to a disciplinary matter, the applicant had sufficient standing to challenge the decision of the independent review committee. Regulation 26.5 of the disciplinary regulations required the review committee to give reasons for its decision determining that Grant Thornton had no case to answer. The review committee acted in breach of its duty to give reasons which were intelligible to the applicant and which would enable the applicant to assess whether the decision was lawful. Accordingly, the matter would be remitted for a fresh assessment by a differently constituted independent review committee.           
Jurisdiction

59.
Watson’s Application for Judicial Review v. Police Service of Northern Ireland [2022] NIQB 59

Police constable – pre-attestation conduct – failure to declare – misconduct proceedings – jurisdiction by reason of being a serving police officer
The applicant, a constable with the Police Service of Northern Ireland (PSNI), was subject to a misconduct charge under the Police Service of Northern Ireland (Conduct) Regulations 2016. The charge was that on 26 April 2016, as part of his application to join the PSNI, the applicant completed a Security Check and Counter Terrorist Check Questionnaire in which he failed to declare two periods of employment, namely with Matalan between October 2011 and July 2014 where he was subject to disciplinary proceedings culminating in a verbal warning for gross misconduct, and with Statement Menswear between January 2015 and October 2016 where he made 10 unauthorised payments to himself totalling £1,675. The applicant completed his training and was attested as a police constable in June 2017. In March 2021, he was charged with making a false declaration when completing the questionnaire. The applicant applied to stay the proceedings on the ground that the panel lacked jurisdiction to hear a charge based on allegations which pre-dated his attestation as a constable. The panel refused the application to stay the proceedings. Dismissing the claim for judicial review of the panel’s decision, Colton J said, at [76]-[78] that the contents of the questionnaire were unambiguous as to the importance of full and accurate disclosure and the potential implications of any such failure. The declaration was self-evidently an integral and fundamental element of the process by which the applicant was ultimately appointed to the public office as a police officer. The 2016 Regulations and the Code of Ethics issued by the Northern Ireland Policing Board laying down the standards of behaviour required of police officers conferred jurisdiction on the panel by reason of the officer being a serving member of the PSNI rather than by reference to when the alleged misconduct occurred. Regulation 3 refers to ‘the member concerned’ as the member in relation to whose conduct there has been an allegation. Regulation 5 applies in respect of ‘the conduct’ of someone who is ‘a member’ i.e. a police officer. As long as the person against whom the allegation of misconduct is made remains a police officer, they are subject to the jurisdiction of the regulations. In L v. Prosthetists and Orthotists Board [2001] EWCA Civ 837, the court cited with approval the case of R v. General Council of Medical Education (1861) 3 E and E 525 to this effect:

Medical practitioners are not amenable to the jurisdiction of the Council under [section 29 of the Medical Act 1858], until they are registered. But if, at the time of their … adjudication by the council to have been guilty of infamous professional conduct, they are registered, the section applies, and it is immaterial at what time the … misconduct … may have been committed. It is said that this construction makes the act retrospective. It does so to a certain extent, but not in the general sense in which the rule against giving a retrospective operation of statutes is understood.

Colton J went on to say that while the court should be careful in drawing conclusions from case law dealing with different regulatory regimes, looking at the provisions of the PSNI scheme itself, the better and correct interpretation of the Code of Ethics is that it seeks to apply to those are police officers even if they were not at the time of the misconduct since that is consistent with the maintenance of public confidence in the PSNI. The applicant’s interpretation of the regulations is inimical to public confidence in policing.  
Legal Advice
60.
Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care v. Health and Care Professions Council and Yong [2021] EWHC 52 (Admin)

Harassment – legal assessor’s omission to give direction to committee – definition of harassment – Equality Act 2010, s26

The overarching allegation against the registrant, a social worker employed by the London Borough of Lambeth, was that between September 2016 and June 2017, he behaved inappropriately and/or in a harassing manner towards seven female colleagues. The HCPC’s panel found that while the registrant behaved inappropriately towards female colleagues, it did not in any case find that he had behaved in a harassing manner towards them. The PSA appealed on the grounds, amongst others, that the legal assessor failed to provide the panel with any direction in respect of what constituted harassment and failed to provide the panel with any guidance as to how they may differentiate between the terms ‘inappropriate’ and ‘in a harassing manner’ (ground 1), and that the panel failed to provide adequate reasons as to why they concluded that the registrant’s behaviour was not harassing (ground 2). Allowing the appeal, supported by the HCPC, Griffiths J noted that it was not pointed out to the panel that the HCPC was subject to the public sector duty imposed by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. Section 149 of the 2010 Act provides that a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate harassment. The learned judge said, at [52], that the HCPC is a public authority bound by section 149. Therefore, it has a duty to have due regard to the need to eliminate harassment. It follows that the HCPC panel should have due regard, specifically, to the definition of harassment in section 26 of the Equality Act. Section 26 provides that a person harasses another if they engage in unwanted conduct of a sexual nature for the purpose or effect of violating that person’s dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that person. However, the panel did not mention that definition or have any regard to it when reaching its decisions on harassment. Applying the definition of harassment in the Equality Act, the court concluded that based on the evidence before the panel the registrant had acted in a harassing manner to some of his female colleagues. 
[Note: The judge’s attention may not have been drawn to s 149(9), and Schedule 18, para 3, to the Equality Act 2010, which provides that the section does not apply to the exercise of a judicial function conferred on a court or tribunal. While the HCPC as a public authority is no doubt bound by s149, the panel was exercising a judicial function under schedule 18 of the Act. It did not, therefore, follow that the HCPC panel should have had due regard to the definition of harassment in the Equality Act. The case most frequently cited on the meaning of harassment is Majrowski v. Guy’s and St Thomas’s Hospital NHS Trust [2007] 1 AC 224, para 30, where Lord Nicholls of Birkenhead said that conduct has to be oppressive and unacceptable to cross the boundary to amount to misconduct. See also Ferguson v. British Gas Trading Ltd [2010] 1 WLR 785, CA.]

Misconduct

61. 
Sastry v. General Medical Council [2019] EWHC 390 (Admin); [2021] EWCA Civ 623
Misconduct – assessment of misconduct – treatment of patient in India – behaviour to be judged by UK standards taking into account local conditions and practices – sanction of erasure necessary for protection of public and to ensure public confidence in medical profession 
On 1 August 2018, a Medical Practitioners Tribunal (the tribunal) determined to erase S from the medical register. The allegations arose out of S’s treatment of a lady in India, referred to as Patient A, during 2013-14 when he was working as a Consultant Medical Oncologist at Kokilaben Dhirubhai Ambani Hospital in Mumbai. S was referred to the GMC by Patient A’s son who alleged that his mother’s death on 10 July 2014 was as a result of negligent treatment by S. Before the tribunal, it was alleged that S, being registered under the Medical Act 1983, acted inappropriately in his collection of stem cells from Patient A, and in recommending that Patient A undergo, and proceeding with, high dose chemotherapy with BEAM and autologous stem cell transplantation when Patient A had failed to mobilise an adequate number of CD34 positive cells and/or an adequate number of CD34 positive cells/kg had not been collected. S had been practising in the UK for 4 years without complaint since coming back from India. The tribunal found the allegations proved and that S’s fitness to practise was currently impaired by reason of misconduct. The foundation of S’s complaint on the appeal was that the tribunal failed to have any or any sufficient regard to what was referred to as “the Indian context”, and that the sanction of erasure was disproportionate. May J dismissed the doctor’s appeal: [2019] EWHC 390 (Admin). In dismissing S’s appeal, May J said that once it is accepted (as it is) that the tribunal has jurisdiction to consider complaints about a registrant’s behaviour and conduct occurring anywhere in the world, then the advice given by the legal assessor in the present case was right, namely that S needed to be judged by UK standards, GMC standards, but taking into account the circumstances such as the hospital, the patient, and the facilities that were available to S in India. The learned judge said that since the GMC’s remit is to protect the public in the UK and to promote and protect proper professional standards in the UK pursuant to section 1(1B) of the Medical Act 1983, it is bound to assess conduct with those standards in mind. That is not to say that in applying UK professional standards a tribunal simply translates the behaviour directly to a UK setting, that would obviously be wrong. In considering whether or not a registrant undertaking professional duties outside the UK has fallen short of levels of professional conduct which the UK public is entitled to expect from its doctors, a Tribunal must take account of any particular limitations or local practices which apply in the foreign location. In short, a registrant’s behaviour is to be judged by reference to UK standards but taking into account local conditions and practices. That is the approach that the legal assessor advised the tribunal to take here. In the instant case, the learned judge said that the tribunal did take account of the Indian context when making its decision on misconduct and impairment, and in assessing sanction the tribunal had regard to the context.

In dismissing the doctor’s second appeal, the Court of Appeal: [2021] EWCA Civ 623, [116], said that the proven allegations were grave and properly considered by the tribunal. The fact that the matters arose in India, where there is no multidisciplinary approach and systems may differ, cannot detract from the fact that Dr Sastry knew what he was doing in embarking upon such a course of treatment when he knew the same to be clinically inappropriate. The sanction of erasure was both necessary and appropriate for the protection of the public and to ensure public confidence in the medical profession.  

62.
R (Officer W80) v. Director General of the Independent Office for Police Conduct [2020] EWCA Civ 1301, [2021] 1 WLR 418
Police officer – fatal shot fired during police intervention – officer honestly believing his life in danger – disciplinary proceedings – whether civil test or criminal test of self-defence applicable  

On 11 December 2015, the claimant W80, a specialist firearms officer with the Metropolitan Police, fired a fatal shot at X during a police intervention in Wood Green, North London. The police had intelligence that X was involved with others in a plot to snatch a prisoner and his co-defendants from custody whilst in a transit van from prison to a crown court for a sentencing hearing. They planned to use a stolen Audi A6. The intelligence was that the men in the car were in possession of firearms and intended to use them to free the prisoners. On 11 December 2015, W80 with others approached the car. Despite being instructed to put his hands on the dashboard, X’s hands moved quickly up towards his chest where he was wearing a should bag. W80 believed that X was reaching for a firearm and feared for the safety of his life and the lives of his colleagues. He discharged his weapon firing one shot. There was no firearm in the bag, but an imitation firearm was found in the rear of the car. No criminal proceedings were brought against W80, and it was accepted by the IOPC that the claimant honestly believed that his life was in danger. The IOPC concluded that disciplinary proceedings for gross misconduct should be brought against W80. The IOPC concluded that, while a misconduct hearing would be likely to find that W80’s belief that he was in imminent danger was an honestly held one, applying the civil law test for self-defence the officer’s belief must also be an objectively reasonable one. The claimant contended that the correct test for self-defence in police misconduct proceedings is the criminal law subjective test, so that the claimant had no case to answer in circumstances where he had an honest, albeit mistaken belief that his life was in danger. The Divisional Court ([2019] EWHC 2215 (Admin), Flaux LJ and Kenneth Parker J) agreed, and held that in applying the objective civil law test in determining that there was a case to answer, the IOPC applied the wrong test. It should have applied the criminal law test. 

The Court of Appeal (Sir Geoffrey Vos C, Macur and Nicola Davies LJJ), in allowing an appeal by the IOPC, said that the focus should be on the proper meaning of the applicable conduct standard and Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics was issued by the College of Policing under section 39A of the Police Act 1996. Home Office Guidance issued under section 87(1) of the 1996 Act describes the Code as the framework that underpins the Standards of Professional Behaviour set out in the Police (Conduct) Regulations 2012. The use of force standard in Schedule 2 to the 2012 Regulations, which was central to the appeal, provides that ‘Police officers must only use force to the extent that it is necessary, proportionate and reasonable in all the circumstances’. Paragraph 4.4 of the Code states that an officer will have to account for any use of force and justify it based on his or her honestly held belief at the time that force was used. Paragraph 4.4 does not address the question of the criminal subjective test verses the civil objective test. It simply gives guidance as to how the officer is to seek to justify his use of work, namely by reference to his honestly held belief at the time. That belief will then be judged by the disciplinary panel according to whether the force used was ‘necessary, proportionate and reasonable in all the circumstances’:[47]. The IOPC was justified in concluding that it was open to a reasonable panel at a misconduct hearing to make a finding of misconduct if W80’s honest, but mistaken, belief that his life was threatened was found to be unreasonable. The fact that W80’s training had been conducted on the basis that the criminal test for self-defence will apply in misconduct proceedings would be a point to make in mitigation, if that became necessary: [51]-[53]. 

63.
Garaffa v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 539 (Admin)
Vaginectomy – failure in procedures contributing to outcome – failure to obtain patient’s consent to operation   
The appellant, a consultant urological surgeon, carried out a vaginectomy (removal of the vagina) on a patient without consent. Patient A’s gender at birth was female and had a history of cross-gender identification. Patient A underwent gender reassignment surgery but did not give consent to a vaginectomy. The tribunal accepted that there had been systemic failures which contributed to the outcome, but considered that these did not absolve the appellant of responsibility. There had certainly been significant failings for which the appellant was not responsible. These included the compilation of the booking form and the theatre list, both of which wrongly referred to a vaginectomy, and neither of which were the responsibility of the appellant. Moreover, the tribunal accepted that the appellant believed that Patient A had consented to a vaginectomy. In dismissing the appellant’s appeal against findings of misconduct and impairment, and the sanction of 5 months’ suspension imposed by the tribunal, Johnson J said that the appellant’s erroneous belief in Patient A’s consent was not wholly due to the booking form or the theatre list. It was also due to the fact that he did not see Patient A before the surgery, did not read Patient A’s notes with sufficient care, and did not adequately check that Patient A had consented to a vaginectomy. The tribunal heard evidence from two expert witnesses who were agreed that it was a serious failure to perform a vaginectomy where there was no written consent. The expert evidence, the GMC’s published guidance ‘Consent: patients and doctors making decisions together’, and the tribunal’s own sense, as an expert tribunal, of the standards of professional conduct that are to be expected, all pointed to a finding of misconduct. The learned judge said he accepted the appellant’s submission that the misconduct concerned a single patient and that the appellant had changed his approach. However, the tribunal was required to have regard to the over-arching statutory objective. An anaesthetised patient is in a paradigm position of vulnerability. The imperative for public confidence in the consent process that is carried out before an anaesthetic is administered is self-evident. For that reason, it is imperative that the medical profession ensures rigorous compliance with the consent requirements, as the expert witnesses both recognised, and as is made clear in the published guidance. There was no error in the tribunal’s finding of impairment. That was so irrespective of the question of remediation, insight and risk of repetition.  
64.
Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care v. General Pharmaceutical Council and Ali [2021] EWHC 1692 (Admin)  
Use of antisemitic language – meaning of words used – objective test – intention of speaker and good character not relevant to whether words used were antisemitic
On 18 June 2017, Mr Zamin Ali (Mr A), a registered pharmacist and managing partner of a pharmacy, attended an event which was held to demonstrate support for Palestinian rights. He led the rally and used a loudhailer. In the course of a long speech during the rally, he made various comments. Disciplinary proceedings were brought against him, alleging that that he had used antisemitic and offensive language during a public speech. Mr Ali admitted using words that were offensive (charge 2b), but contended that he did not have any antisemitic intent and his comments were not antisemitic (charge 2a). A fitness to practise committee of the GPhC found that the words he had used were not antisemitic, but that they had been offensive, that this amounted to misconduct, that Mr Ali’s fitness to practise was impaired, and that he should be given a warning. Allowing an appeal by the PSA and remitting charge 2a to be determined afresh, Johnson J said the allegation was simply that the words used by Mr Ali were offensive and antisemitic. In order to find whether the allegation was established it was necessary for the committee to consider the meaning of the words used so as to determine whether they were offensive, and whether they were antisemitic. In Loveless v. Earl [1999] EMLR 530 CA, Hirst LJ said at 538 (in the context of defamation) that meaning is an objective test, entirely independent of the defendant’s state of mind or intention. The committee in seeking to apply an objective test erred by taking account of what it considered to be Mr Ali’s intention. The allegation was that the comments were antisemitic. The allegation required a focus on the comments themselves, not Mr Ali’s intent. If the words used are antisemitic then there is nothing objectionable in them being labelled antisemitic. If the person had not intended that meaning then that might be relevant to other issues, including any required remediation or sanction. For similar reasons, the committee erred in taking account of Mr Ali’s good character. The fact that Mr Ali had no previous convictions or misconduct findings recorded against him was not relevant to an assessment of the objective meaning of the words he used. The committee also erred in not taking account of the cumulative impact of the language used by Mr Ali, and the meaning of his comments when considered as a whole. This required consideration of how one or more of the individual comments might inform the meaning to be attached to the others.   
65.
Ahmedsowida v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 3466 (Admin)

Cumulating distinct findings of misconduct – application of principles in Schodlok – impermissible to culminate non-serious findings with serious findings 
The tribunal found two finding of fact were serious and amounted to misconduct and that in one instance of a similar type the finding was that there was misconduct but it was not serious. The three instances each concerned the appellant’s failure to follow instructions of supervising colleagues. The tribunal considered that as the GMC had presented its case in this way, it was fair to culminate the non-serious finding with the serious findings to amount to serious misconduct. Kerr J disagreed. The judge, at [95] – [113], considered the extent to which findings of non-serious misconduct could be “culminated” to create a finding of misconduct. Allowing this ground of appeal, the judge said that the tribunal cited extracts from Schodlok v. General Medical Council [2015] EWCA Civ 769, in the judgment of Vos LJ at [63], of Beatson LJ at [72] and of Moore-Bick LJ at [73], agreeing with Vos LJ’s judgment. Kerr J noted that Vos LJ’s decision, with which Moore-Bick LJ agreed, was that whether a series of non-serious misconduct findings could, taken together, be regarded as serious misconduct in a very unusual case on very unusual facts should not be ruled out, but that in the normal case, a few allegations of misconduct that are held individuality not to be serious should not be regarded collectively as serious misconduct. Beatson LJ at [70] said he was ‘less sceptical’ about whether a series of non-serious misconduct findings could, when taken together, be regarded as serious misconduct which impairs a doctor’s fitness. Kerr J said that the situation in the present case was different to Oyesanya v. GMC [2017] EWHC 2825 (Admin) because the concerns here were not generalised but specified. The tribunal elevated to serious misconduct was one in a series of only three in a series of three, and the other two were findings of serious misconduct. The culmination exercise, if permissible at all, is supposed to involve the culmination of non-serious with other non-serious misconduct findings; not of non-serious findings with findings of misconduct that are serious. Wherever the boundary lies between permissible and impermissible culmination, the tribunal ought not to have elevated a charge of non-serious misconduct to the level of serious misconduct.
Oral Hearing

66.
R (Stubbs) v. The Parole Board [2021] EWHC 605 (Admin)
R (Osborn) v. Parole Board principles applied

Applying the principles in R (Osborn) v. Parole Board [2014] AC 1115, the court said that was unfair to refuse an oral hearing of the claimant’s parole review. The claimant was a prisoner serving an indeterminate sentence for public protection (IPP sentence), with a minimum term that expired in December 2015 and he became eligible for release. On 20 July 2020, the Board refused the claimant’s request for an oral hearing. Quashing the decision and directing an oral hearing, the court said the Board failed to apply a number of fundamental principles established in Osborn and so was in error of law. An oral hearing is of itself an important right, even if it could not change the outcome (see the discussion at paragraphs 68 to 70 of Osborn). The court could not say that it was ‘highly likely’ that the ultimate outcome of the parole review would have been the same. Given the disputed facts in the case, the range and complexity of the issues to be decided and the assessment to be made, it was impossible to predict.
67.
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants v. Awodola [2021] EWCA Civ 1635
Application for permission to appeal  – application refused on the papers – new rule abolishing right to renewed oral hearing – whether application for permission governed by rules in force at time of substantive decision or at time of rule change – whether change of rules unfair to would-be appellant   
The claimant was a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (the Association). On 19 October 2018, the Disciplinary Committee of the Association issued a decision, finding a number of allegations against the claimant made out, and excluded him from membership of the Association. On 9 November 2018, the claimant filed an application for permission to appeal which was refused on paper by the chairman of the Appeal Committee on 30 November 2018. Under the Appeal Regulations then in force the claimant was entitled to request that his application notice be reconsidered by the Appeal Committee at an oral hearing. By letter dated 30 November 2018, the Association informed the claimant that any request for an oral hearing must be submitted within 28 days of the chairman’s decision, by 2 January 2019. The claimant duly lodged a request for reconsideration on 2 January 2019. Unbeknown to the claimant, and with no mention, or even hint in the letter of 30 November 2018 that a change in the relevant Appeal Regulations was afoot, on 1 January 2019, the day before he submitted his request that his application be reconsidered by the Appeal Committee, the Association published on its website a new version of the Appeal Regulations. The Appeal Regulations 2019 (amongst other things) removed the right to an oral hearing before the Appeal Committee against the refusal on paper of an application for permission to appeal. Her Honour Judge Karen Walden-Smith (sitting as a deputy judge of the High Court) quashed the decision of the Association not to allow the Appeal Committee to hear the renewed application for permission to appeal: see [2020] EWHC 3059 (Admin).  

The Court of Appeal (Asplin, Carr and Snowden LJJ) dismissed an appeal by the Association. Snowden LJ, giving the main judgment, said that the focus on the judgment below was on the wording of the Association’s bye-laws. The real question was whether the new rules of the Appeal Regulations 2019 applied to the claimant’s case. A possible approach is to apply, by analogy, principles derived from cases involving the interpretation of statues, and what is often called the question of retrospectivity; see R v. Secretary of State for the Home Department, ex parte Chowdry [1998] INLR 338, L’Office Cherifien des Phosphates v. Yamashita-Shinnihon Steamship Co Ltd [1994] 1 AC 486, and that the principles have been applied to disciplinary procedures of professional regulatory bodies, albeit in the context of the interpretation of statutory provisions: see R v. The Prosthetists and Orthotists Board ex parte Lewis [2001] ACD 57, affirmed [2001] EWCA Civ 837; and R (P) v. General Dental Council [2016] EWHC 3181 (Admin), [2017] 4 WLR 14. In the same way as Parliament can be assumed (unless the contrary intention appears) not to intend to produce results which are unfair when it passes legislation, the very nature and role of the Association as a professional regulatory body is such that the objective observer, tasked with ascertaining the meaning of its bye-laws and disciplinary regulations, would at least start with the assumption that the Association would not intend to promulgate changes to those bye-laws and regulations which would produce results that were unfair to its members. The bye-laws and regulations should therefore not be interpreted in a way that produced such unfairness unless very clear words were used by the Association to show that this was precisely what it intended. Given the status of the Association, the operation of, and sanctions which can be imposed under, the Association’s disciplinary regime are capable of having the most profound impact upon the professional reputation and livelihood of its members. It was self-evident that the right to file an application for permission to appeal against a disciplinary order was an important right of significant value to a member of the Association. As such, once the underlying disciplinary order had been made, or at very least once an application notice seeking permission to appeal had been filed in accordance with the Appeal Regulations 2018, it would be manifestly unfair to an appellant to remove those rights and to apply the amended Appeal Regulations 2019 to the determination of that application instead. Accordingly, absent very clear words to the contrary, the bye-laws and regulations of the Association should not be interpreted so that the provisions of the Appeal Regulations 2019 applied to the determination of an application for permission to appeal that had been filed prior to the date upon which those provisions came into effect. There were, however, no such clear words.    

68.
R (Ogunmuyiwa) v. The Army Board of the Defence Council and Secretary of State for Defence [2022] EWHC 717 (Admin)

Service complaint - decision of Army Board not to hold oral hearing – whether oral evidence required to achieve fairness appropriate to Appeal Body’s task
The claimant, a private soldier and member of the Royal Logistics Corp, challenged a decision of the Army Board of the Defence Council, sitting as an appeal body, in rejecting a service complaint submitted by the claimant to his commanding officer. By his service complaint, the claimant made allegations of mistreatment, bullying and harassment by another officer, said to have occurred whilst the claimant had been serving as a driver at a British Army training unit in Canada between April and May 2015. The Armed Forces Act 2006 affords those who are subject to service law and who consider themselves to have been wronged in any manner relating to their service a statutory right to make a service complaint. Regulations make provision for the processing of service complaints. The Appeal Body did not consider it necessary to hear oral evidence, on the basis that the written evidence which it had seen (including at its own request) had been sufficient. In quashing the determination of the Appeal Body and remitting the matter for fresh consideration by a differently constituted appeal body, Ellenbogen J, at [88]-[89], said that as Clayton v. The Army Board of the Defence Council and  Secretary of State for Defence [2014] EWHC 1651 (Admin) makes clear at para 20, citing R v. Army Board ex parte Anderson [1992] QB 169, whether an oral hearing is necessary will depend upon the subject matter and circumstances of the particular case and upon the nature of the decision to be made. In R (Smith) v. Parole Board (No 2) [2004] 1 WLR 421, Kennedy LJ stated that an oral hearing should be ordered where there is a disputed issue of fact which is central to the board’s assessment and which cannot fairly be resolved without hearing oral evidence. Ellenbogen J said that ultimately, the question is whether the hearing of oral evidence was required in order to achieve the degree of fairness appropriate to the Appeal Body’s task and irrespective of whether such a hearing had been requested. In this case, in which the Appeal Body did not conclude that the claimant’s account of events was inherently unlikely; some of the allegations were upheld; the claimant’s credibility assumed a central consideration where his factual allegations were disputed; and the claimant and other personal were able to give relevant evidence, fairness required that the Appeal Body be willing to receive oral evidence from (at least) the claimant and others to the extent available.         
Proportionality

69.
Kearney v. Law Society of Northern Ireland [2021] NIQB 29

Solicitor – investigation of allegations – breaches of solicitors accounts rules – referral to disciplinary tribunal – whether referral proportionate or Wednesbury unreasonable

The applicant solicitor sought leave to seek judicial review to quash the decision of the Professional Conduct Committee of the Law Society of Northern Ireland to recommend to the Council to refer the applicant to the Independent Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal in the light of evidence of breaches of accounts regulations. The applicant was the principal of a solicitors practice where an inspection had identified numerous breaches of the Solicitors Accounts Regulations 2014. The essence of the applicant’s challenge was that the decision of the Profession Conduct Committee had been made irrationally in the Wednesbury sense and/or that the decision was disproportionate. The applicant argued that the court should assess the matter through the prism of proportionality. Refusing leave, Colton J said it is correct to say that there is increasing judicial support for the development of a proportionality test as a separate ground of review and debate as to whether it should supplant unreasonableness as a ground of review; see British Civilian Internees v. Secretary of State for Defence [2003] EWCA Civ 473 per Dyson LJ, and Kennedy v. Charity Commission (Secretary of State for Justice intervening) [2014] UKSC 20 per Mance JSC. See further, De Smith’s Principles of Judicial Review, 2nd edition, paragraph 11-076. In the instant case, the Law Society was lawfully entitled to conclude that the seriousness of the conduct complained of and the need to uphold proper professional standards and public confidence in the individual and the profession were such that it was justified in exercising its discretion to refer the matter to the Disciplinary Tribunal. Whether one applies a Wednesbury or a proportionality test the court would come to the same conclusion in this case. The decision could not be considered either irrational, unreasonable or disproportionate.   
70.
Mack v. Standards Commission for Scotland [2022] CSIH 15
Councillor – disqualification period – effect on ability to contest next election

The appellant was re-elected as a councillor on Renfrewshire Council at the election in May 2017 for a period of 5 years. On 10 May 2021, a hearing panel of the respondent held under the Ethical Standards in Public Life (Scotland) Act 2000 found that he had breached several paragraphs of the Councillors Code of Conduct, and disqualified the appellant from being, or being nominated for election as, or from being elected a councillor, for a period of 16 months (reduced from 20 months due to four months having already been served following an earlier hearing). The breaches included failure to respect, and treat with courtesy, colleagues and council employees; failure to follow the Protocol for Relations between councillor and employees; bullying or harassment; and raising matters relating to the conduct or capability of employees in public. The effect of the panel’s sanction of disqualification for 16 months would be that the appellant would be unable to contest the May 2022 elections; and indeed, unless there was a by-election, he would not be able to contest any local government election until 2027. The appellant’s appeal to the sheriff principal against the period of disqualification was refused and he appealed to the Inner House, Court of Session. In an opinion delivered on 11 March 2022, the court (Lady Dorrian, Lord Justice Clerk, Lord Doherty and Lord Matthews) quashed the disqualification of 16 months, and substituted a disqualification of 10 months running from 10 May 2021. In giving its opinion, the court said:

11. The only issue therefore is whether the length of the disqualification is excessive, having regard to the effect on the appellant’s ability to contest the 2022 election. It poses the question whether the sanction was ‘appropriate and necessary in the public interest or was excessive and disproportionate’ (Sastry v. General Medical Council [2021] EWCA Civ 623). This is a much more difficult and more nuanced issue. The disqualification interferes with the appellant’s Art 10 rights to freedom of expression. It is a requirement of Art 10(2) that the sanction imposed should be the minimum which is required to achieve the aims of maintaining standards in public life (Heesom v. Public Services Ombudsman [2015] PTSR 222, Hickinbottom J at paras 221(3), 224).
12. The panel required, and this court requires, to look at the practical implications of the sanction imposed (Heesom, para 221(4)). If not disqualified from doing so, the last date on which the appellant could be nominated to stand in the 2022 election is 30 March 2022. The period between 10 May 2021 and 29 March 2022 is 10 months and 19 days. A disqualification in excess of that period will prevent the appellant’s nomination. The next local government elections after those in 2022 will be May 2027.

13. The weight to be given to the fact that a disqualification period extends past the date for nomination for the next election will vary from case to case. Plainly, since the maximum available disqualification is 5 years, the 2000 Act envisages that in some cases an appropriate sanction may, because of the normal cycle of elections, prevent someone from contesting the next election. Depending on the circumstances, a disqualification period which has that effect may be proportionate and appropriate. However, in other cases it may be a very material factor pointing to the need to select a period which does not have that effect, in order to avoid a sanction which is disproportionate. If the shorter period imposed remains sufficient to serve the sanction’s aims, it will be both appropriate and proportionate.

In the instant case, the panel’s decision ‘noted’ that a disqualification of 16 months would preclude the appellant from standing at the 2022 election, but it did not appear to have attached any significant weight to that consideration. Rather, it reasoned that any effect arising from the timing of the election ‘should not obstruct what the panel considered to be the fair, just and reasonable period of disqualification’ and did not ‘outweigh an overriding public interest’  in the sanction it imposed. The court considered that in the particular circumstances of this case the proximity of the 2022 election was a very material factor, and that the panel erred in not giving it significant weight. Further, the panel did not properly address the need to select a period of disqualification which involved the minimum interference necessary with the appellant’s Art 10 right to freedom of expression while achieving the aims of maintaining standards in public life.     
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Dr MXM v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 817 (Admin)

Interim order – conditions rather than  suspension – proportionality and length of order
Under the heading The principle of proportionality, Steyn J said:

24. The principle of proportionality is applicable at two stages: first, when the IOT determines whether an interim order should be imposed, and if so whether it should be conditions or a suspension order; and secondly, when determining the length of any interim order.

25. In Houshian v. GMC [2012] EWHC 3458 (QB) King J addressed the application of the principle of proportionality at [13]: 

‘The importance of the principle of proportionality in determining whether an interim order should be made pending the resolution of as yet unproven allegations faced by the practitioner, cannot be overstated. A suspension has potentially there very important consequences for a practitioner, First there is the impact upon the person’s right to earn a living: in this case the Applicant’s pre-suspension salary was in the region of £150,000. Secondly, there is the obvious detriment to him in terms of his reputation. Thirdly it deprives the practitioner of showing that during the relevant period he has conducted himself well and competently and ‘so as it were enhanced his prospects in front of the panel undertaking a final hearing’ (per Davis J, in Sheikh at paragraph 18). I note that in Sandler Nicol J agreed that ‘the Panel must consider very carefully the proportionality of their measure (weighing the significance of any harm to the public interest in not suspending the doctor against the damage to him by preventing him from practising’).’   

26. Davis J observed in Sheikh at [18] that in the context of imposing an interim suspension order on the basis that it is in the public interest: ‘the bar is set high; and I think that, in the ordinary case at least, necessity is an appropriate yardstick. That is so because of the reasons of proportionality …’  
Publication and Anonymity
72.
Frensham v. Financial Conduct Authority [2021] UKUT 0083 (TCC)

Decision notice – publication – privacy applications – principles to be applied whether to prohibit publication – contents of press release
The applicant, a financial adviser and sole director of a small authorised financial advice firm, made privacy applications to the Upper Tribunal. The applicant sought for a direction pursuant to paragraph 3(3) of Schedule 3 to the Tribunal Procedure (Upper Tribunal) Rules 2008 that the register of references maintained by the Upper Tribunal contain no particulars of his reference of a Decision Notice issued by the Authority on 1 October 2020, and pursuant to rule 14(1) of the rules to prohibit publication of information by the Authority of the Decision Notice pending the outcome of the substantive hearing of his reference. On 10 March 2017, the applicant was convicted by a jury under section 1(1) of the Criminal Attempts Act 1981 of attempting to meet a child under the age of 16, following acts of sexual grooming contrary to section 15 of the Sexual Offences Act 2003. He was sentenced to 22 months’ imprisonment, suspended for 18 months, and added to the Sex Offenders Register for 10 years. Dismissing the application, Judge Timothy Herrington said that the relevant principles to be applied whether to grant privacy in response to applications of this kind were most recently summarised in Prodhan v. FCA [2018] UKUT 0414 (TCC) at [20]-[26] and approved in Foley v. FCA [2020] UKUT 0169 (TCC). In Prodhan, the Upper Tribunal said the effect of the section 391 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and the 2008 Rules can be summarised as follows:

(1) Section 391 gives rise to a presumption that publicity will be the norm and this is equally the case with decision notices as it is with final notices although regard has to be paid to the fact that a decision notice that is being challenged in the Upper Tribunal is necessarily provisional: see paragraph 45 of Arch Financial Products LLP and others v. FCA [201] FS/2012/20;
(2) The exercise of the power to prohibit publication under Rule 14(1), and by analogy the exerciser of the power under paragraph 3(3) of Schedule 3 to the Rules is a matter of judicial discretion to be considered against the context of this presumption; and 
(3) The discretion should be exercised taking into account all relevant factors ignoring irrelevant factors and giving effect to the overriding objective in Rule 2 of the Rules that requires the Tribunal to deal with cases fairly and justly. This involves carrying out a balancing exercise between those factors that tend towards publication and those that would tend against.
In PDHL Limited v. FCA [2016] UKUT 0129 (TCC) at [36]-[37] it was common ground that the principles established in Arch v. FCA and Angela Burns v. FCA [2015] UKUT 0601 were applicable to privacy applications. In order to tip the scales heavily weighted in favour of publication the applicant must produce cogent evidence of how unfairness may arise and how it could suffer a disproportionate level of damage if publication were not prohibited. A ritualistic assertion of unfairness is unlikely to be sufficient. It is clear that if publication would result in the destruction of a firm’s business, then it would be unfair to publish a decision notice; see Angela Burns v. FCA at [89]-[90] where the Upper Tribunal said that the possibility of severe damage or destruction of livelihood is insufficient; the evidence should establish that there is a significant likelihood of such damage or destruction occurring. It would be too high a hurdle to surmount which would make the jurisdiction illusory if the requirement were to show that severe damage or destruction was an inevitable consequence of publication. The risk of damage to reputation is unlikely to be sufficient to justify a prohibition on publication. In the instant case, the Upper Tribunal concluded that the privacy applications must be dismissed. The Authority had indicated that it would ensure that any publicity given to the Decision Notice would make clear that the decision was provisional. The Upper Tribunal would direct that any press release issued by the Authority must state prominently at its beginning that the applicant has referred the matter to the Upper Tribunal where each party will present their respective cases and the Tribunal will then determine what (if any) is the appropriate action for the Authority to take. In referring to the findings made in the Decision Notice, rather than give any suggestion of finality, those findings must be prefaced with a statement to the effect that they reflect the Authority’s belief as to what occurred and how the behaviour in question is to be characterised. The Tribunal further directed that there should be a period of 21 days from the date of release of the Upper Tribunal’s decision before publication of the Decision Notice to enable the applicant to discuss the situation with his clients.  
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Lu v. Solicitors Regulation Authority [2022] EWHC 1729 (Admin)

Open justice – anonymity of persons mentioned in tribunal decision – jurisdiction – principles on publication

This appeal by the appellant, Ms Lu, was from the decision of the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal published on 26 February 2021, in disciplinary proceedings brought by the SRA against the appellant. The appellant was acquitted of any misconduct. She appealed pursuant to section 49 of the Solicitors Act 1974 against the publishing of her name and information personal to her and the tribunal’s anonymity orders in relation to the identity of the complainants, witnesses and other persons anonymised in the tribunal’s decision. While employed in the London office of a US law firm, on 15 June 2018 the appellant posted on her Instagram account an offensive post for which she was subsequently charged with misconduct by the SRA. She was also charged with two posts allegedly appearing on her Instagram account on 29 August and 23 September 2018 containing abusive and threatening allegations. The tribunal dismissed the first charge and ultimately found that the SRA could not prove the appellant was the author of the later posts. On a preliminary issue, Kerr J held that the court had jurisdiction to entertain the appeal. The SRA had itself appealed against an anonymity decision in SRA v. Spector [2016] 4 WLR 16. The SRA’s objection to jurisdiction based on Re a Solicitor (No 6119/92), The Times, 4 May 1994; Obi v. SRA [2017] EWHC 3928 (Admin); Maitland Hudson v. SRA [2017] EWHC 3478 (Admin); and Ali v. SRA [2021] EWHC 2709 (Admin) was not well founded. Obi was not an appeal under section 49 at all, but under section 41. Re a Solicitor and Maitland Hudson both concerned appeals against decisions that the case should proceed and not be stopped. They were not about anonymity and redaction. In Ali, the issue was severance. The SDT’s decision of 26 February 2021, confirming that its earlier decisions of anonymity and redaction continue to stand was an order of the tribunal within section 48(1) of the Solicitors Act 1974. The decision does not have to be an order making provision for any of the matters set out in section 47(2)(a)-(i) (striking off the roll, suspension, restoration to the roll, etc or costs). The list at (a)-(i) in section 47(2) is not exhaustive. An order under section 48 includes (judge’s italics) provision for any of the matters in paragraphs (a) – (i).The order may therefore deal with matters outside the scope of (a)-(i) in section 47(2).

On the substance of the appeal, Kerr J said the hearing should have been held mainly, if not wholly, in public. The appellant could not herself reach the threshold of ‘exceptional hardship’ or ‘exceptional prejudice’ to sit in private under rule 35 of the Solicitors (Disciplinary proceedings) Rules 2019. The tribunal’s refusal to anonymise the appellant’s identity was correct. The reasoning of the Divisional Court in Spector weighed heavily against protecting the appellant’s identity. While Mr Spector was found to have committed one minor act of misconduct of a venial or technical kind, he was in substance acquitted; and that was not enough to defeat the claims of open justice. The same reasoning applied here. The tribunal was right not to accept the proposition that the Spector reasoning should be ignored because of the likely impact of publicity on the appellant’s future career, or because she was a female relatively junior lawyer who had made allegations including some of sexual harassment. Similarly, the tribunal’s decisions not to anonymise the appellant’s social media account or redact the contents of the posts or her employment history were correct. Evidence of her account details was admissible and there was no good reason to supress them. However, the tribunal’s decision to anonymise the two complainant firms where the appellant worked and certain individuals was not justified. The chairman did not make any clear findings that they would suffer exceptional hardship or prejudice if identified. The court would not shrink from naming the two complainant firms. There was no good reason to anonymise individuals properly doing their jobs. Their role was not remarkable or particularly controversial. There was no good reason not to apply the default position of open justice. They had no particular private or family matters to protect. The court would continue, not without hesitation, the anonymity of three other individuals within the two complainant firms. This was because they were likely, as against their employer, to have a contractual right to anonymity in respect of allegations made by or against them internally within the context of their employment; albeit that contractual right is far from conclusive, does not bind the court and might well have to yield to open justice. At paragraph 138, Kerr J said:
In my judgment, the sweeping anonymity orders in respect of the third parties ought not to have been made. Courts and tribunals should not be squeamish about naming innocent people caught up in alleged wrongdoing of others. It is part of the price of open justice and there is no presumption that their privacy is more important than open justice.    

Kerr J also pointed out how difficult it is to make sense of decisions where everyone is anonymised. 
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Dixon v. North Bristol NHS Trust [2022] EWHC 1871 (QB)

Principles for anonymisation of parties – maintenance of the administration of justice or harm to other legitimate interests – anonymisation application refused

The claimant was employed by the defendant NHS Trust as a consultant colorectal surgeon from 1 October 1996 until the termination of his employment with effect from 24 June 2019. Concerns were expressed as to surgical procedures carried out by the claimant called laparoscopic ventral mesh rectopexy on a large number of patients. The defendant launched an investigation of the claimant’s performance. The defendant had sent several letters to former patients of the claimant to give them information about the investigation. In the context of actual and threatened litigation by patients against the Trust the defendant proposed to make disclosure in full of a document considered central to the litigation and relevant aspects of the MHPS [Maintaining High Professional Standards] process, including the MHPS outcome letter. Prior to issue of a claim form to prevent the proposed disclosure, the claimant issued an application notice seeking orders anonymising the parties and for reporting restrictions to enforce the anonymity (the anonymity application). The hearing was held in private as a public hearing would have defeated the anonymity application. The anonymity application was refused by Nicklin J in a judgment handed down anonymising the parties pending appeal: [2022] EWHC 1908 (QB). Judgment without anonymity was handed down in public following confirmation that the claimant did not intend to appeal. In this judgment, the judge identified, at [44]–[62], the legal principles relevant to an anonymity application. Hearings in private and anonymisation are governed by CPR 39.2, and reporting restrictions are provided for by section 11 of the Contempt of Court Act 1981. CPR 5.4C(4) enables the court to impose restrictions on non-party access to documents on the court file, and the principles that apply when seeking any derogation from open justice are summarised conveniently in Practice Guidance (Interim Non-Disclosure Orders) [2012] 1 WLR 1003 under the heading ‘Open Justice’. CPR 39.2 reflects the fundamental rule of common law that proceedings must be heard in public, subject to certain specified classes of exceptions. Derogation from open justice can be justified as necessary on two principal grounds: maintenance of the administration of justice (for example, claims for breach of confidence under CPR 39.2(3)(a)) and harm to other legitimate interests (such as where identification of a party or witnesses would interfere with their Convention rights, in which case the court must assess the engaged rights and, if appropriate, perform a balancing exercise). In the instant case, the judge said, at [70]–[95], that the claimant had failed to establish that an anonymity order was necessary to preserve that which he was seeking to protect in the proceedings. Information about the claimant had already been published in media reports. An anonymity order (coupled with a reporting restriction order) would end up effectively prohibiting any media reporting of the case at all. In contrast with the ‘compelling and overwhelming’ evidence in GMC v. X [2019] EWHC 493 (Admin), here the evidence did not demonstrate that the claimant was at any real and immediate risk of suicide and that, overall, the evidence was unconvincing and, in places, unclear and contradictory. The claims based on articles 2 and 8 of ECHR must be rejected. As was the case in Various Claimants v. Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority [2021] EWHC 2020 (QB), [2022] EMLR 4, there was justification for a limited order under CPR 5.4C preventing third party access to any confidential schedule to a statement of case or witness statement.         
Reasons

75.
R (Chief Constable of Northumbria Police) v. Police Misconduct Panel and Officer M [2022] EWHC 1217 (Admin)

Judicial review of panel’s decision – adequacy of reasons 

Officer M joined the Northumbria Police Force as a student officer in September 2019 at the age of 20. The misconduct proceedings against Officer M involved conduct which fell into three areas. First, on four occasions between 18 March 2020 and 22 June 2020, she accessed the police computer system when she was not entitled to do so in relation to information about herself or her family. The second area concerned her denial of having accessed the computer system. When asked by her inspector whether she had accessed the police computer system in relation to family members, she denied having done so. Having made adverse findings against Officer M in relation to these two matters, the misconduct panel found that Officer M’s breaches of the Standards of Professional Behaviour constituted gross misconduct and that the appropriate outcome was a final written warning for two years. The third area concerned Officer M’s interaction with safeguarding professionals following an incident at her family home in the afternoon on 8 June 2020, when the police were called. Officer M was at home at the time of the incident and had worked a night shift the previous night. The mother was arrested and the father had a torn shirt and a bite mark. A knife was removed from the scene by the police. Children were in the house at the time and the allegation was that Officer M deliberately sought to downplay and/or presented the incident as one not giving rise to a legitimate welfare concern to professionals tasked with conducting safeguarding and risk-assessment relating to the children of the family, in a manner likely to bring discredit on the force. The misconduct panel found that Officer M’s behaviour towards the safeguarding professionals was not such as to breach the Standards. Permission for judicial review was granted to the Chief Constable relating to the panel’s approach and reasons relating to this charge. 

Fordham J said, at [11], on the public law duty of a panel to give legally adequate reasons, the following part of paragraph 77 from the judgment of Stanley Burnton J in R (Ashworth Hospital Authority) v. Mental Health Review Tribunal for West Midlands [2001] 1 All ER (D) 135 were helpful in the present context and the present case:

(a) Proper adequate reasons must be given that deal with the substantial points that have been raised …

(b) Reasons must be sufficient for the parties to know whether the tribunal made any error of law.

(e) It is unnecessary for a tribunal to set out the evidence and arguments before it or the facts found by it in detail …

(f) It is often difficult to explain why one witness is preferred to another. Generally speaking, a tribunal’s decision will not be inadequately reasoned if it does not give such an explanation.

(g) In assessing the adequacy of reasons, one must bear in mind that the decision will be considered by parties who know what the issues were …

(h) However, the reasons must sufficiently inform both [parties] as to the findings of the tribunal … A tribunal must also bear in mind that its decision may have to be considered by those who were not present at or parties to the hearing …

(i) In considering the adequacy of reasons the Court is entitled to take into account the fact that the tribunal has a legally-qualified chairman …  

At [26], Fordham J said that the starting point is that judicial review of the panel does not stand as an appeal on the merits in which the judicial review court substitutes its own judgment on questions of fact and judgment for those arrived at by the specialist panel. What is needed for judicial review to succeed is a material error of approach constituting a public law error. It includes reasoning which breaches public law standards of legal adequacy, including by reference to the points in the Ashworth case. In the instant case, the panel heard the recording of the 999 call and saw the body worn video footage. The panel had oral evidence from live witnesses, with cross-examination, and questions from the panel members, including the senior and junior social workers, from the health visitor and from Officer M. The transcripts and materials which the court had been given equip it for the secondary and supervisory function which the court has. Ultimately, no matter how well the court would be able to swoop in and substitute its findings and reasons, that is not the court’s function. The question on matters of fact and substance is ultimately whether the panel reached conclusions which were within the bounds of reasonableness. The question as to the nature of the reasons is whether they were adequate, intelligible and sufficient, in the context and circumstances. The judge is not the primary decision-maker and must retain a principled respect for the panel members who were. Dismissing the claim, Fordham J said, at [40]-[42], that this was a multi-faceted case. It called for the careful attention, consideration and evaluation by a specialist panel, who brought their skill, experience and insight to the function of determining the case. They were a balanced team: a legally qualified chair; a senior police member and an independent panel member. They considered the issues carefully and methodically. They had read and heard the evidence. They were assisted by skilled Counsel for both parties who had probed the evidence of the witnesses. They evaluated the case while it was all fresh in their minds. They arrived at clear findings. They explained why they had concluded that there had not been a breach of the Standards, in relation to the interaction with safeguarding professionals. The panel’s reasons were legally adequate in a public law sense and involved no public law error of approach. The points identified from the Ashworth judgment did not require more of the panel, as a matter of public law duty.     

Recklessness

76.
Ahmedsowida v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 3466 (Admin)

Dishonesty not to be diluted to recklessness – finding of dishonesty set aside

In finding dishonesty proved, although falling short of misconduct, the tribunal said that the appellant was ‘reckless in the way he completed the First CV not caring  sufficiently as to the accuracy of the contents, and, therefore, dishonest’. Counsel for the appellant submitted that the Tribunal’s finding of the appellant being ‘reckless …and therefore dishonest’ was a dilution of the standard of dishonesty and not the law, and that recklessness was not pleaded. Setting aside the finding of dishonesty, Kerr J, at [114 – 125], said that he was left with the possibility that the true reasoning in the determination of the facts may be that the appellant was dishonest because, as stated at the impairment stage, he was not careful enough about ensuring the accuracy of the contents of his CV and the form for the application to the Trust.     
Registration

77.
S v. General Teaching Council of Scotland [2021] CSIH 17

Teacher – teacher suffering Asperger’s syndrome – lack of professional competence – removal from teaching register – failure by panel to take sufficient account of appellant’s evidence
In April 2020, a panel of the General Teaching Council for Scotland’s Fitness to Teach Panel was convened following a recommendation from the local authority employing the appellant teacher, that his provisional registration should be cancelled because his fitness to practise was impaired by lack of professional competence. A case review report alleged that the appellant had failed to meet expected standards. The appellant accepted that he had not met the standards for full registration. He maintained that key factors in his failure were the effects of, and the failure of the schools where he worked to make sufficient reasonable adjustments to assist him with, his Asperger’s syndrome. He asked for a further probationary year to seek to meet the relevant standards. The panel removed his name from the register maintained by the General Teaching Council for Scotland, and prohibited him from applying for re-registration for a period of one year from the date of removal. Allowing the appellant’s appeal and directing the matter to be reconsidered by a fresh panel, the Lord Justice Clerk (Lady Dorrian) giving the judgment of the Inner House, said that the grounds of appeal reflected one underlying issue. The appellant challenged the panel’s determination on the basis that it failed to take account of the effect of his Asperger’s and the absence of reasonable adjustments by the schools to accommodate the same. By proceeding to determine his fitness to teach without having regard to that essential issue the panel’s decision was vitiated. The court agreed with senior counsel for the appellant that the effect of the panel’s decision was that it proceeded as if the issues relating to Asperger’s, reasonable adjustments, and their possible effect on his progress could be ignored. The panel had to engage with those aspects of the appellant’s evidence and it was not open to the panel to disregard that evidence without properly explaining the basis upon which it was taking that course. The panel fell into further error when it went on to consider the appellant’s fitness to teach. If the appellant’s evidence about his Asperger’s related difficulties and his failure to meet the standards being attributable to the insufficiency of reasonable adjustments was correct, it would be likely to have a very material bearing upon (i) whether he was unfit to teach; and (ii) whether an extension of his probationary period would be likely to be fruitful.    
78.
Vladimir Consulting Limited v. Financial Conduct Authority [2022] UKUT 168 (TCC)

Decision notice refusing registration – application to suspend decision notice pending determination of reference – principles 

On 23 September 2020, VCL applied to the Authority to be registered as a cryptoasset exchange provider pursuant to regulation 57 of the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 (the Regulations). A cryptoasset exchange provider is defined in the Regulations as a firm which by way of business exchanges money for cryptoassets, or vice versa, or makes arrangements with a view to such an exchange. Cryptocurrency is a type of cryptoasset, and operates as an alternative form of value to “fiat” currencies, such as sterling or dollars.  On 9 March 2022, the Authority gave a Decision Notice refusing the application. By a notice dated 6 April 2022, VCL made a reference to the Upper Tribunal by way of appeal against that decision, and applied for a direction that the effect of the Decision Notice be suspended pending the determination of the reference pursuant to rule 5(5) of the Tribunal Procedure (Upper Tribunal) Rule 2008 (the Rules). The Upper Tribunal (Judge Timothy Harrington and Deputy Judge Anne Redston) refused the suspension application. Giving judgment, the tribunal said that regulation 58A of the Regulations requires the Authority to refuse to register an applicant as a cryptoasset exchange provider if it is not a fit and proper person to carry on that business. In the instant case, the Authority considered that VCL had consistently failed to comply with the Regulations. Rule 5(5) of the Rules gives the Upper Tribunal the power to direct that the effect of a decision in respect of which a reference or appeal has been made is to be suspended if it is satisfied that to do so would not prejudice the interests of consumers, the integrity of the market or the stability of the financial system of the UK. The tribunal said that the conditions to be met before the tribunal can grant a suspension under rule 5(5) are set out in Sussex Independent Advisers Ltd v. FCA [2019] UKUT 228 (TCC) at [14] and [15]. The sole question is whether in all the circumstances the proposed suspension would not prejudice the interests of persons to be protected by the notice. The burden is on the applicant to satisfy the tribunal that the interests of consumers will not be prejudiced. In the instant case, on the evidence before it, the tribunal said there was significant concern that VCL had not complied with the Regulations, and this was a factor weighing in the balance against granting the suspension application. The tribunal was not satisfied that VCL would carry on its business in a broadly compliant manner with the Regulations were it to grant the suspension application. In consequence, the tribunal could not be satisfied that allowing VCL to continue to carry on its activities pending the determination of the reference would not prejudice those who are intended to be protected by the Authority decision to refuse registration.    
Re-opening and review of decisions

79.
AIC Ltd v. Federal Airports Authority of Nigeria [2022] UKSC 16

Court’s discretion to reconsider judgment and order – formal order not sealed by court – importance of finality

AIC Ltd were the successful claimant in a Nigeria-based arbitration with the Federal Airport Authority of Nigeria (FAAN). FAAN were ordered to pay US$48.13 million to AIC, plus interest. AIC were initially granted permission by the High Court to enforce the award in England and Wales. This was set aside pending FAAN’s challenge to the award in the Nigerian courts, on condition that FAAN provided security of US$24 million by way of a bank guarantee. The guarantee was not provided and at about 14:20 hours on 6 December 2019 the High Court judge gave an oral judgment and made an order permitting AIC to enforce the award (the enforcement order). The enforcement order was not sealed at this stage. FAAN obtained the guarantee later the same day and provided a copy of it to AIC at 17:17 hours, stating that it intended to apply to the judge to re-open her judgment and the enforcement order given earlier that afternoon. An application was made on 8 December, and the application was heard by the judge on 13 December, after she had ordered that the enforcement order should not be sealed in the meantime. At the hearing on 13 December, the judge set aside the enforcement order and retrospectively extended time for the provision of the guarantee. The Court of Appeal allowed AIC’s appeal against the judge’s revised judgment and reinstated the enforcement order. AIC called on the guarantee which was paid in full by FAAN’s bank. The Supreme Court unanimously allowed FAAN’s appeal to the extent of setting aside the enforcement order pending the outcome of the Nigerian proceedings, but, reflecting FAAN’s failure to comply with deadlines imposed by the court, confirmed the judge’s order for the provision of the guarantee which had already been called upon.

Lord Briggs and Lord Sales (with whom Lord Hodge, Lord Hamblen and Lord Leggatt agreed) said:
1. A judge delivers judgment in open court and makes an appropriate order. A few hours, or days, later, but before the formal written minute of the order has been sealed by the court, the judge receives a request from one of the parties to re-consider both the judgment and the order. What should the judge do? The problem may arise at all levels in civil litigation, from interim and case management hearings, to final orders made at the end of a trial and even to orders made, but not yet sealed, on appeal. There is no doubt that the judge has power to re-open the judgment and order at any time until the order has been sealed, but the question raised by this appeal is by what process, and in accordance with what principles, should the judge decide whether or not to exercise that power?

Lord Briggs went on to say that in In re L (Children) (Preliminary Finding: Power to Reverse) [2013] UKSC 8, [2013] 1 WLR 634, at para 27, Baroness Hale of Richmond said that the judge should seek to resolve the problem by doing justice in accordance with the overriding objective. Re L was a case which had come up from the Family Court, and the overriding objective gave emphasis to securing the welfare of children. The present case was governed by the Civil Procedure Rules. CPR Part 1.1.(1) states that the overriding objective is to deal with cases justly and at proportionate cost. These include “enforcing compliance with rules, practice directions and orders”: CPR Part 1.1(2)(f). Lord Briggs said he was in full agreement with Coulson LJ, who in the Court of Appeal at para 50, said: “The principle of finality is of fundamental importance”. This means that, on receipt of an application by a party to reconsider a final judgment and/or order before the order has been sealed, a judge should not start from anything like neutrality or evenly-balanced scales. There may be cases where the judge cannot reliably gauge the weight of the factors put forward for the exercise of the discretion to depart from adherence to the finality principle without hearing submissions from both sides. There may be cases where (since the order already made is already enforceable) urgency requires an immediate inter parties hearing with notice to both sides. More fundamentally it may be impossible to disentangle the factors for and against departing from finality from those for and against the re-making of the order on the merits. The judge will in the end be faced with a single decision: do I set aside the order which I have already made and replace it with a different order?  The finality principle is better reflected by recognition that it will always be a weighty matter in the balance against making a different order.   
35. [F]inality is likely to be at its highest importance in relation to orders made at the end of a full trial. But other kinds of final order, which end the proceedings at first instance, will attract the finality principle to almost as great a degree. Case management and interim orders lie towards the other end of the scale, and indeed many reserve liberty to the parties to apply to vary or discharge the order, even after it has been sealed. But the finality principle cuts in, as Coulson LJ said, when the order is made, not merely when it is sealed. After the order is sealed, the finality principle applies in a more absolute way, to put it beyond challenge which made it, subject to any liberty to apply in the order, the application of the power in CPR Part 3.1(7) to vary or revoke it and the slip rule.         
Sanction

80.
Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care v. General Medical Council and Hanson [2021] EWHC 588 (Admin)
Sexual misbehaviour towards nurse – erasure substituted for 10 months’ suspension

The tribunal found that the respondent doctor committed misconduct in the form of unwanted, non-consensual, sexually motivated behaviour towards a nurse. It imposed a 10-month suspension with a review. The doctor did not engage with the proceedings before the tribunal or before the court. Substituting erasure for the tribunal’s decision on sanction, Chamberlain J said that the tribunal fell into error in five respects. First, although the tribunal recognised that the misconduct was serious, it failed to recognise how serious. The doctor was in a position of authority vis-à-vis Ms A, a relatively newly qualified nurse. He approached her late at night, when he knew she would be alone. The experience caused her significant distress. Second, it was a calculated and deliberate abuse of power which foreseeably caused real harm to a fellow healthcare professional. Third, the tribunal placed reliance on two mitigating factors, but on analysis neither was properly to be regarded as such. The absence of evidence that the doctor had engaged in similar conduct in the past or since was neutral. The tribunal’s description of the event as a single isolated incident did not constitute genuine mitigation. Fourth, as the Sanctions Guidance makes clear, a key question is insight. The doctor’s complete lack of engagement with the tribunal meant that there was nothing to demonstrate any insight or contrition at all. Fifth, the tribunal should have concluded that the doctor’s conduct engaged the list of examples for erasure in the Sanctions Guidance and that his conduct was fundamentally incompatible with continued registration. Suspension might potentially have been appropriate if there had been strong mitigation providing a basis for concluding that repetition was unlikely.  
81.
Al Nageim v. General Medical Council [2021] EWHC 877 (Admin) 
Finding that doctor lied in evidence to tribunal – effect on sanction - insight

The appellant appealed against the sanction of erasure on the ground that the tribunal gave undue weight to the fact that his evidence was disbelieved at the fact-finding stage. The tribunal found that the appellant (a) dishonestly used on-call rooms and surgical day facilities at the Countess of Chester Hospital, which he knew he was not entitled to use as he was no longer employed at the hospital, and (b) dishonestly failed to notify the Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospital NHS Trust of salary payments made to him over 27 months totalling £41,266.16 following the conclusion of his employment at that hospital, and which he knew had been made in error. In its determination on sanction, the tribunal said that the appellant had not given a true account on five occasions in the course of his evidence, and that he had not developed any insight into his actions in not telling the truth, particularly to the tribunal. In dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Julian Knowles J, at paragraphs 103-125 of his judgment, under the heading ‘Untrue evidence given to the Tribunal’, said that the question of whether being found by a tribunal to have given untrue evidence at the fact-finding stage can properly be used at the impairment or sanction stages was considered by Mostyn J in Towuaghantse v. GMC [2021] EWHC 681 (Admin), [58]-[77], where earlier authorities were considered. In the instant case, although the tribunal did not use the phrase ‘blatantly dishonest’ to describe the appellant’s evidence before it, it could aptly be so described. The appellant knowingly advanced a false case before the tribunal both in respect of his use of the on-call rooms at Chester Hospital and his belief that he was entitled to the salary payments made in error after he left Royal Liverpool Hospital. At paragraph 123, Julian Knowles J said that he regarded the appellant’s case before the tribunal about the salary payments as having involved especially egregious untruthfulness and dishonesty. The judge continued:

124. It follows that I do not consider the Tribunal was at fault in having regard to this dishonesty when it came to assess the Appellant’s level of insight. Its approach was in line with what Mostyn J said in Towuaghantse, supra, [72], that dishonesty in knowingly advancing a case of false primary fact certainly ‘say[s] something about impairment and fitness to practise in the future’. And there is the point that in this case nine months passed between the facts/impairment stage and the sanctions stage, in which the Appellant had still not developed full insight into his dishonesty.

125. Taking a step back and looking at the Tribunal’s reasons as a whole, this was not a case where the Appellant was being punished for daring to contest the GMC’s case against him. The Tribunal found that in March 2020 he had advanced a case as to his states (sic) of mind at the time of the alleged misconduct which he knew to be untrue. By December 2020 the Tribunal was not satisfied that he had full insight into that dishonesty. This was a relevant factor for it to take into account in deciding whether his dishonest misconduct was fundamentally incompatible with his continued registration. 

82. 
Okpara v. General Medical Council [2021] EWCA Civ 623
Allegations of sexual misconduct towards staff nurse – allegations denied – erasure – appeal dismissed  
See Burden of Proof above: [2019] EWHC 2624 (Admin). In dismissing the doctor’s further appeal, [2021] EWCA Civ 623, the Court of Appeal at para [117] said that the proven allegations represented a consistent, predatory and escalating course of sexual misconduct by a doctor to a nurse. The appellant rightly accepted that the facts amounted to misconduct and impairment of his fitness to practise. The tribunal recorded that the behaviour had taken place in a ‘hierarchical institutional context’ where the appellant, a doctor of 22 years’ standing, was much more senior than Ms A, a nurse at the start of her career. The Court of Appeal agreed. One of the complained of incidents was rightly assessed by the tribunal as aggressive, threatening and a gross violation of Ms A. The tribunal was entitled to find that the appellant, in denying the allegations and making a series of counterclaims against Ms A, had demonstrated a complete lack of insight. This was a continuing course of predatory sexual misconduct which wholly warranted the sanction of erasure, and was fundamentally incompatible with continued registration.

83.
General Medical Council and Professional Standards Authority v. Bramhall [2021] EWHC 2109 (Admin)

Conviction for assault by battery – surgeon leaving his initials on transplanted livers of two patients – tribunal imposing suspension – departure from sanctions guidance – insufficiency of reasons – need for decision to consider appropriateness of erasure – attitudinal issues relevant to sanction 
84.  
Henning v. General Dental Council [2022] EWHC 175 (Admin)

Retirement of practitioner – effect on sanction

The appellant orthodontist retired in 2018 but continued to be registered with the GDC. The appellant provided treatment to Patient A between January 2015 and July 2017 to straighten her bottom teeth and for the widening and straightening of the definition on her top arch. The treatment that was provided included the placing of brackets on Patient A’s teeth using the ‘Damon’ technique. The appellant had been in practice as a dentist for over 30 years, and no allegations of poor performance had been made against him before the complaints concerning Patient A. The appellant admitted a number of heads of charge but denied that they reflected a poor standard of orthodontic treatment. Hill J dismissed the appellant’s appeal against the determination of facts and impairment made by the committee. Following the case of General Optical Council v. Clarke [2018] EWCA Civ 1463, the committee was required to assess the appellant’s current fitness to practise, irrespective of his retirement. The appellant remained on the Dentists’ Register and, as such, could return to practise. The committee decided that a six-month suspension, followed by a review, was the appropriate sanction. The judge dealt with sanction at paragraphs 121 – 130 of her judgment. As with the finding on impairment, the fact of the appellant’s retirement made the committee’s decision on sanction difficult: [121]. The committee correctly directed itself to the relevant guidance on sanctions, and properly considered them in increasing order of gravity: [122]. There was no argument that the committee was entitled to reject the sanction of a reprimand, given the gravity of its findings and the ongoing risk to members of the public: [123]. The committee was entitled to conclude, based on the lack of evidence of the appellant having the necessary structure and support network, that conditions were not practical and workable in this case: [124]-[125]. The judge said that the committee was therefore, entitled to consider that a suspension of six months with a review was the appropriate sanction. In her view, the sanction was appropriate and necessary in the public interest. Accordingly, the appeal on sanction would also be dismissed: [126]-[130].     
85.
Sawati v. General Medical Council [2022] EWHC 283 (Admin)

Distinction between primary allegation and secondary allegation of dishonesty – relevance to sanction

The tribunal rejected the appellant’s defence and found that she acted dishonestly in respect of three allegations, and ordered her erasure from the medical register. The allegations of dishonesty found proved concerned making an entry to a patient’s records without indicating that it was made retrospectively; arrangements with a colleague about swapping shifts; and the appellant’s responses in an interview for a training post. Collins Rice J allowed an appeal on sanction and ordered sanction to be redetermined by a differently constituted panel. After a review of authorities including Misra v. GMC [2003] UKPC 7, Towuaghanste v. GMC [2021] EWHC 681 (Admin), Al-Nageim v. GMC [2021] EWHC 877 (Admin), and Ahmedsowida v. GMC [2021] EWHC 3466 (Admin), the court said that a rejected defence of honesty may be more fairly relevant to an overall assessment of conduct and sanction where dishonesty is the primary allegation, such as deceit, fraud, forgery or similar, compared to where dishonesty is a secondary allegation, such as aggravating a primary allegation of misconduct which may or may not be done dishonestly. Before a tribunal can be sure of making fair use of a rejected defence to aggravate a sanction imposed on a doctor, it may find it helpful to consider four things: (i) how far the state of mind or dishonesty was a primary rather than a second-order allegation; (ii) what if anything the doctor was denying other than their own dishonesty or state of knowledge; (iii) how far lack of insight was evidenced by anything other than the rejected defence; and (iv) the nature and quality of the defence, identifying any respect in which it was itself a deception, a lie or a counter-allegation of others’ dishonesty. In the instant case, the allegations found proved of dishonesty looked like allegations of secondary rather than primary dishonesty, although the breaches were committed deliberately and for dishonest reasons rather than through inadvertence or mistake. The appellant admitted the addition to the record, admitted representing that she had swapped shift, and admitted saying in interview the words alleged. In each instance she offered an account and denied dishonesty. The tribunal aggravated the appellant’s sanction unfairly by reason of the undue weight it gave to her rejected defences of her honesty. The tribunal did not ask itself whether there was any possible issue of oppressive charging in the dishonesty allegations; it did not think about the balance between the primary misconduct alleged and the secondary dishonesty; and it did not acknowledge that the appellant was denying nothing other than dishonesty. The tribunal seemed to rely disproportionately on her rejected defences of dishonesty to infer both failure of insight and not telling the truth in the hearing without giving any explanation of why.

86.
General Medical Council v. Ahmed [2022] EWHC 403 (Admin)

Sexual misconduct – sanction of suspension – earlier interim order of sanction

The allegations against the appellant concerned two patients, Patient A and Patient B. The tribunal found proved that the appellant had accessed Patient B’s medical records to obtain her full name; had sent her a friend request on Facebook, and had contacted her using WhatsApp messages; and that his conduct was sexually motivated. In relation to Patient A, the tribunal found that the appellant had located her account on Facebook and had sent a friend request but his actions were not sexually motivated. The tribunal found that the appellant’s fitness to practise was impaired as a result of his misconduct in relation to each patient. It determined that the appropriate sanction in relation to the proved allegations was a suspension order for a period of two months. In reaching its decision on sanction, the tribunal took into account, amongst other things, that the appellant had been subject to an interim order of suspension for four months. It did not direct a review as it considered that a review would serve no useful purpose. Murray J dismissed the GMC’s appeal under section 40A of the Medical Act 1983 against the sanction of two months’ suspension imposed on the doctor. The judge said, at [81], that while the tribunal quite rightly found that the doctor had committed serious professional misconduct in relation to Patient B, which was sexually motivated, on the spectrum of sexual misconduct, it fell towards the less serious end. The judgment of Kerr J in Arunachalam v. GMC  [2018] EWHC 758 (Admin) underlines the importance of considering the scale of the offending behaviour, even in a case of sexual misconduct, and appropriately evaluating it by reference to the relevant aggravating and mitigating factors. Erasure is not an automatic consequence in a case involving sexual misconduct. It all depends on the relevant facts. 
In relation to the interim suspension order, the court considered Ujam v. GMC [2012] EWHC 683 at [5] (Eady J), Abdul-Razzak v. General Pharmaceutical Council [2016] EWHC 1204 (Admin) at [85] (Sir Stephen Silber), Akhtar v. General Dental Council [2017] EWHC 1986 at [18], and Kamberova v. NMC [2016] EWHC 2955 (Admin) at [4] and [40] (Dingemans J). After saying that it was unfortunate that, in the instant case, the tribunal referred to its imposition of a suspension of two months as the imposition of a “further” suspension, given, as the Sanctions Guidance makes clear, that an interim suspension order and suspension as a sanction have different purposes, Murray J said:

91. Nonetheless, it is clear that the fact that a doctor has been subject to an interim suspension order is a factor that the MPT is permitted to take into account when making its multi-factorial decision as to the appropriate sanction. It is also correct as a matter of language, albeit infelicitous in this context, that the imposition of the sanction of suspension would involve for Dr Ahmed a “further” period of suspension from his practice.

At [94], Murray J said that it was relevant, when considering Ujam v. GMC and Abdul-Razzak v. GPhC,    

to bear in mind that each was an appeal by a doctor on whom a sanction of suspension was imposed and who argued on appeal that the period he had spent subject to an interim suspension order should be deducted from the period of his suspension. Undue weight should not be given to the fact that a doctor has been subject to an interim suspension order when imposing suspension as a sanction, but Kamberova v. NMC makes clear that it is a factor that should, in fairness, nonetheless be taken into account, at least where the sanction is a short period of suspension. It is therefore a matter of judgment for the MPT as part of its multi-factorial decision on sanction. 
87.
General Medical Council v. Mok [2022] EWHC 1651 (Admin)

Sanction – sex without consent with male partner – whether suspension or erasure
The GMC appealed against the determination of the tribunal to suspend the respondent, Dr Mok, for 12 months with a review, following a determination that his fitness to practise was impaired by reason of misconduct, namely, sex without consent with his male partner. The respondent was aged 28 and qualified as a doctor in 2018. The allegation was that on 26 August 2019, whilst on holiday with Person A in France, he penetrated the anus of Person A with his penis, that Person A did not consent, that he did not reasonably believe that person A consented to the penetration, and that his actions were sexually motivated. The facts were in dispute and the allegation was found proved in its entirety. The respondent did not dispute misconduct and impairment. The GMC appealed the sanction of suspension on three grounds: (1) the tribunal had regard to irrelevant considerations in its determination on sanction; (2) the tribunal failed to apply the Sanctions Guidance and give adequate reasons for its determination on sanction; and (3) the sanction imposed fell outside the range of reasonable decisions open to the tribunal on the facts. As to ground 1, the GMC submitted that the tribunal had regard to the following irrelevant considerations in its determination on sanction: (i) absence of malicious intention, (ii) evidence of some sexual activity between the respondent and Person A while asleep, (iii) absence of a doctor-patient relationship, and (iv) isolated incident and the respondent acknowledged what he had done and apologised. 

Lang J dismissed each of the grounds of appeal. A decision on sanction is an evaluative judgment; per Lord Burnett CJ in Bawa-Garba [2018] EWCA Civ 1879 at [61]. As to ground 1, it would be an aggravating feature of any case before the tribunal that the registrant acted maliciously and intended to cause distress or harm. That is recognised in the sanctions guidance at paragraph 109(c) where cases of ‘doing serious harm to others …. deliberately’ are recognised as constituting one of the categories of cases where erasure may be the appropriate sanction. Therefore it was clearly relevant that the respondent did not act maliciously and did not intend to cause harm or distress. The history of previous sexual activity between the couple, including initiating sex when the other was asleep or half asleep, was a relevant part of the evidence before the tribunal, given the respondent's  explanation for his conduct that he considered that Person A would find his actions ‘hot’, based on past experience. The judge did not accept the GMC’s submission that this evidence was only relevant to the issue of consent, not sanction. The GMC conceded that it would have been an aggravating factor if Person A had been the respondent’s patient. It followed that the absence of this aggravating factor was a consideration that the tribunal was entitled to take into account. The tribunal’s finding that this was an isolated incident, which had not been repeated was relevant to ongoing risk. The respondent had denied the allegation and it was sufficient that the tribunal took into account, as aggravating factors: lack of insight and no expression of remorse since the incident; no acknowledgment of the impact on the victim; and the respondent presented himself as the victim in his reflective work. As to ground 2, the tribunal had proper regard to the relevant factors in the sanctions guidance. As to ground 3, the findings of fact were nuanced and complex. The tribunal, having heard and seen Patient A and the respondent give evidence, was best placed to weigh the misconduct in that context. As the Court of Appeal observed in Bawa-Garba, the decision of a tribunal that suspension rather than erasure is the appropriate sanction constitutes an evaluative judgment based on many factors, and a kind of jury question about which reasonable people may disagree.      
Striking Off

88.
Hawker v. Health and Care Professions Council [2022] EWHC 1228 (Admin)
Paramedic – failure to treat patient – denial of allegation- flagrant disregard of needs of member of public in acute need – lack of insight and risk of repetition – striking off upheld 
For the facts of this case, see Chapter 41, Insight, paragraph 41.18. Dismissing the appellant’s appeal, Eyre J said, at [50], that the striking off was undoubtedly a severe penalty in the light of the appellant’s otherwise blameless record; his return to work after his initial suspension by his employer and his continuation in work without further incident; and his remorse. However, the gravity of the appellant’s actions on 24 October 2019 must be borne in mind. The effect of the panel’s findings of fact was that the appellant chose to walk away without assessing or assisting a person who was seriously unwell and about whom a member of the public was expressing concern rightly saying that she was suffering a stroke. The appellant did so moreover on the basis that his shift had come to an end. In addition, regard must be had to the panel’s findings in respect of a lack of insight and a risk of repetition. It would have been open to the panel to impose the lesser sanction of suspension. However, the conclusion that striking off was appropriate and necessary cannot be said to have been in any way unreasonable or outside the range of sanctions which could properly be imposed in these circumstances. 
Suspension

89.
Kearney v. Bar Standards Board [2022] EWHC 52 (Admin)

Obscene sexualised language towards mini-pupil – six months’ suspension upheld  
The appellant barrister appealed against the decision of a disciplinary tribunal made on 19 March 2021, when he was found guilty of three charges of professional misconduct and suspended from practice for 6 months. In January 2015, Ms A, aged 19 years, undertook a three-day mini pupillage with the appellant. The tribunal found that the appellant engaged in unwanted sexual conduct towards Ms A that obscene sexualised language and intrusive comments about their sex lives. The tribunal identified a complete lack of insight and remorse. The appellant had an earlier disciplinary finding. In November 2018, the appellant admitted professional misconduct towards a male pupil in October 2017 for which he received a reprimand and a fine. On appeal the appellant did not suggest that there could be any objection to the principle of a period of suspension. The issue was its length. Soole J dismissed the appeal, saying that that there could be no disagreement with the tribunal’s conclusion on the gravity of the matter and its serious effect on the reputation of the Bar. The was no reason to interfere with the tribunal’s overall conclusion as to what was appropriate in the circumstances.     
90.
Alberts v. General Dental Council [2022] EWHC 2192 (Admin)
Inappropriate sexual comments at work – suspension 

Foster J dismissed the appellant’s appeal against a suspension order of 12 months where the appellant was found to have made inappropriate sexual comments to a junior female colleague. The case involved an experienced professional and a new dental nurse who was a third of his age. The GDC had been right to conclude that the behaviour itself, even if the nurse’s description of embarrassment and discomfort were moderate, had caused harm. A woman was entitled to be protected from sexually motivated commentary, especially in her work environment. The GDC had not ignored the appellant’s good conduct, remorse or rehabilitation. The 12-month suspension was to give the appellant time to understand the ramifications of his conduct. It was also not the first time that he had been found to have behaved inappropriately at work. The GDC could have imposed a lesser sanction, but there had been no error of approach in its conclusion.    
Witnesses
91.
R (Chief Constable of Avon and Somerset Police) v. Police Misconduct Panel (PC Pauline Archer interested party, and Director General of the Independent Office for Police Conduct intervener) [2021] EWHC 1125 (Admin)

Witness not called to give evidence – decision of chair that witness not necessary – no factual dispute – chair’s continuing obligation to keep decision under review in interests of justice – Police (Conduct) Regulations 2012, reg 23(3)

The charge against the PC Archer was that whilst on duty at a police station she engaged in conversation about her partner that was racist. Prior to the misconduct hearing she admitted the charge and that her conduct constituted gross misconduct. Accordingly, the chair determined that it was not necessary for the person who made the complaint and overheard the racist remark to be called as a witness at the misconduct hearing. The tribunal imposed a final written warning on PC Archer. The Chief Constable contended that the tribunal erred in imposing a final written warning rather than dismissal and claimed that the chair should have called the complainant and witness to give oral evidence before the tribunal. Regulation 23(3) of the Police (Conduct) Regulations 2012 provides that no witness shall give evidence at misconduct proceedings unless the person conducting or chairing those proceedings reasonably believes that it is necessary for the witness to do so in the interests of justice. Rejecting this ground of appeal and dismissing the Chief Constable’s claim, Steyn J said that it was common ground that, prior to the hearing, the question of whether any witness should be called to give evidence was a matter to be determined by the chair alone, applying the test set out in regulation 23(3), that is, whether the chair reasonably believed it to be necessary for the witness to give evidence. The judge said she agreed with the submissions of the Chief Constable and the Independent Office of Police Conduct that the chair had an ongoing obligation, during the hearing, to determine whether it was necessary in the interests of justice to call any witness, applying the regulation 23(3) test. The power extended to enable the chair to call witnesses even if neither party sought to call any. It is not an exercise of discretion but of judgment, and the chair should call any witness where there is a material dispute of fact: Chief Constable of Hampshire Constabulary v. Police Appeals Tribunal and McLean [2012] EWHC 746 (Admin) at [13] and [22]. Although the questions whether to call a witness and whether to adjourn may be linked, they are separate. Given that regulation 23(3) directs consideration to what is necessary in the interests of justice, and given that the decision whether to adjourn must accord with the principles of procedural fairness, where the questions are bound up together they are unlikely to lead to inconsistent conclusions. The starting point in assessing whether fairness required the chair, in this case, to call any witnesses is a proper understanding of the extent to which matters before the tribunal were admitted, and the limited scope of the dispute. The officer admitted that he conduct amounted to gross misconduct. The facts as alleged in the regulation 21 notice were established by admission. So, too, were the breaches of the Standards of Behaviour. The essential issue before the tribunal was whether this was a case in which a lesser sanction than dismissal was appropriate. The circumstances were not such that procedural fairness required the chair to call the complainant (or the person to whom PC Archer spoke) before the tribunal reached their findings of fact. It was a powerful factor that both parties considered that there was no necessity in the interests of justice to call any witnesses. Moreover there was no material change in the evidence such as to give rise to a new factual dispute during the hearing.  

92.
Bibi v. Bar Standards Board [2022] EWHC 921 (Admin)

Evidence in criminal proceedings – decision of BSB not to call witnesses – business records – witness from employer not called 
B, a barrister, was charged with four disciplinary offences arising out of her conviction for council tax fraud and failing to disclose her conviction and misleading the firm of solicitors where she was employed. The tribunal found the charges proved and B was disbarred. On appeal B challenged the fact that she had not been able to cross-examine the various witnesses who had given evidence in the criminal proceedings. She also argued that there was another witness from her employers who should have been called and who would have assisted her case. Dismissing B’s appeal, Hill J said at paras 70 – 73 that ultimately it was for the BSB to decide which witnesses it was going to rely on and how it was going to put its case against B. The BSB had chosen not to call the various witnesses who had given evidence in the criminal proceedings in relation to the conviction charges, because it felt it could make out its case on the basis of the documents. The evidence from the witnesses was largely business records, and they had been cross-examined twice before, in the magistrates’ court and on appeal in the crown court, and B was able to make submissions on their evidence. The appellant did have the opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses from her employers before the tribunal. She suggested that there was a further witness from the firm whose evidence was relevant. If she had wanted to call a further witness in her defence, it was for her to try and do so.        
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